
 

                                         

 

                                                                      

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 

TUESDAY,  DECEMBER 3, 2013 @ 7:00 P.M. 

 

Mayor David Browning (Seat 4) 

Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel (Seat 1) 

Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5) 

Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3)  

Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 1 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 1 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, December 3, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

   

 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE/AGENDA 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   

 
 a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 
 
 b. Minutes for Approval:  November 5, 2013 and November 19, 2013  
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
 
 

Tentative  

Subject to Revision 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 2 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 2 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

4.  PRESENTATIONS  
 
a.  Proclamations presented to Farmer’s Daughter Garden Center and to Everglades 

Farm Equipment for their community participation, helping the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves and the Literacy Coalition of Palm Beach County “Read for 
the Record”- OTIS by Loren Long. 

 
b. Presentation by F. Martin Perry of Perry & Taylor, PA concerning “B” Road 

improvements. 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS – 
 
 a. Finance Advisory & Audit Committee (FAAC) Report and Approval of the  
  October 2013 Financial Reports – (Committee Member Virginia Standish)  
 
6.  RESOLUTIONS 
 
 a.  RESOLUTION 2013-17:  (2014 Municipal Election including attachment  
  of Agreement with Supervisor of Elections) 

  
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, DESIGNATING THE DATE, TIME 
AND PLACE TO QUALIFY AND FILE FOR THE OFFICE OF TOWN 
COUNCIL MEMBER FOR SEAT 5  PRIOR TO THE MUNICIPAL GENERAL 
ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, MARCH 11, 2014, PURSUANT TO 
THE TOWN CHARTER AND CHAPTERS 97 – 106, FLORIDA STATUTES; THE 
ELECTION FILING PERIOD OPENS PROMPTLY AT 12:00 NOON ON 
JANUARY 28, 2014 AND CLOSES PROMPTLY AT 12:00 NOON ON 
FEBRUARY 4, 2014; SETTING FILING FEES; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN 
CLERK TO APPOINT ELECTION BOARDS FOR ELECTION PRECINCT 6094;  
AUTHORIZING THE SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS TO CONDUCT THE 
TOWN ELECTION AND APPROVING THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
TOWN AND THE PALM BEACH COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS 
FOR ELECTION SERVICES; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN CLERK OR 
DESIGNEE TO HANDLE CERTAIN ELECTION MATTERS; OPTING OUT OF 
EARLY VOTING; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, SEVERABILITY, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 3 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 3 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

b. RESOLUTION 2013-18:  Dedication of Right-of-Way Easement 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, SUPPORTING THE 
LEGISLATION REQUESTED BY THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
WATER CONTROL DISTRICT TO PROVIDE FOR THE DEDICATION 
OF RIGHT-OF-WAY EASEMENTS TO THE PUBLIC; PROVIDING 
THAT COPIES OF THIS RESOLUTION BE FORWARDED TO THE 
PALM BEACH COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION, THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE FLORIDA SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER OF THE 
FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
c. RESOLUTION 2013-19:  Dedication of Canal Maintenance 
 Easements 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, SUPPORTING THE 
LEGISLATION REQUESTED BY THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
WATER CONTROL DISTRICT TO PROVIDE FOR THE DEDICATION 
OF CANAL MAINTENANCE EASEMENTS TO THE DISTRICT AND 
THE USE OF SUCH FOR RECREATIONAL TRAIL PURPOSES; 
PROVIDING THAT COPIES OF THIS RESOLUTION BE FORWARDED 
TO THE PALM BEACH COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION, THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE FLORIDA SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER OF THE 
FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
7.  PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
  a.  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-11 – 1ST READING:  Historical Legacy 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO HISTORICAL LEGACY 
USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND SECTION 75-035, 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 4 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 4 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

ENTITLED “USES AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2006” TO ADD THE TERM HISTORICAL 
LEGACY TO THE SECTION TITLE;  TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO 
REQUIRE THAT THE  PROPERTY ON WHICH THE USE IS LOCATED SHALL 
HAVE BEEN OWNED AND SUBJECT TO A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION IN THE 
NAME OF THE OPERATOR OR HIS OR HER DIRECT RELATIVE RELATED BY 
BLOOD OR MARRIAGE ; TO REQUIRE THAT THE USE DOES NOT PRESENT A 
THREAT TO PUBLIC HEALTH;  TO REQUIRE THAT THE USE HAS NO HISTORY 
OF CODE VIOLATIONS OR THE USE HAS BEEN BROUGHT INTO CODE 
COMPLIANCE; TO REQUIRE THAT THE OWNER-OPERATOR SUBMIT AN 
AFFIDAVIT STIPULATING TO COMPLIANCE WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS; 
AND TO REQUIRE REVIEW AND INSPECTION BY THE TOWN;  PROVIDING FOR 
CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
b. ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 – 2ND READING:  Amending Town Code   
 Special Exceptions 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES AND 
APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES UNIFIED 
LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED 
“DEFINITIONS” TO DEFINE “TEMPORARY EVENT,”; TO AMEND SECTION 20-
015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” (AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT), TO REMOVE THE SPECIAL EXCEPTION REQUIREMENT FOR 
COMMERCIAL EQUESTRIAN OPERATIONS, ADD RODEO EVENTS AS A 
PRINCIPAL USE WITH SPECIAL EXCEPTION AND TEMPORARY EVENTS AS AN 
ACCESSORY USE WITH SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPROVAL, AND TO SPECIFY 
THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN 
THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” (COMMERCIAL LOW AND COMMERCIAL LOW OFFICE 
DISTRICTS), TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN PRINCIPAL USES; TO AMEND SECTION 30-015, 
ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” (INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC FACILITIES 
DISTRICT) TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY 
FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 115-01, 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 5 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 5 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

ENTITLED “TABLE OF PUBLIC NOTICE REQUIREMENTS” TO PROVIDE 
NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL 
EXCEPTIONS; TO AMEND  ARTICLE 170, ENTITLED “SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
USES” TO DEFINE THE CATEGORIES FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION REVIEW, AND 
TO PROVIDE FOR THE APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, REVIEW PROCEDURES 
AND RELATED MATTERS FOR THE CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
REVIEW; TO AMEND ARTICLE 120, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL HEARINGS,” 
SECTION 120-015, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS” TO SPECIFY THE 
SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS THAT ARE CONSIDERED QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING 
FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
  c. ORDINANCE NO. 2013–07 – 2ND READING:  Operating Golf Carts 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE OPERATION OF 
GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS WITHIN THE TOWN; PROVIDING FOR 
LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING THE OPERATION OF GOLF 
CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS OVER WHICH THE TOWN HAS TRAFFIC 
CONTROL JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.212, FLORIDA 
STATUTES; CONFIRMING THAT GOLF CARTS MAY NOT BE OPERATED 
ON OR ACROSS CERTAIN PORTIONS OF FOLSOM ROAD, OKEECHOBEE 
BOULEVARD AND SOUTHERN BOULEVARD THAT LIE WITHIN THE 
TOWN; PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS BY 
UNLICENSED DRIVERS; LIMITING THE NUMBER OF RIDERS ON GOLF 
CARTS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS ORDINANCE; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

8.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
  
 a. State Road 7  
 b. Okeechobee Boulevard/D Road Traffic Signal  
 c. Fox Trail  
 d. Budget Amendment Update 
  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 6 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA, TUESDAY, December 3, 2013 
      Page 6 of 6  

 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
12/03/2013 
 

9.  OLD BUSINESS   
 
 a.  Minto West Land Use Amendment and Rezoning (Discussion will be in   
  conjunction with Attorney General Opinion (AGO) during Town Attorney  
  Comments). 
  
 b. Vacant Registry (Brochure will be provided either in the Council boxes or on the  
  dais) 
   
 c. Resurfacing with North Florida Emulsions re Bryan, Compton, and Marcella  
  Roads along with related procurement issues (Backup provided) 
   
 d. ULDC (Unified Land Development Code Review Committee) (Agenda Report  
  provided) 
   
 e. Replacement of culvert at Compton Road and F Road (No back-up, Vice Mayor  
  Jarriel) 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a.   Amendment to General Engineering Services Contract 
 
 b. Sirdar Trucking Company Contract  Invoices – Settlement of $31,103.60 
 
  
11.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 
b. Town Attorney   
 

 Attorney General Opinion (AGO) regarding definition of surrounding property 
 
c. Town Council Members 
 

12.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

The next regular Town Council Meeting is scheduled for January 14, 2014 
 
 

 
Comment Cards: Anyone from the public wishing to address the Town Council must complete a Comment Card before speaking. This must 
be filled out completely with your full name and address and given to the Town Clerk. During the meeting, before public comments, you may 
only address the item on the agenda in which is being discussed at the time of your comment. During public comments, you may address any 
item you desire. Please remember that there is a three (3) minute time limit on all public comment. Any person who decides to appeal any 
decision of the Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose, may 
need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made which included testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
Persons with disabilities requiring accommodations in order to participate should contact the Town Clerk’s Office (561-793-2418), at least 48 
hours in advance to request such accommodation. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 7 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2 a. 

Invoice From Goren, Cherof, Deedy & Ezrol, P.A. 

Item 2 b. 

Minutes:  November 5, 2013 / November 19, 2013 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 8 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 9 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 10 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 11 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 12 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 13 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 14 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 15 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 16 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 17 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 18 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 2 a. 

Invoice From Goren, Cherof, Deedy & Ezrol, P.A. 

Item 2 b. 

Minutes:  November 5, 2013 / November 19, 2013 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 19 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 1 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, November 5, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

   

 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 
Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel, and Councilmen Ryan Liang, and Jim Rockett. Councilman 
Goltzené was not present. Also present were Town Manager Mark Kutney, Town Clerk Susan 
Eichhorn, Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., and Town Planning Consultant Jim 
Fleischmann. 
 

b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 20 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 2 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
Discussion took place regarding having a second Town Council meeting in November and 
moving some of the items on the current agenda to that meeting.  [Clerk’s Note:  Please see 
motion made under New Business Item g. for motion setting second meeting in November] 

 
Motion: Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to approve the Agenda, with 
amendments:  Under New Business – remove Items c. and f.; Under Old Business – add 
Item a. Discussion Regarding Resurfacing of Bryan Road.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   

 
 a. Invoice from Goren, Cherof, Doody & Ezrol, P.A. 

 
 b. Minutes for Approval:  October 1, 2013  

 
 c. Permission of the Town Council for Ray Sasser – 14805 Okeechobee Blvd.,  
  Loxahatchee Groves, FL 33470, Connection of New Potable Water Service with  
  Palm Beach County 

 
 d. Office of Inspector General Grant Agreement 
 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  The 
motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 4/0. 

 
 

3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Rd.:  Commented regarding that he noticed on the way to the meeting 
tonight as he went down Okeechobee to D Road that there was no lighting; he suggested security 
lights on some of the intersections that are so dark. 
 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS -  Scott Blasie of Vacant Registry (vacant property registry) 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 21 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 3 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
Scott Blasie, Executive Liason, Vacant Registry, addressed the Town Council.  He distributed a 
folder regarding Vacant Registry and presented information regarding the company. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to receive and file.  The motion was 
seconded by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 4/0.  
 
Motion: Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion that we have consensus that we need to 
review the possibility, consistent with the procurement code, of getting a proposal from 
Vacant Registry to clean up Loxahatchee Groves; and for staff to determine if an RFP or 
RFQ was necessary. The motion was seconded by Councilman Rockett. The motion passed 
4/0. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that he understood that the motion was that staff would review the 
issue and if a proposal could be brought back for consideration they would do that. He noted that 
there are alternatives for accepting any proposal.  
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS – 
 
 a. Finance Advisory & Audit Committee (FAAC) Report and Approval of the  
  August and September 2013 Financial Reports – Committee Member Virginia  
  Standish 
 
Virginia Standish provided the report of the FAAC, noting that the Committee strongly advised 
to put the $1.8 million Collecting Canal project on hold, and she explained the reasons for that.   
There was also the suggestion by the Committee that there should be a master plan for this 
community, urging that Town Management come back with options.  Also, the Committee was 
concerned regarding the OGEM road acquisition portion of the budget, as far as the equality of 
how people have paid for the roads.   
 
Discussion took place.   
  
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to accept the FAAC report and approve 
the August and September 2013 Financial Reports.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 4/0.  
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 22 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 4 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
 
 
 
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS –  
 
 a. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-15  
   
 A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
 GROVES, FLORIDA, ACCEPTING COUNTY DEEDS FOR THE CONVEYANCE OF 
 CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY TO THE TOWN PURSUANT TO SECTION 197.592(3), 
 FLORIDA STATUTES; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
 EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Resolution No. 2013-15 by title. 
 
Motion:   Councilman Liang made a motion to approve Resolution 2013-15.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Rockett.  The motion passed 4/0.   
 
 
 
 b. RESOLUTON NO. 2013-16  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT FOR THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2012 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 
30, 2013; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Discussion occurred.  It was the consensus of the Town Council to either move this item to 
second meeting in November, or discuss it this evening. 
 
Councilman Rockett stated that he would meet with Town staff to address his concerns, and see 
if the changes he proposed to them could be made.  Then we could have a short meeting on 
November 19th and limit it to the budget.   
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 23 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 5 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to schedule the next Town Council 
Meeting for November 19, 2013, at 7:00 p.m.  The motion was seconded by Councilman 
Rockett.  The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
 
 
 c. ORDINANCES- 2nd Reading – None 
   
 
 
 
 
 d.  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 - 1st Reading  
 

 
Ordinance No. 2013-06  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND 
SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS” TO DEFINE “TEMPORARY 
EVENT,”; TO AMEND SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT), TO REMOVE THE SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION REQUIREMENT FOR COMMERCIAL EQUESTRIAN 
OPERATIONS, ADD RODEO EVENTS AS A PRINCIPAL USE WITH SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION AND TEMPORARY EVENTS AS AN ACCESSORY USE WITH 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPROVAL, AND TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING 
CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(COMMERCIAL LOW AND COMMERCIAL LOW OFFICE DISTRICTS), TO 
SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR 
CERTAIN PRINCIPAL USES; TO AMEND SECTION 30-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” (INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC FACILITIES 
DISTRICT) TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 24 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 6 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO 
AMEND SECTION 115-01, ENTITLED “TABLE OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
REQUIREMENTS” TO PROVIDE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS; TO AMEND 
ARTICLE 170, ENTITLED “SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES” TO DEFINE THE 
CATEGORIES FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION REVIEW, AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, REVIEW PROCEDURES AND 
RELATED MATTERS FOR THE CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
REVIEW; TO AMEND ARTICLE 120, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL 
HEARINGS,” SECTION 120-015, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS” 
TO SPECIFY THE SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS THAT ARE CONSIDERED QUASI-
JUDICIAL MATTERS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Ordinance No. 2013-06 by title. 
 
Mayor Browning opened the public hearing. 
 
Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann provided the staff report, and advised that the staff 
recommendation was to approve the ULDC text amendments.  
 
Mayor Browning opened the public hearing 
 
Councilman Rockett asked why a Category C Special Exception would not notify adjoining 
properties.  Mr. Fleischmann said that could be added, if so desired.   Staff felt that by signing 
the affidavit stating that there would not be any of these activities – 24 hours, the impacts would 
be minimal to none.  If the Town Council felt it appropriate to notice the adjoining properties, 
that could easily be done, if it was so directed.   
 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2013-06 on first 
reading, with Special Exception Categories B and C having the same notice requirements.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Rockett.   
 
Public Comment:  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 25 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 7 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Keith Harris, 2508 C Rd.:  Commented that he thanked the ULDC Review Committee for their 
work in regard to special exceptions, and respectfully requested approval of the ordinance. 
 
Virginia Standish, Chair of the ULDC Review Committee:  Referred to page 126, and noted that 
the Committee was strongly opposed to event such as rodeos.  The other comment she had was 
on page 126, when she saw residential enterprise listed; the ULDC had made their feelings clear 
that they were opposed to having residential enterprise listed.  She wanted to make the position 
of the ULDC Review Committee clear. 
 
Nina Corning, E Road:  Commented that she was thankful for taking the commercial equestrian 
off as a special exception, as it had been requested for quite some time.  She did have some 
concerns in regard to the 24 hour events, and suggested that there be a frequency limit imposed 
on that.   Commented regarding retail nurseries still being a Category A, and wondered if more 
categories should be added under institutional use.  Suggested that rodeo being an accessory and 
principal use should probably be questionable. 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented on page 108 – the permitted accessory use for dog 
boarding.  He thought the ULDC had discussed dog boarding in connection with the Big Dog 
Rescue organization.  Mr. Fleischmann explained that the ULDC Committee did discuss it in 
terms of the Big Dog Rescue, but page 108 lists the uses that are currently allowed in the Code. 
 
Mayor Browning asked if there was any clarification whether commercial kennels were to be 
inside.  Mr. Fleischmann said that is something we did not look at as part of this exercise.  Mayor 
Browning said that is something staff may want to look at in the future. 
 
The motion passed 4/0. 
 
Mayor Browning thanked the Committee for its diligence. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that the second reading would be at the December 3, 2013, Town 
Council meeting. 
 
 

e. ORDINANCE No. 2013-08 – 1st reading 
 
Ordinance No. 2013-08 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 26 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 8 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 163.3184(3) FLORIDA STATUTES TO: 
(1) AMEND THE  TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT TEXT; (2) AMEND 
THE DRAINAGE SUB-ELEMENT TEXT OF THE INFRASTRUCTURE 
ELEMENT; (3) AMEND THE RECREATION AND OPEN SPACE 
ELEMENT TEXT; AND (4) AMEND THE CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
ELEMENT TEXT; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

Town Attorney Cirullo read Ordinance no. 2013-08 by title, as printed above. 
 
Town Planning Consultant Fleischmann provided the staff report and advised that it was  
the recommendation of staff for approval and further recommended that the ordinance be 
transmitted to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity for review and comment.  
 
Motion: Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 2013-08 on first 
reading.  The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang. 
 
Public Comment was requested by Mayor Browning. 
 
Nina Corning E Rd.:  Commented regarding which comments were the recommendation of the 
Roadway, Equestrian Trails and Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC) and those that 
were made by the Planning and Zoning Board, and referred to Objective 2.3.  
 
After discussion, it was the consensus of the Town Council to change the word “shall” to 
“may” under Objective 2.3 in the second sentence. 
 
Mayor Browning questioned Objective 2.3.6 and asked if we are looking to provide parking for 
other people to come in.  Are we making it a destination point for riders to come in and ride our 
trails?  Mr. Fleischmann replied that if a land use happens to be existent on a trail, then the 
parking goes on the side away from the trail – it is not saying that we are encouraging parking 
alongside the trails. 
 
There were no further public comments. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 27 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 9 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 f.  ORDINANCE NO. 2013-09 – 1st Reading Quasi Judicial Public Hearing  
 
 Ordinance No. 2013-09 – Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 (Simon Trust Property – Loxahatchee Groves Commons) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE   GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE 
REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 21.73 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER 
OF SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES, FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON 
THE MAP ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING DESGNATION AGRICULTURAL 
RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION COMMERCIAL LOW PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT 
(CL/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE REVISIONS OF THE 
ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that this Ordinance 2013-09, as well as Ordinance No. 2013-10, 
was a quasi-judicial matter, and provided the explanation of the process, which he was required 
to do by Code.  
 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Ordinance No. 2013-09 by title, as printed above. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 28 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 10 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo swore in all those who would be providing testimony. 
 
Bob Bentz with Land Design South, representing the property owner, provided a power point 
presentation, noting that the request was for master plan approval and two waiver requests for 
parking space size requirements and a waiver for separation criteria for alcoholic beverage 
establishments, since we are not sure where the school buildings will be located on the site.  He 
noted that bars and nightclubs were prohibited on the property.  He also noted that the master 
plan reflects the comments of both the Planning and Zoning Board and the RETGAC.  Prior to 
second reading there would be agreement between the three parties relative to B Road, and the 
agreement would be adopted by all of the parties involved. 
 
Councilman Rockett asked to see the old plan that was previously shown to the Town Council.   
Mr. Bentz provided a power point of the previous plan and explained the changes that had been 
made.   
 
Councilman Rockett observed that parking accessibility to the park has changed and been 
reduced in the new plan. 
 
Mr. Bentz replied that when you think of a park you think of associated amenities to that park.  
The idea of moving it made it a lot more usable when it was adjacent to the lake area. 
 
 
Staff Report: 
 
Town Planning Consultant Fleischmann provided the staff report and advised that it was the 
recommendation of staff that Ordinance No. 2013-09 is approved, subject to the Master Plan and 
conditions of approval included in exhibit B of the ordinance.   
 
Staff recommended two agreements relative to B Road– one that addresses the paved section, 
and one that addresses the OGEM section that commences north of the paved section and 
because of different issues, such as right of way, etc, that should be the subject of a separate 
agreement, which would include that funds would be contributed to an escrow account to pay for 
construction of the improvements. Staff also recommended that the waivers requested are 
granted. 
 
 
Public Comments: 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 29 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 11 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Keith Harris, 2580 C Rd.:  Commented that he recalled four outbuildings during the Planning 
and Zoning Board review, and he now sees a fifth outbuilding.  He is curious as to how that 
occurred. 
 
Nina Corning, E Rd.:  Commented as Chair of RETGAC and cautioned that it said that we 
approved it and it was going along with our Comprehensive Plan and we did not make any such 
remark.  To say that we approved this as is – we were not quite as happy with this as the other 
development that is coming up next.  We were concerned about the future development over the 
years and future traffic.  We asked that the numbers really be looked at and studied to be sure 
that the exits out to Southern would work.  We also asked that it be made clear that traffic would 
not be going down B Rd. , and asked that there be a turnaround for traffic that accidentally went 
north.  Suggested that there be some fencing in the equestrian area. 
 
Mayor Browning requested any further public comment. 
 
There was none. 
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve Ordinance No. 2013-09 on first 
reading, with the conditions as recommended.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor 
Jarriel.  Upon roll call vote the motion passed 4/0.   
 
*****A short break was taken at 9:20 p.m. The meeting resumed at 9:25 p.m.***** 
 
 
 
 
 g. ORDINANCE No. 2013-10 – 1st Reading Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 
 Ordinance No. 2013-10 – Quasi Judicial Public Hearing 
 (Solar Sportsystems, Inc. – Groves Town Center) 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE   GROVES, FLORIDA, PROVIDING FOR THE 
REZONING OF LAND CONSISTING OF APPROXIMATELY 90.33 
ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
SOUTHERN BOULEVARD AND “B” ROAD, LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
FLORIDA, LEGALLY DESCRIBED AND AS DESIGNATED ON THE MAP 
ATTACHED AS EXHIBIT “A” TO THIS ORDINANCE, FROM 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING DESGNATION AGRICULTURAL 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 30 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 12 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

RESIDENTIAL (AR) TO THE  LOXAHATCHEE GROVES ZONING 
DESIGNATION MULTIPLE LAND USE PLANNED UNIT 
DEVELOPMENT (MLU/PUD); PROVIDING FOR THE APPROPRIATE 
REVISIONS OF THE ZONING DISTRICT MAP; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; AND PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read ord. No. 2013-10 by title as printed above. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo swore in all those who would be providing testimony. 
 
Marty Perry, on behalf of the applicant, addressed the Town Council.  He introduced planner 
Bradley Miller who would provide details of the conceptual master plan.   
 
Bradley Miller, Miller Land Planning, provided a power point presentation of the proposed 
master plan. 
 
Mr. Perry noted that there would be a horse crossing over Collecting Canal, which was an 
expensive proposition that the applicant agreed to.  Also, the buffer areas consist of 27 acres.      
 
Town Planning Consultant Jim Fleischmann provided the staff report and advised that staff  
recommendation was to approve Ordinance No. 2013-10, subject to the master plan and 
conditions of approval which were contained in exhibit B of the proposed ordinance. Staff also 
recommended that the applicant be allowed to come back and request a parking space waiver at 
the time of site plan approval.  Staff also recommended that the second reading will not occur 
until the three party agreements for B Road construction are finalized. 
 
 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Nina Corning, E Rd.:  Commented regarding some minor items in the staff report.  
 
In response to Vice Mayor Jarriel, Mr. Perry explained that the horse trail bridge will be a horse 
bridge, not a vehicle bridge.  He advised that he would be concerned with putting a bridge on D 
road or some other location, and that would be a whole new discussion.  Vice Mayor Jarriel 
explained that he is looking at what will help all equestrians in Loxahatchee Groves.   
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 31 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 13 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Further discussion took place regarding a possible roundabout on B Road, signage on 
Okeechobee Blvd. to point out where the college was located and a conservation easement or a 
deed restriction. 
 
Mayor Browning stated that he really does not want a sign on Okeechobee Blvd. regarding the 
location of the college. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Keith Harris, 2580 C Rd.:  Commented regarding the horse trail bridge. 
 
Motion: Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to approve on first reading Ordinance No. 
2013-10 with the recommended staff conditions.  The motion was seconded by Councilman 
Liang.  Upon roll call vote, the motion passed 4/0.  
 
 
 7.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 
 1. State Road (SR) 7  Extension:   Town Manager Kutney noted that Councilman 
Rockett had asked him to look into this and he stated that he would provide the bullet points 
made at the Chamber of Commerce meeting to the Town Council.   
 
Councilman Rockett said that his concern is that the Town Council needs to allow for us to 
contribute to an effort by the communities to help fund the lobbyist to help move this forward.  
He would like to authorize up to $5,000 to contribute to a fund, if requested, by the Western 
Community Council, or one of the other cities that may take a lead.   
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to authorize up to $5,000 to be 
contributed to a lobbyist effort to move the SR 7 project out of the Fish and Wildlife 
Department of the federal government, and make that payment to whoever takes the lead.  
The motion was seconded by Councilman Liang. 
 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Penny Riccio, 71st Place N :  Appreciates that and will bring back to the supervisors of Indian 
Trail improvement District.  Commented regarding the SR 7 extension. 
 
The motion passed 4/0. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 32 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 14 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

 
 
 
 2. Western Plaza/Mr. Yee:  Town Manager Kutney reported that Mr.  Yee’s   
  architect met with staff and is familiarizing himself with the Codes and they are  
  looking at doing some improvement on the Plaza Center.  He will continue to  
  report on this. 
 
 3. Literacy Coalition:   Town Manager Kutney reported that he would be handing  
  out plaques from the Literacy Coalition at the December meeting. 
 
 4. The Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting was  
  awarded to the Town of Loxahatchee Groves for its comprehensive annual  
  financial report (CAFR), by the Government Finance Officers Association. The  
  Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in the area of  
  governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents a  
  significant accomplishment by a government and its management.  
 
 5. Town Manager Kutney distributed the first two monthly reports by the LGWCD  
  relative to Town road maintenance.  
 
 6. Town Manager Kutney reported that Town Clerk Eichhorn has family obligations 
  that necessitate her pulling back on the number of hours that she can work with  
  the company.  Starting on November 12, 2013, Janet K. Whipple will be taking on 
  the duties of Town Clerk for the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.   
 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel requested that the Town Manager add 2380 C Road to the vacant registry list, 
and check on the property on Morrow Court off C Road.  Town Manager Kutney replied that he 
would check the properties.  
 
 
 
8.  OLD BUSINESS    

 
a.  Discussion Regarding Resurfacing of Bryan Road (Added to Agenda by Vice Mayor Jarriel)  
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel explained that there was a contractor working nearby that could do micro-
resurfacing and that Bryan Road needs repair, and since the contractor was in the area, perhaps it 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 33 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 15 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

could be repaired if procurement was not a problem.  He hoped that direction could be made 
tonight to Management to send letters out to the occupants on Bryan Road making them aware of 
the steps necessary to allow the road to be paved. 
  
Town Attorney Cirullo replied that now that we have the information from the surveyor, the next 
step is that those folks on Bryan Road would need to complete the same documents that were 
done by the County for Marcella and Compton.  Once we get those documents in place the work 
on resurfacing the road could occur.  
 
It was the consensus of the Town Council to have a generic letter sent to all residents on 
Bryan Road to let them know of the procedure necessary for paving to occur. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel referred to the procurement policy and requested that Town Manager Kutney 
talk to North Florida Emulsions to obtain some costs. 
  
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that there may be alternatives to contract and move forward.  Staff 
would report in December what the plan would be to procure Bryan Road. 
 
Town Manager Kutney advised that this issue would need to be brought back to the Town 
Council, because of procurement, and a budgetary consideration. 
 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a. Work Authorizations for Underwood Management Services Group 
 
Town Manager Kutney referred to his Agenda Report, dated October 31, 2013, and included in 
the back-up material.  After explaining the contents of the Agenda Report, he requested 
additional funds to finish the projects referred to:  Work Authorization 12-02, Capital 
Improvement Element would need an additional $1,000.00 to complete the transmittal/adoption 
phase.  Work Authorization 12-03, Okeechobee/Southern Moratorium Amendments to the 
Comprehensive Plan would need an additional $8,000.00 to finish the amendments.  Work 
Authorization 12-04, ULDC Review Committee activities would need an additional $5,370.00 to 
complete.  The total of the requested additional funds was $14,370.00 
 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to authorize additional funding in the 
amount of $14, 370.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel. 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 34 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 16 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that the ULDC Review Committee should not be terminated.  He 
thinks we ought to pay for that committee to finish what they started.   
 
Councilman Rockett commented that he was concerned that the monies for the ULDC Review 
Committee activities have been mismanaged.  There was discussion about noise at the ULDC 
and that was not part of anything we directed the ULDC to talk about.  I would like them to 
complete only one thing – the historical legacy piece of the ULDC only.  Then come back to the 
Town Council and let the Council consider other things that we would want them to do.  End it at 
the end of the year with the idea that we will start again with another resolution to form the 
committee.  If we are going to approve any more money at least assign specific limitations on 
what should be discussed.  The one thing that is still  opened is the historical legacy issue. 
 
Town Manager Kutney replied that the Committee has addressed historical legacy.  The final 
issues that they have not gotten around to are environmental preservation, and nonconforming 
uses.  Right now there is nothing before them that he could think of that was not directed by 
Town Council.  
 
Councilman Rockett suggested that the environmental preservation and nonconforming issues 
are held aside and we revisit what we want to have done and we revisit what we want the 
Committee to address.     
 
Town Manager Kutney stated that he would let the Committee know that we will put them on 
hold for a while until we let them know what is next. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo noted that whatever list is put together for the Committee to address you 
would need to be put together on December 3rd ; you would have to do it so that they could 
accomplish that work in December.  If not, we will have to bring you a Resolution to extend the 
Committee in January -- a Resolution to extend the committee, perhaps by 90 days to March 
2014. 
 
 
Motion: Councilman Liang amended his motion to authorize $1,000.00 for the CIE, 
and $8,000 for completion of moratorium amendments on Okeechobee/Southern Blvds.   
 
Town Manager Kutney referred to the foreclosure issue, and advised that the agreement with the 
County did not provide Loxahatchee Groves with a building official.  The ULDC Review 
Committee had recommended that the Town Council consider having a private vendor as the 
Town’s building official.  Mr. Kutney explained that there was a disconnect with the County in 
that regard, and he and the Town Attorney are discussing it.  He explained that the issue of 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 35 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 17 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

foreclosures and unsafe structures brought that item to the forefront of the discussion at the 
ULDC Review Committee.  
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that the County would be contacted to determine what the 
options were for declaring a structure unsafe, and that staff would report back. 
 
The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
 
 
 
 b. Roadway, Equestrian Trails & Greenway Advisory Committee (RETGAC)  
  Proposal Regarding Controlled Equestrian Crossings for B and F Roads at   
  Okeechobee Blvd. (Keith Harris, Member of RETGAC) 
 
 
Keith Harris, on behalf of RETGAC referred to the motion made by RETGAC at its last meeting 
for controlled crossings at Okeechobee Blvd., B and F roads.  He presented some visual aids 
regarding what the crossings would look like, and discussed the sources of funding.  He 
requested that the Town Council implement controlled crossings with equestrian, pedestrian, and 
bicycle signage. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel stated that we need to communicate with the County and find out what it 
would cost to install these, such as what was installed at Loxahatchee Elementary School.   
 
Motion:  Vice Mayor Jarriel made a motion to direct staff to contact the County and 
reference the lights at the school and find out who we can communicate with at the County 
to have crossings installed at B and F and Okeechobee Blvd.  The motion was seconded by 
Councilman Liang. The motion passed 4/0.  
 
 

c. E-Mail from Southern States  (Removed from Agenda under Item 1.c. “Approval 
of Agenda.”) 

 
 d. Special Acts – Legislation Regarding Roadways  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 36 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 18 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Town Attorney provided a current draft of the proposed bill.  The LGWCD was scheduled to 
meet on November 18, 2013, and request a motion to support the proposed legislation, subject to 
whatever minor changes the LGWCD may make to it.   
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to support the proposed legislation 
subject to any minor changes that the LGWCD may make to it.  The motion was seconded 
by Councilman Liang.  The motion passed 4/0. 
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion that the Town shares the cost of a 
lobbyist in regard to the proposed legislation.  The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor 
Jarriel.  The motion passed 4/0.    
 
Town Attorney Cirullo referred to the second bill – I want to make sure that the LGWCD 
considers the concept that you want in that second bill.  It would address the same concept of the 
roads, but on the other side of the road where there was an easement, and recognition that the 
easement could be used for equestrian trials and that would satisfy what the Town would need 
for grants. 
 
Motion: Councilman Liang made a motion to approve the concept for the second bill, 
as stated by Town Attorney Cirullo.  The motion was by seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  
The motion passed 4/0. 
 
John Ryan, 3508 A Rd.:  Commented on situation with funding of the two local bills.  The 
LGWCD would ask the town to share 50/50 of the direct costs of the lobbyist to move these bills 
through, and the LGWCD was under the assumption that we could use part of the costs of the 
Town subsidy to the LGWCD, and that may not qualify as a road maintenance expense, so that 
portion would need to come out of general funds, as opposed to gas tax.   
 
Mayor Browning replied that he thought that it is a Town issue, not a District issue.  If the people 
in the Town had to pay all of it in order to get access to the trails, he was for it. 
  
Town Attorney Cirullo explained that it is a LGWCD issue in that they would secure the 
easement that they have been using for maintenance of the canals, and then part and parcel the 
Town would kind of piggy back on that to get our equestrian trails. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo and Town Manager Kutney advised that they would work out the 
financial portions, and come back to the Town Council with that. 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 37 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 19 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

d. Minto West Land Use Amendment and Rezoning  

Town Attorney Cirullo explained that the Minto West application had been filed with the 
County, however it is not yet available on the internet.  Once we can review the application we 
will review it and update you in December and seek further direction. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that the only way to change the County’s mind is through buses 
of people protesting.   
 
Mayor Browning commented that, to him, it is probably the most important fight we have faced 
in our Town.  If Minto is allowed to increase their density, it will effectively triple the population 
our there from what it could be. 
 

f. Discussion and Approval of all Concerns of LGWCD Proposed 
Legislation Regarding Roadways) (Removed from Agenda under Item 1.c. 
“Approval of Agenda.”) 

 
 
 g. Review of Council’s policies, practices and procedures not included in Town  
  Ordinances and Resolutions to determine if any modifications or changes need to  
  be made (Councilman Jim Rockett) 
 

Councilman Rockett advised that this item would be put off for discussion at a future date. 
 
 
10.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
None 

 
 
b. Town Attorney   
 
  None  
 
c. Town Council Members 
 
Councilman Rockett:  Thanked everyone for attending. 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 38 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 5, 2013 
      Page 20 of 20  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Minutes 
Meeting of 11/05/2013 
 

Councilman Liang:  Thanked everyone for attending. 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel:  Thanked everyone for attending. 
 
Mayor Browning:  Thanked everyone for attending. 
 
 

11.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the Town Council Meeting of November 5, 2013, was 
adjourned at 11:10 p.m. 
 
 
 
________________________________  ___________________________ 
Susan Eichhorn, Town Clerk    David Browning, Mayor 

 
 

(SEAL) 
 

These minutes were approved at the December 3, 2013, Town Council Meeting 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 39 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 1 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves 

Town Council Meeting 
Tuesday, November 19, 2013 at 7:00 p.m. 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District, 101 West “D” Road 
 

   

 
Mayor David Browning (Seat 4)             Town Manager Mark Kutney 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel (Seat 1)            Town Clerk Susan A. Eichhorn 
Councilman Tom Goltzené (Seat 5)             Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo,Jr. 
Councilman Ryan Liang (Seat 3) 
Councilman Jim Rockett (Seat 2) 

 
MINUTES 

 
 

1. OPENING 
 

a. Call to Order & Roll Call 
 

Mayor Browning called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. Present were Mayor David Browning, 
Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel, and Councilmen Tom Goltzené and Jim Rockett. Councilman 
Liang was not present. Also present were Town Manager Mark Kutney, Town Clerk Susan 
Eichhorn, Town Attorney Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., and Town Planning Consultant Jim 
Fleischmann. 

 
b. Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Browning 
 
c. Approval of Agenda 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 40 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 2 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the Agenda.  The motion was 
seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 4/0. 

 
 
2. CONSENT AGENDA   

 
  

 a. Minutes for Approval: Special Town Council Meeting/Workshop October 22,  
  2013  
 
Motion: Councilman Rockett made a motion to approve the minutes of the Special 
Town Council Meeting/Workshop held on October 22, 2013.  The motion was seconded by 
Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
3.  PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Dennis Lipp, North Rd.:    Announced that he is now a member of the Palm Beach County 
Planning Commission.  He suggested that the Town organize how it plans to address the Minto 
application.  He read some responses that Minto had made to the Palm Beach County staff 
comments.  He also suggested that the Town consider requesting an Attorney General Opinion 
(AGO) regarding the definition of “surrounding properties.”  He noted that Minto will probably 
not be coming before the Palm Beach County Planning Commission until December, and that the 
Town needs an AGO as soon as possible.  
 
Mayor Browning commented that if they are allowed to go with higher density every future 
project will also do that, and Okeechobee will not be designed in a manner that would be 
reflective of our community.  He encouraged everyone to get involved. 
 
Mary Jahnke, 13725 Fox Trail:  Commented regarding the condition of Bryan Road and on what 
is going to happen with Bryan Road.  Said that no one is maintaining the road and there are many 
potholes. 
 
Darrel Fisher, 13725 Fox Trail:  Commented regarding fill that he had put on the road himself 
years ago and since that time no fill has been put on the road.  Said that the road is very busy and 
he needs the road to be accessible by Fire-Rescue – when it rains, it floods; drainage is a 
problem, and the road needs to be filled in.  He would like to have something done about it and 
he would like it in writing as to what decision will be made. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 41 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 3 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

 
Mayor Browning replied that would be given to our management and directed the Town 
Manager to look into it. 
 
Town Manager Kutney advised that he would give a report on the matter later in the evening, 
under his Administrative Report. 
 
 
Darrel Fisher, 13725 Fox Trail:  Commented regarding garbage/trash pick-up and his interaction 
with Mr. Schiola regarding measurements of the amount of trash. 
 
 
 
4.  PRESENTATIONS  
 
 
5.  COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 
  
6.  PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
 
 a. RESOLUTION NO. 2013-16  
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ADOPTING A BUDGET 
AMENDMENT FOR THE TOWN’S BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2012 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 
30, 2013; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Town Attorney Cirullo read Resolution 2013-16 into the record as printed above. 
 
Town Manager Kutney expressed that Mr. Underwood had intended to be here, however, 
because of a family matter, he needed to be with his family at this time.  Town Manager Kutney 
read into the record the memorandum provided by Mr. Underwood, dated November 9, 2013, 
and included in the back up material. 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 42 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 4 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

Councilman Rockett commented that he had come into the Town offices and received answers to 
a lot of his questions regarding the budget amendment, however there was one item with which 
he disagreed with the approach.  In addition, he suggested that, as a Council, we want to make 
our unassigned fund balance as big as it can be and our assigned fund balances to be true to what 
we have planned.  He explained that he would like to move $400,000 back into the unassigned 
fund, because if we do not need the money in an assigned use category we need flexibility to use 
funds in an unassigned category.   
 
Town Manager Kutney provided an explanation and said that he would discuss with Mr. 
Underwood and get further details.  He explained that during the year, there was the ability to do 
budget amendments.  Mr. Rockett said that if the money could be moved back into the 
unassigned general fund, his concern was that we missed the opportunity for this budget year. 
 
Discussion ensued.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion as follows:  
Motion to approve Resolution No. 2013-16 with the following adjustments: 
Reduce revenues from fund balance by $400,000 
On expenditures in General Fund, reduce budget transferred to CIP $400,000 
On Capital Budget, under revenue contributions from General Fund, reduce by $400,000 
and make it zero. 
Under the annual budget you take $500,000 out of the Town Hall alternatives and make it 
$100,000. 
Line item to be changed – under expenditures:  grant of $28,893, that gets moved to the 
Transportation Fund. 
The motion was seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel. 
The motion failed 3/1: 
Councilman Rockett: Yes 
Vice Mayor Jarriel:  No 
Councilman Goltzené:  No 
Mayor Browning:  No. 
    
 
Motion: Councilman Goltzené made a motion to adopt the budget amendment, 
Resolution No. 2013-16,  as recommended.  The motion was seconded by Vice  
Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 3/1: 
 
Councilman Goltzené – Yes 
Vice Mayor Jarriel – Yes 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 43 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 5 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

Councilman Rockett – No 
Mayor Browning - Yes 
 
 
 
 b. ORDINANCES- 2nd Reading – None 
   
 
 c.  ORDINANCES 1st Reading - None  
 
 
 7.  ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE – Town Manager Kutney 
 

 Town Manager Kutney advised that Councilman Liang will miss meetings probably 
through January 7.  It is likely he will be available on the 14th or the 21st and Mr. Kutney 
suggested moving the meetings. 

 
It was the consensus of the Town Council to hold the Town Council meeting on January 14, 
2014. 
 
Town Manager Kutney verified that the next Town Council meeting would be held on December 
3, 2013, followed by the January 14, 2014 Town Council meeting.   
 
Mayor Browning advised that he liked the idea of having the second meetings of the month as 
workshop meetings.  Also, he advised that he appreciated having one meeting in the months of 
November and December. 
 
Town Manager Kutney stated that the Town Council could also think about reserving the second 
meeting in the month only for Planning and Zoning items. 
 
 

 Town Manager Kutney advised that just a few hours ago, he had received the Town 
traffic engineer’s estimate on the Okeechobee and D traffic signal.  It appears to show 
that for a strain pole signal, including construction and design - $290,094.  Mast arm:  
$423,010.  He would provide the Town Council copies of the estimate, and would like to 
have a chance to look at it in more detail and then get information from Palm Beach 
County about which design is best. 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 44 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 6 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

 
8.  OLD BUSINESS    

 
 a. Update Regarding Special Acts – Legislation Regarding Roadways  
  (verbal updates) 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that at the last meeting discussion had taken place regarding the 
roadway legislation.  The language has been prepared and it provides the mechanism for filing of 
a map, etc.  It also authorizes the District to allow it to be used for an equestrian trail.    The 
legislation was on the LGWCD agenda last night, and it could now be filed, unless the Town 
Council had any objections. 
 
Nina Corning, E Rd.:  Commented regarding the legislation.  In Item #3, she was a bit worried 
about the language regarding the permits to be issued.  She is worried that when we ask for 
grants from the EPA – the last time there was the issue of whether the Town had control – 
and she wants to make really sure that the language regarding the permit is going to pass muster 
when it comes to asking for these grants.  She is very grateful that this is going forward.   
 
Town Attorney Cirullo explained that any grant requires some documentation that there is 
property control; we would have the permit and the special act to satisfy that requirement. 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised that unless the Town Council directs him not to do it, he will 
move forward.   
 
 b. Update Regarding Minto West Land Use Amendment and Rezoning  
  (verbal updates) 
 
Town Attorney Cirullo advised he had not yet seen the actual application, and that he had Town 
Planning Consultant Jim Fleischman contact the County.   
 
Discussion took place. 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Dennis Lipp, North Rd.:  Referred to the former AGO opinion regarding the setback for 
Agricultural properties.  This issue would be a very simple AGO as well, and whatever the Town 
Attorney billed for the former one should be about the same as this one.  He discussed 
information that had been provided to Commissioner Santamaria regarding the number of home 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 45 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 7 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

sites that had already been approved in Palm Beach County, and that sufficient property had 
already been approved for development through 2024.  He urged a united front as a western 
community and showing up at County meetings, and getting an AGO regarding the definition of 
“surrounding properties.”  
 
Discussion continued regarding what may be an achievable goal – for example saying do not use 
anything through our Town – leave us alone and go around.   
 
 
 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Nina Corning, E Rd.:  Commented regarding the upcoming development projects and that 
getting word out to have people attend the County meetings was very important. Commented on 
what developers ask for and that we need to figure out ways that we can convince the 
Commissioners that this does not belong in the neighborhood proposed.  What is different with 
this is that they are looking at several things at the same time. We need to let people know when 
to show up at the meetings.  Getting the word out in some manner will be important.   
 
Town Attorney Cirullo stated that he thought the cost of an AGO would be comparable to the 
AGO that was prepared earlier this year.  He advised that he could have a draft ready for the 
Town Council at the December 3, 2013, meeting if he was so authorized.  
 
Motion:  Councilman Rockett made a motion to authorize Town Attorney Cirullo to 
move forward and prepare a draft letter to the AGO regarding the definition of 
surrounding properties, for the December 3, 2013, Town Council meeting.  The motion was 
seconded by Vice Mayor Jarriel.  The motion passed 4/0. 
 
 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 a. Resurfacing of Bryan, Compton & Marcella (Vice Mayor Jarriel) 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel complimented staff and the Mayor for the letter that went out on Bryan Road, 
that was sent out on Friday.  In order to accomplish the resurfacing, a group has checked out 
roads in Jupiter Farms that was micro resurfaced and we all agreed that would be good for the 
three roads noted above.  Town Manager Kutney would be reviewing contracts with North 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 46 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 8 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

Florida Emulsions that would allow piggy backing and it would be on the December 3, 2013, 
Town Council agenda.  
 
Town Attorney Cirullo reminded Vice Mayor Jarriel that a follow up letter will be sent to all 
those on Bryan Road that will be prepared with their specific information.  Doing the work on 
Bryan will depend on getting the documents included with the letter returned to us. 
 
 
Public Comment: 
 
Frank Schiola, Marcella Blvd.:  Commented that he did not dispute that Compton and Bryan 
need to be done.  We need to have drainage there.  Anything we do to the road will be affected 
by summer rains, especially on Compton where there were a couple of blockages.  On Bryan 
there were some areas where the water flows and in other areas not at all.  We need to do the 
drainage. 
 
Darrel Fisher, 13725 Fox Trail:  Commented on Compton, Bryan and Marcella and why those 
roads were being resurfaced when you cannot drive down other roads that are in bad shape.  Why 
are we going to pay to have that done.   
 
Councilman Goltzené responded that the people on those roads have signed over their ownership 
to the Town.  That process is going on right now on Bryan Road.  There are no standards for the 
dirt roads and that is why you find a great deal of variance between one and another.  That is 
why things are the way they are.  They are not up to State standards.    If your road was owned 
by the Town, then we would proceed with that when we have the money.  Imagine if every road 
was OGEMed – we would be resurfacing every seven years, and it would be a cycle throughout 
the Town.  We can put dirt and rock on your road, but as we do that no one wants to pay the bill.  
That is what everybody has to understand. 
 
 
 
 b. Florida Emulsion (Vice Mayor Jarriel) 
(Discussed in the preceding item) 
 
 
 c. Scott Blasie – Vacant Registry (Information Packet was distributed to Town  
  Council Members at the 11-5-13 Town Council meeting) 
  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 47 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 9 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel commented that Vacant Registry had been hired by other towns, and that the 
house on C Road is not safe, and over a year ago the Magistrate said that it needs to be closed 
out.  The Vacant Registry people had proven themselves in Wellington, and it would not cost the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves anything out of pocket.  If we have already found things, they will 
not take anything out, -- only if they find it. 
 
Town Manager Kutney advised that he would follow up with the attorney regarding the house on 
C Road. 
 
 
10.  CLOSING COMMENTS 
 

a. Public 
 
None. 

 
b. Town Attorney   
  

Town Attorney Cirullo:  Wished everyone Happy Thanksgiving 
 
 
c. Town Council Members 
 

Councilman Goltzené:  Happy thanksgiving 
 
Vice Mayor Jarriel: Happy Thanksgiving.  Darrel and his wife were here for the simple fact that 
they need fill on their road.  Our policy is that if a resident calls in and says they need fill, staff 
goes out and checks it out.  They need a minimum of two loads of fill out there.  We have people 
from the Town and people from the LGWCD go out and look at their road.  All we are doing is 
moving dirt and grading.  But no matter what, you are moving that dirt around and it is lost 
through dust and when it rains too.  Somebody qualified needs to look at the roads and say when 
they need fill.   
 
Town Manager Kutney:  We had a very good discussion at the IGC today and Steve Yohe and I 
did a site visit to the road after the meeting, and after the grading, that is a nice road (Fox Trail).  
We did see one area near the turn around, but other than that there was no washboard effect.  I 
told Mr. Fisher that we have been monitoring the road.  We have a limited budget on the rock 
and we are trying to be judicious in where we use the rock.   

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 48 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 10 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

Vice Mayor Jarriel:  These people on this road are not liars.  Over 8 weeks ago when it was 
graded, the operator of the grader said they needed fill.  I spoke with Steve today and he said it 
was no worse than any other road in Loxahatchee Groves.  I urge the Town Council members to 
go over tomorrow and look at the road and the hole and the mailboxes, because it does need fill. 
 
Councilman Goltzené:  We don’t have a standard.  Ron thinks one thing.  Mark thinks one thing. 
So does Steve Yohe.  It is perception, and when we don’t have a standard there is no way to say 
if the road is good or not.  You need to have a standard.  We have to agree on  what we are 
doing.  If we put 6 inches of rock on every road in Town I think we would go bankrupt.  Another 
illustration is:  we have got 3 million bucks; we’ve got 3,000 residents – you have a $1,000 per 
person to spend.   That is basically where we are at.    It doesn’t go very far in this world.  We are 
a little town and we have a small budget, and we have a low tax base and low income.  We have 
to either raise our income, or reduce our expectations.  The people who live here need to say 
whether they want a high service/ high tax community or a low service/low tax community.  But 
a high service – somebody else pay the bill community is probably not available. . 

 
Councilman Rockett:  Thanked everyone for attending.  
 
Mayor Browning:  Thanked everyone for attending.   Happy Thanksgiving.  If we want our 
community to look like Wellington, pretty soon we won’t be able to afford to live here.  Let’s do 
the best we can with what we’ve got. 

 
 

11.  ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the Town Council Meeting of  November 19, 2013, was 
adjourned at 9:11 p.m. 
 
 
 
____________________________   __________________________ 
Town Clerk      David Browning, Mayor 

 
(SEAL) 
 

 
These minutes were approved at the December 3, 2012, Town Council Meeting. 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 49 of 271 



TOWN COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES, TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 
      Page 11 of 11  

 
 
 

 
Town Council Agenda 
11/19/2013 
 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 50 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 4 a. 

Proclamations 

4 b. 

F. Martin Perry 

(BACKUP NOT PROVIDED)

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 51 of 271 



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

Honoring  
Everglades Farm Equipment Company 

 
 
WHEREAS, by supporting the Literacy Coalition of Palm Beach County’s “2013 Read for the 
Record”, Mayor David Browning and his wife Sharon, collaborated with the Coalition and 
Everglades Farm Equipment Company who provided their facilities as a venue for the reading of 
“Otis” by Loren Long; and  
 
WHEREAS, many children from child care centers, schools, and libraries  met on October 3, 2013 at 
the Everglades Farm Equipment Company where they were read “Otis” the story of a little tractor; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, upon leaving, the students were pleased when each received a little surprise gift to 
take home; and  
 
WHEREAS, following story time, helpers from The Farmer’s Daughter Garden Center provided a 
magical tour of the beautiful plants and gardens and the animals that live there.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it proclaimed by the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
assembled in regular session this 3rd day of December, 2013, that the Town is proud to express 
their appreciation for the help, participation, and generosity of the wonderful volunteers of 
Everglades Farm Equipment Company who helped make this day so special for a wonderful group 
of children.  

 

 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
         David Browning, Mayor 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 52 of 271 



 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 

Honoring  
The Farmer’s Daughter Garden Center  

 
WHEREAS, by supporting the Literacy Coalition of Palm Beach County’s “2013 Read for the 
Record”, Mayor David Browning and his wife Sharon collaborated with the Coalition and Farmer’s 
Daughter Garden Center to participate in the activities following the reading of “Otis” by Loren 
Long; and  
 
WHEREAS, many children from child care centers, schools, and libraries  met on October 3, 2013 at 
the Everglades Farm Equipment Company where they were read “Otis” the story of a little tractor; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, following story time, helpers from The Farmer’s Daughter Garden Center provided a 
magical tour of the beautiful plants and gardens and the animals that live there; and   
 
WHEREAS, upon leaving, each of the students were pleased when each received a little pumpkin 
to take home; and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, be it proclaimed by the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
assembled in regular session this 3rd day of December, 2013, that the Town is proud to express 
their appreciation for the help, participation, and generosity of the wonderful volunteers from The 
Farmer’s Daughter Garden Center who helped make this day so special for a wonderful group of 
children.  

 

 
 
 
 

_________________________ 
         David Browning, Mayor 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 53 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 5 a. 

Finance Advisory & Audit Committee Report 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 54 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 55 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 56 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 57 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 58 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 59 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 60 of 271 



2013-12-03 A
genda P

acket 61 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 6 a. 

Resolution 2013‐17/ SOE Agereement 

2014 Municipal Election 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 62 of 271 



 
 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, DESIGNATING THE DATE, 
TIME AND PLACE TO QUALIFY AND FILE FOR THE OFFICE OF 
TOWN COUNCIL MEMBER FOR SEAT 5  PRIOR TO THE MUNICIPAL 
GENERAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, MARCH 11, 2014, 
PURSUANT TO THE TOWN CHARTER AND CHAPTERS 97 – 106, 
FLORIDA STATUTES; THE ELECTION FILING PERIOD OPENS 
PROMPTLY AT 12:00 NOON ON JANUARY 28, 2014 AND CLOSES 
PROMPTLY AT 12:00 NOON ON FEBRUARY 4, 2014; SETTING FILING 
FEES; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN CLERK TO APPOINT ELECTION 
BOARDS FOR ELECTION PRECINCT 6094;  AUTHORIZING THE 
SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS TO CONDUCT THE TOWN ELECTION 
AND APPROVING THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWN AND 
THE PALM BEACH COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS FOR 
ELECTION SERVICES; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN CLERK OR 
DESIGNEE TO HANDLE CERTAIN ELECTION MATTERS; OPTING 
OUT OF EARLY VOTING; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, 
SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

  WHEREAS, the Town of Loxahatchee Groves shall conduct its annual Municipal 

General Election on Tuesday, March 11, 2014, pursuant to the Town Charter, the Florida 

Constitution and  Chapter 97 – Chapter 106, Florida Statutes. 

WHEREAS, one polling place is provided for the Town, Precinct 6094, and shall be open 

between the hours of 7:00 a.m. - 7:00 p.m. on Election Day, March 12, 2013; and 

WHEREAS, registered voters shall have the opportunity to cast their vote for candidates 

who have filed and qualified for the Office Town Council Member Seat 5, pursuant to the Town 

Charter of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Palm Beach County, Florida 

.     

 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 63 of 271 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17     Page 2 of 6 
 

2 

  Section 1.   Any qualified elector [registered voter] of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, 

Florida, who is qualified to hold an elective office under the Charter and Code of Ordinances of 

the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida, and who desires to become a candidate for the Office 

of Town Council Member for Seat 5 shall file with the Municipal Filing Officer [Town Clerk], a 

fully executed Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign Depository for 

Candidates [DS-DE 9] form; provide a Notice of Intent that his/her name be placed upon the 

ballot for election to declare themselves a bona fide candidate for such office; and file other forms 

necessary to be declared a candidate for the Office of Town Council Member for Seat 5. 

  Section 2.  The Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign 

Depository for Candidates [DS-DE 9] that has been executed and signed by the candidate and 

accepted and signed by the Campaign Treasurer); the written Notice of Intent to Seek Election for 

Office of Town Council Member for Seat 5; and other required documents must be provided by 

the candidate to the Municipal Filing Officer [Town Clerk] during the Filing and Qualifying 

Period that opens promptly at 12:00 Noon, Tuesday, January 28, 2014 and closes promptly at 

12:00 Noon, Tuesday, February 5, 2014. 

           Section 3.    Each person seeking to qualify for nomination or election to a municipal 

office shall pay, at the time of qualifying for office, an election assessment. The election 

assessment shall be an amount equal to 1 percent of the annual salary of the office sought.  There 

is not a local filing fee for the Town of Loxahatchee Groves. 

  Section 4.   Pursuant to Section 3 of the Town Charter, each candidate for the Office 

of Town Council Member for Seat 5 shall be a qualified elector [registered voter].  All candidates 

for the Office of Town Council Member for Seat 5 must be a resident of the Town of 

Loxahatchee Groves for at least one (1) year prior to qualifying.    

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 64 of 271 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17     Page 3 of 6 
 

3 

  Section 5. Precinct 6094 is hereby authorized for the Municipal Election to be held 

on Tuesday, March 11, 2014, for the Office of Town Council Member for Seat 5, which is within 

the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida. 

  Section 6. The Town Council requests and authorizes the Palm Beach County 

Supervisor of Elections to conduct its municipal election consistent with the Town Charter, 

Florida law, the Agreement between the Town and the Palm Beach County Supervisor of 

Elections, attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and hereby approved, and this resolution.  

Section 7.    The Town Clerk, or her designee, is authorized to attend, and to the 

extent necessary represent, the Town and its Canvassing Board at all Logic and Accuracy Tests 

and on election night at the offices of the Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections’ Office.   

Section 8.   Upon closing the polls at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, March 11, 2014, the Town 

Clerk shall ensure the secure transport of the paper ballots cast and appropriate cartridges to the 

Palm Beach County Supervisor of Election’s Office, and the electronic transmission of election 

information as necessary or required by the Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections.  Upon 

the receipt of all optical scanned voting ballots and cartridges and provisional ballots, the Palm 

Beach County Supervisor of Elections shall count all the ballots, including the absentee ballots, 

optical scanned paper ballots, and provisional ballots for all Precincts located within the Town of 

Loxahatchee Groves.   

 Section 9.   Upon the Town Clerk’s receipt of the Municipal Election Results from the 

Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections, the Town’s Canvassing Board shall meet as soon as 

practicable to canvass and certify the election results.  The candidate(s) for the Office of Town 

Council Member for Seat 5 receiving the highest number of votes validly cast shall be declared 

elected.  In the event of a tie vote, a runoff election shall be held pursuant to Town Charter, 

Section 7(c).  Following the Canvassing Board’s certification, each newly elected Town Council 

Member shall be administered the Oath of Office and assume the duties of the office with a 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 65 of 271 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17     Page 4 of 6 
 

4 

ceremonial induction occurring at the next regular meeting of the Town Council following the 

General Election held in accordance with Section 7(e) of the Town Charter. 

Section 10. That for purposes of this election and any future municipal election, the 

Town Council hereby determines that due to the ability of registered voters to cast absentee ballots 

for a municipal election that early voting is not necessary for a municipal election, and that it is in the 

best interest of the Town to opt out of early voting for municipal elections. 

Section 11. All resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 12. If any clause, section, other part or application of this Resolution is held by 

any court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, in part or application, it shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions or applications of this Resolution. 

 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 66 of 271 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17     Page 5 of 6 
 

5 

Section 13. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its passage and 

adoption. 

 
ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 

GROVES THIS  3rd  DAY OF DECEMBER, 2013. 

 

 
ATTEST:                          TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
       FLORIDA  
              
_______________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk                   
       __________________________________ 
        Mayor David Browning  
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:        __________________________________ 
        Vice Mayor Ronald D. Jarriel   
      
______________________________            __________________________________ 
Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney              Council Member Tom Goltzené 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Ryan Liang 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Jim Rockett 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 67 of 271 



RESOLUTION NO. 2013-17     Page 6 of 6 
 

6 

EXHIBIT “A” 
 

AGREEMENT FOR VOTE PROCESSING EQUIPMENT AND ELECTION SERVICES 
BY AND BETWEEN THE PALM BEACH COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS 

AND THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 68 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

AGREEMENT FOR VOTE PROCESSING EQUIPMENT USE AND ELECTION SERVICES  
BY AND BETWEEN 

 THE PALM BEACH COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS AND  
THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

 
 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, is made and entered into this 3rd day of December, 2013 effective January 1, 
2014, by and between the Palm Beach County Supervisor of Elections, an elected county officer pursuant to 
Article VIII, Sec.1(d) of the Florida Constitution, hereinafter referred to as the “SOE”, and the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves, a municipal corporation, chartered and organized in accordance with the laws of the State 
of Florida, hereinafter referred to as the “Municipality”. 
 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 
WHEREAS, Chapters 97 to 106, Florida Statutes, constitute the Florida Election Code (the “Code”) 

which applies to municipalities where expressly so stated; and 
 

WHEREAS, Sec 100.3605, Florida Statutes, states that “[T]he Florida Election Code, chapters 97-106 
shall govern the conduct of a municipality’s election in the absence of an applicable special act, charter, or 
ordinance provision”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Municipality and the SOE desire to work together to provide for municipal elections 
and to allocate certain responsibilities and expenses between the two parties to ensure that the provisions of the 
Code are followed during municipal elections; and 
 

WHEREAS, the SOE and the Municipality wish to enter into this Agreement to set out the terms of this 
coordinated program. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises hereinafter contained to 
be kept and performed by the parties hereto, and for the mutual benefit of the Municipality, its constituents and 
the SOE, it is agreed as follows: 
 
1. PURPOSE: 
 

The purpose of this Agreement is to set forth the terms and conditions under which services will be 
provided by the SOE and staff to the Municipality for municipal elections and to set forth the 
responsibilities of both parties so that there is a clear understanding of the rights and responsibilities of 
all parties.  Such rights and responsibilities shall apply to the General, Run-Off, Special and Recount 
elections as necessary as well as the Post-Election Audit, unless otherwise stated herein below. 
 

2. DATE OF GENERAL MUNICIPAL ELECTION: 
 

 The date of The Town of Loxahatchee Groves’ General Municipal election is March 11, 2014.  It is 
hereby acknowledged and agreed that if the date listed is the same as most other municipalities in March 
or November, there will be a cost sharing among municipalities for costs incurred by the SOE.  Such 
costs shall be allocated on a pro-rata share basis; otherwise, it is hereby acknowledged and agreed upon 
by the municipality that it is responsible for all costs of the election, incurred by the office of the SOE. 

 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 69 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

3.  FEES AND CHARGES TO BE PAID BY THE MUNICIPALITY: 
 

The SOE hereby agrees not to charge Municipalities for taxpayer purchased equipment and supplies; 
(i.e. voting machines, tables, chairs, etc.) and associated maintenance and contract fees related to such 
equipment in return for which the Municipality hereby agrees not to charge the SOE for polling places 
within its dominion and control.  Examples of municipal elections charges related to certain services 
performed by the SOE to be passed through to the Municipality on a shared pro rata basis for all 
municipalities holding elections on a general election day (i.e. 2nd Tuesday in March or November) are 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.  All items to be paid or reimbursed to the SOE will be paid by the 
Municipality within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice from the SOE with documentation verifying 
the charges. 
 
Examples of total costs to small, medium and large municipalities are attached hereto as Exhibit “B”. 

 
4. RESPONSIBILITIES OF BOTH THE MUNICIPALITY AND THE SOE FOR MUNICIPAL 

ELECTIONS: 
 
 A.  Notice and Advertisement  
         
       (1)  Municipality 
              
    (a)  Properly call and advertise the election according to statutes and charter at its own expense. 

               (b) Issue a resolution or ordinance to the SOE requesting that the Supervisor of Elections 
conduct the municipality’s election and act as a member of the Municipality’s Canvassing 
Board, which may or may not include the SOE. 

(c) Certify that the registered voter information provided by the SOE to the municipality       
reflects the proper boundaries of the Town and notify the SOE of any changes. 

                
        (2)  SOE 
 

(a)   Publish legal notices for Logic & Accuracy testing, absentee ballot canvass, Post-Election 
Audit and news releases on book closing. 
 

 B.   Qualifying Candidates 
 
        (1)  Municipality 
                      

  (a)  Provide qualifying packets to candidates and accept and process all qualifying papers and 
fees. 

  (b)  Collect Name and Pronunciation Guides from the candidates at the time of qualifying and 
submit to SOE. 

             (c)  Respond to all candidate inquiries and questions. 
             (d)  Respond to all legal inquiries and questions. 
             (e)  Respond to all media inquiries. 
   
         (2)  SOE 
 
             (a)  Verify signatures on any qualifying petitions submitted by candidates and notify the 
                               Municipality of such results upon the close of the candidate qualifying deadline. 
 
   
  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 70 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

 C.  Ballots 
                     
                   (1)  Municipality 
 
              (a)  Review, amend (if necessary) and approve ballot proof  prepared by SOE. 
              (b)  Place an order with the SOE for a sufficient quantity of ballots as applicable. 
              (c)  Pay ballot design costs to the SOE as incurred. 
              (d) Pay the ballot printer directly for the cost of said ballots. 
              (e) Reimburse the SOE for costs incurred for translation and audio recording of ballot. 
              (f) Reimburse SOE for preparation of Absentee Ballot, Edge Layout and Sample Ballot. 
   
                   (2)  SOE 
         
                         (a)  Layout, check, proof and deliver ballot layout to the printer. 
                         (b)  Receive, securely store, and account for all ballots until disbursed to polling places. 
                         (c)  Contract to have audio recorded for Touch Screen ballot. 
                         (d)  Control all access to un-voted ballots while in the possession of the SOE. 
          
              D.  Equipment Testing  
                      
                    (1)  Municipality 
 

               (a)  Provide that a representative will be present during the Logic and Accuracy testing as 
noticed by SOE. 

 
                    (2)  SOE 
 

                   (a)  Develop a unique test script and manually mark ballots to be used in public Logic & 
Accuracy test. 

   (b)  Conduct public Logic & Accuracy test. 
 
   E.  Early Voting – Optional 
 
                    (1)  Municipality 
 
                (a)  Reimburse the SOE for staff overtime hours due to weekend and/or evening hours for                              

Early Voting. 
                (b)  Pay SOE for Early Voting supplies. 
                (c)  Contract with, schedule, and pay poll workers directly. 
                (d)  Deliver voted ballots to SOE daily at a location designated by SOE. 
                (e)  Designate Early Voting sites thirty (30) days prior to each Election and notify SOE 

                          in writing of locations. 
 
                     (2)  SOE 
 
                 (a)  Prepare and provide all supplies needed for each Early Voting site. 
                             (b)  Provide the Municipality with a list of poll workers. 
                             (c)  Train poll workers. 
                             (d)  Provide staffing to accept voted ballots daily at a location designated by SOE. 
 
 
               
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 71 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

  F.  Absentee Voting 
 
                      (1)  Municipality                      
 
                 (a)  Reimburse SOE for all postage costs incurred at the current postal rate. 
                 (b)  Pay SOE for materials and handling of each absentee ballot. 

                 (c)  Pay SOE $.10 per absentee ballot for verifying signatures on returned voted ballot 
certificates. 

               (d)  Refer all requests for absentee ballots to SOE. 
 
                     (2)  SOE 
 
                            (a)  Determine eligibility and compile Absentee Ballot file. 
                            (b)  Accept all requests for Absentee Ballots by telephone, mail or in person. 
                            (c)  Prepare and mail Absentee Ballots. 
                            (d)  Deliver Absentee Ballots to the Post Office. 
                            (e)  Receive voted Absentee Ballots. 
                            (f)  Verify signatures on returned voted Absentee Ballot certificates. 
                            (g)  Prepare and open Absentee Ballots for tabulation. 
                            (h)  Account for all Absentee Ballots. 

                    (i)  Notify Absentee Ballot voter and provisional voters of the disposition of the Canvassing 
Board as required by law. 

                            (j)  Record Absentee Ballot returns to voter history. 
                            (k)  Conduct public testing of Logic and Accuracy for Absentee Ballot tabulating equipment. 
                            (l)  Provide qualified staff to operate tabulation equipment to count Absentee Ballots. 
  
 G.  Polling Places 
 
                     (1)  Municipality 
 
                 (a)  Arrange for the use of an adequate number of polling places. 
                 (b)  Confirm polling place accessibility and ADA compliance.   
                 (c)  Notify SOE in writing thirty (30) days prior to election of the need for tables and 

                            chairs if necessary. 
                (d)  Notify SOE of polling locations to be used no later than noon the Friday after the 

municipal candidate qualifying deadline. 
                (e)  Notify the SOE not less than 30 days prior to the election that a polling place will be  

                          moved to another site.       
                (f)  Notify voters, as required by law, if their regular polling place is to be temporarily   

                         relocated. 
 
                    (2)  SOE 
   
                            (a)  Provide the Municipality with a list of polling places and SOE contract. 
                            (b)  Provide tables and chairs upon written notice from the Municipality when required. 
                            (c)  Provide polling place supplies, i.e. signs, cones, etc. 
                            (d)  Notify voters and the Municipality of permanent polling place change(s). 
 
            
             
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 72 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

  H.  Precinct Supplies 
 
                      (1)  Municipality 
 
                (a)  Pay SOE for precinct supplies provided. 

                (b)  Provide a secure place for precinct clerks to return supplies and voted ballots on election 
night.                 

                           (c)  Pay SOE for the production of Precinct Registers or for programming electronic poll books. 
               (d)  Pay directly to the SOE’s contracted moving company to have voting equipment delivered 

and picked up from polling place no later than the day before the election and returned after 
the election. 

 
                     (2)  SOE 
        
                           (a)  Provide Precinct Registers, or electronic poll books, for each polling place location. 
                           (b)  Provide Master CD compilation of registered voters for precinct advisors, or provide up to 

date electronic poll books. 
               (c)  Provide certification of registered voters after book closing. 
                           (d)  Prepare equipment, cabinets and routing of voting equipment delivery. 
                           (e)  Provide laptop computer at each polling place, or electronic poll books. 
                           (f)  Provide CD of voter file database for each polling place, or up to date electronic poll books. 
                           (g)  Provide poll worker Clerks with cell phones. 
                           (h)  Provide Provisional Ballot envelopes and affidavit forms for each polling place. 
                           (i)  Provide secrecy sleeves in a number and amount appropriate for each polling place. 
                              
   I.  Poll Workers 
 
                  (1)  Municipality 
 
             (a)   Contact, contract with and pay poll workers directly (using only poll workers who are 

currently on the SOE list, or individuals who have successfully completed required training). 
             (b)  Schedule and notify poll workers of training classes. 

             (c)  Reimburse SOE for expenses incurred for delivery and pick up of equipment to training 
locations. 

             (d)  Reimburse SOE for expenses incurred in printing training material. 
             (e)  Reimburse SOE for expenses incurred for trainers to train poll workers. 
             (f)  Reimburse SOE for expenses incurred for contracted training locations. 
 
                   (2)  SOE 
  
                         (a)  Provide the Municipality with a list of current poll workers. 
                         (b)  Develop poll worker training schedule. 
                         (c)  Plan and contract for training classes and locations. 
                         (d)  Contract with and pay trainers to train poll workers. 
                         (e)  Provide printed training materials for poll workers. 
  
    J.  Election Day Support 
 
                     (1)  Municipality 
  
                (a)  Verify that all polling places are available to poll workers no later than 6:00 a.m. and  

                          open for voting promptly at 7:00 a.m. on Election Day. 
                 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 73 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

  (b)  Ensure that all polling places remain open until 7:00 p.m. or until all voters who are     
                         in line to vote at 7:00 p.m. have completed voting. 

               (c)  Reimburse SOE for all phone bank costs. 
 
         (2)  SOE 
  
                           (a)  Assist in finding poll worker replacements if needed. 
                           (b)  Provide technical support personnel as needed. 
                           (c)  Provide phone bank support to respond to poll workers and voters on Election Day.  
 
        K.  Ballot Tabulation/Counting of Election Results 
 

(1) Municipality 
 

                   (a)  Deliver all voted ballots and other necessary election related items to a place designated by 
the SOE after the polling places have closed on Election Day. 

               (b)  Deliver all voting machine cartridges to a place designated by the SOE after the polling 
places have closed on Election Day. 

               (c)  Reimburse the SOE for any staff overtime and other expenses in relation to the tabulation 
and processing of ballots on Election Day. 

               (d)  Act as member of Canvassing Board.  
   
          (2)  SOE 
 
                            (a)  Provide technical staff and required equipment to administer tabulation and election 
                                   results. 
                 (b)  Assist and act, or appoint a designee to assist and act on the SOE’s behalf, as a member of 

the Municipality’s Canvassing Board if desired by the municipality or act as a member of 
the County Canvassing Board if it canvasses the municipality’s election, if allowed by law. 

                            (c)  Post election results on SOE Web-Site and provide the same to Channel 20. 
                            (d)  Provide the Municipal Clerk with unofficial election results upon conclusion of     
                                  tabulation and canvassing of ballots cast on Election Day. 
 
    L.  Post Election Day 
 
                      (1)  Municipality 
 
           (2)  SOE 
 

                    (a)  Provide the Municipal Clerk with an official certification of election results if allowed by 
law. 

                            (b)  Store all necessary election records and ballots until the expiration of retention   
                                   period prescribed by statutes. 
                            (c)  Process polling place affirmation forms. 
                            (d)  Sort, inventory, pack and store all election materials for retention and disposition. 
                            (e)  Notify voters of the disposition of their Absentee or Provisional Ballots after the 
                                  determination by the Canvassing Board, as required by law. 
                            (f)  Respond to public records requests regarding records kept on behalf of the 
                                  Municipality. 
                            (g)  Record voting history for each voter who voted on Election Day. 
 
    
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 74 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

 M.  Audit 
 
          (1)  Municipality 
 
                (a)  Provide that the Municipal Clerk will be responsible for the administration of the audit. 

                (b)  Reimburse SOE for any staff time or other related expenses as may result from conducting 
the manual audit. 

 
                      (2)  SOE 
 

                    (a)  Organize precinct information to allow the Municipal Clerk to randomly select the race 
and precinct(s) that shall be audited. 

                            (b)  Organize and prepare ballots for manual audit. 
                            (c)  Provide SOE staff to conduct manual audit. 
                            (d)  Ascertain and publically post manual audit result to SOE Web-Site.   
 
 N.  Recount  
 
                      (1)  Municipality 
 

(a) Provide that the Municipal Clerk will be responsible for the administration of the Recount, 
with support and guidance from the SOE. 

(b)  Act as a member of the Canvassing Board.  
                 (c)  Notify the candidates of the time and date of the Recount. 
                 (d)  Post public notice(s) of the Recount with the time and location.   

                 (e)  Cause to have the Recount recorded and minutes kept and approved by the Canvassing 
Board.  

                 (f)  Review with the Canvassing Board and the counting teams the statutes and rules of the 
Division of Elections, specifically Rule 1S-2.031. Recount Procedures; and Rule 1S-  

                                  2.027. Standards for Determining Voter’s Choice on a Ballot. 
                (g)  Reimburse the SOE for all staff salaries/overtime, facility and other expenses required to 

conduct the Recount. 
                          
                    (2)  SOE 
   
                           (a)  Post public notice(s) of the Recount with the time and location. 
                           (b)  Test tabulating equipment as required by Sec. 101.5612, Florida Statues. 
                           (c)  Provide counting teams for examining out stacked ballots. 
                           (d)  Prepare and organize ballots for Recount processing. 
  (e)  Tabulate ballots and provide professional staff for equipment operations. 
                           (f)  Provide official certification as determined by the Canvassing Board.  
 
   
5. INDEMNITY: 
 

Each party to this agreement shall be liable for its own actions and negligence.  To the extent permitted 
by law, the Municipality shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless SOE against any actions, claims or 
damages arising out of the Municipality’s negligence in connection with performance under this 
Agreement; and the SOE shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Municipality against any 
actions, claims or damages arising out of the negligence of SOE in connection with its performance 
under this Agreement. The foregoing indemnification shall not constitute a waiver of sovereign 
immunity beyond the limits set forth at Sec. 768.28, Florida Statutes. In no case shall such limits for the 
Municipality extend beyond $200,000 for any one person or beyond $300,000 for any judgment which, 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 75 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

when totaled with all other judgments, arises out of the same incident or occurrence.  These provisions 
shall not be construed to constitute agreement by either party to indemnify the other for such other’s 
negligent, willful or intentional acts or omissions.  In the event of litigation, trial or appellate, between 
the Municipality and the SOE relating to a municipal election governed by this Agreement, or otherwise 
in connection with the interpretation or application of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be 
entitled to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs from the non-prevailing party.  
Notwithstanding the above, the municipality shall defend legal challenges relating to its municipal 
election and shall be fully responsible for all legal costs including attorneys’ fees for such defense of the 
Municipality and the SOE.  The municipality shall be responsible for damages, if any, assessed by virtue 
of such lawsuit, up to the monetary limits provided for hereinabove without recourse to the SOE. 

  
6. In the event of a Special Election, the municipality shall receive the approval of the Supervisor of 

Elections for the actual election date no later than 90 days prior to a Special Election unless otherwise 
provided in law.  The expense of any Special Election shall include all actual costs incurred by the 
Supervisor of Elections, including hourly and salaried staff costs and other related election expenses as 
documented. 

 
7. TERM: 
 

This Agreement shall begin on the effective date January 1, 2014 and continue for a term of one year in 
order to cover Special Elections, if any, and may be modified by mutual agreement of the parties.  Any 
proposed changes to this Agreement shall be provided to the municipalities no later than August 1 of the 
applicable year, or as soon as practicable. 
  

8. CHANGE IN LAW: 
 

In the event any change in law abrogates or modifies any provisions or applications of this Agreement, 
the parties hereto agree to enter into good faith negotiations and use their best efforts to reach a mutually 
acceptable modification of this Agreement. 

 
9. NOTICES: 
 

All formal notices affecting the provisions of this Agreement may be delivered in person or be sent by 
facsimile, registered mail,  or by a recognized overnight courier such as FedEx, to the individual 
designated below, until such time as either party furnishes the other party written instructions to contact 
another individual. 
 

For the SOE: For the Municipality:
Supervisor of Elections Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
240 S. Military Trail 14579 Southern Boulevard, Suite 2 
West Palm Beach, Florida 33415 Loxahatchee Groves, FL  33470 
Attention: Susan Bucher Attention: Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk

 
10. SEVERABILITY: 
 

If any clause, section, or provision of this Agreement shall be declared to be unconstitutional, invalid or 
unenforceable for any cause or reason, or is abrogated or negated by a change in law, the same shall be 
eliminated from this Agreement, and the remaining portion of this Agreement shall be in full force and 
effect and be valid as if such invalid portions thereof had not been incorporated herein. 
 

 
 
11. By signing this contract, you and your municipality approve the contract as a form of legal sufficiency       

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 76 of 271 



 

Resolution 2013-17 Attachement  SOE Agreement 

 

and certify that this contract has met all of the legal requirements of your Municipal Charter and all other 
related laws. 

 
11. NO MODIFICATION EXCEPT IN WRITING: 
 

This is the complete and final agreement between the parties.  No representations other than those set 
forth herein shall be binding upon the parties.  No modification of this agreement shall be effective 
unless submitted in writing and signed by both parties, or their duly authorized representatives. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into this Agreement effective January 1, 2014. 
 
 
  As to the SOE: 
 
WITNESSES: SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS 
 PALM BEACH COUNTY 
_______________________ 
 
_______________________ ______________________________ 

 Susan Bucher 
 
 Date: __________________________ 

 
 
As to the MUNCIPALITY: 

 
 
ATTEST:        TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 
_________________________________ __________________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, MMC   David Browning, Mayor 
Town Clerk 
 
(Affix Municipal Seal)                                            Date:  ____________________________ 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 77 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 6 b. 

Resolution 2013‐18 

Dedication of Right‐of‐Way Easement 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 78 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-18 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, SUPPORTING THE 
LEGISLATION REQUESTED BY THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
WATER CONTROL DISTRICT TO PROVIDE FOR THE DEDICATION 
OF RIGHT-OF-WAY EASEMENTS TO THE PUBLIC; PROVIDING 
THAT COPIES OF THIS RESOLUTION BE FORWARDED TO THE 
PALM BEACH COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION, THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE FLORIDA SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER OF THE 
FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 

(the District”) has requested legislation to provide for the dedication of right-of-way easements 

to the public; and,  

 WHEREAS, the subject legislation is intended to facilitate and improve road access and 

safety, decrease dust and resulting health issues, and lower road maintenance costs for 

landowners and residents of the Town, and,  

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves finds that it is in the 

best interest of the Town, its residents and landowners, for the proposed legislation to be 

approved by the Florida Legislature. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 Section 1. The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as 

being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Resolution. 

Section 2. The Town Council hereby supports the legislation requested by 

Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District to provide for the dedication of right-of-way 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 79 of 271 



easements to the public. 

 Section 3. The Town Clerk is directed to forward certified copies of the executed 

Resolution to the Palm Beach County Legislative Delegation, the President of the Florida Senate 

and the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives. 

 Section 4. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA THIS  ______ DAY OF DECEMBER 2013. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 

FLORIDA 
 
_______________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk                   
             
       __________________________________ 
        Mayor David Browning  
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:        __________________________________ 
        Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
      
______________________________            __________________________________ 
Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney              Council Member Tom Goltzené 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Ryan Liang 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Jim Rockett 
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\RESO 2013\Reso 2013-   (2014 Special Act -roadway easements).doc 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 80 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 81 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 6 c. 

Resolution 2013‐19 

Dedication of Canal Maintenance Easement 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 82 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2013-19 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, SUPPORTING THE 
LEGISLATION REQUESTED BY THE LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
WATER CONTROL DISTRICT TO PROVIDE FOR THE DEDICATION 
OF CANAL MAINTENANCE EASEMENTS TO THE DISTRICT AND 
THE USE OF SUCH FOR RECREATIONAL TRAIL PURPOSES; 
PROVIDING THAT COPIES OF THIS RESOLUTION BE FORWARDED 
TO THE PALM BEACH COUNTY LEGISLATIVE DELEGATION, THE 
PRESIDENT OF THE FLORIDA SENATE, AND THE SPEAKER OF THE 
FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District 

(the District”) has requested legislation to provide for the dedication of canal maintenance 

easements to the District; and,  

 WHEREAS, the subject legislation is intended to facilitate and promote the District’s 

ability to maintain its canals pursuant to its special purposes, and to permit such maintenance 

easements to be used for recreational trail purposes by the public, and,  

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves finds that it is in the 

best interest of the Town, its residents and landowners, for the proposed legislation to be 

approved by the Florida Legislature. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, THAT: 

 Section 1. The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as 

being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Resolution. 

Section 2. The Town Council hereby supports the legislation requested by 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 83 of 271 



Loxahatchee Groves Water Control District to provide for the dedication of canal maintenance 

easements to the District, and to permit the use of such for recreational trail purposes by the 

public. 

 Section 3. The Town Clerk is directed to forward certified copies of the executed 

Resolution to the Palm Beach County Legislative Delegation, the President of the Florida Senate 

and the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives. 

 Section 4. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon adoption. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA THIS  ______ DAY OF DECEMBER 2013. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 

FLORIDA 
 
_______________________________ 
Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk                   
             
       __________________________________ 
        Mayor David Browning  
 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:        __________________________________ 
        Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
      
______________________________            __________________________________ 
Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney              Council Member Tom Goltzené 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Ryan Liang 
 
       __________________________________ 
        Council Member Jim Rockett 
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\RESO 2013\Reso 2013-   (2014 Special Act -canal maintenance).doc 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 84 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 85 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 7 a. 

Ordinance No. 2013‐11   2nd Reading 

Historical Legacy 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 86 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-11 
 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO HISTORICAL 
LEGACY USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), 
TO AMEND SECTION 75-035, ENTITLED “USES AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2006” 
TO ADD THE TERM HISTORICAL LEGACY TO THE SECTION TITLE;  TO 
SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR 
CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO REQUIRE THAT THE  
PROPERTY ON WHICH THE USE IS LOCATED SHALL HAVE BEEN 
OWNED AND SUBJECT TO A HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION IN THE NAME OF 
THE OPERATOR OR HIS OR HER DIRECT RELATIVE RELATED BY 
BLOOD OR MARRIAGE ; TO REQUIRE THAT THE USE DOES NOT 
PRESENT A THREAT TO PUBLIC HEALTH;  TO REQUIRE THAT THE USE 
HAS NO HISTORY OF CODE VIOLATIONS OR THE USE HAS BEEN 
BROUGHT INTO CODE COMPLIANCE; TO REQUIRE THAT THE OWNER-
OPERATOR SUBMIT AN AFFIDAVIT STIPULATING TO COMPLIANCE 
WITH CERTAIN CONDITIONS; AND TO REQUIRE REVIEW AND 
INSPECTION BY THE TOWN;  PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING 
FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has directed staff and the Unified Land 

Development Code (ULDC) Review Committee to prepare corrective amendments to 

Section 75-035 that will result in a process to permit “historical legacy” uses in the 

Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning district.  In response to the Council directive the 

Town’s staff has prepared proposed amendments to the Town’s Unified Land 

Development Code (ULDC) and,  

 
WHEREAS, the Town’s ULDC Review Committee considered the proposed 

ULDC amendments at its October 17, 2013, meeting and recommended that the Town 

Council approve the amendments to the ULDC proposed by staff subject to revisions 

which have been incorporated in Attachment A  hereto; and,  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 87 of 271 



 
 

 

WHEREAS, the Town’s Planning and Zoning Board considered the proposed 

ULDC amendments at its December 12, 2013, meeting and pursuant to Chapter 163, Part 

II, Florida Statutes, recommended that the Town Council approve/deny  the amendments 

to the ULDC as worded in Attachment A  hereto; and,  

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Town of Loxahatchee Groves finds that the  
 
adoption of this ordinance, to revise Section 75-035, entitled “Uses as of October 1,  
 
2006”,   is consistent with the Town’s Comprehensive Plan, and in the best health and  
 
welfare interests of the Town, its property owners and residents.   
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 
  

Section 1:  That the foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as 

being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Ordinance.   

Section 2:  That the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, hereby amends 

 the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) by  amending Section 75-035, entitled 

“Uses as of October 1, 2006”  , as fully set forth in Attachment “A”, and incorporated herein by 

reference. 

Section 3:  Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or parts of 

Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   

Section 4:  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held by the Court to be unconstitutional, inoperative, or void, 

such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance. 

Section 5:  Codification.  The Town Clerk shall cause this ordinance to be codified as a 

part of the ULDC. 

Section 6:  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 88 of 271 



 
 

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 3rd DAY OF 
DECEMBER, 2013. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 
_____ DAY OF ____________________, 2013.       
              
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
       FLORIDA 
 
ATTEST:      ____________________________________ 
       Mayor David Browning  
        
_____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
TOWN CLERK     Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
    
       ____________________________________ 
       Council Member Tom Goltzené 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:   
       ____________________________________
       Council Member Ryan Liang 
_________________________________   
Office of the Town Attorney    ____________________________________ 
       Council Member Jim Rockett 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 89 of 271 



 
 

 

 
ATTACHMENT A – Ordinance 2013-011 

  
Historical Legacy Amendments  

 
 (Ref: Following Page) 

 
Amendments to the following ULDC Section:               
 

1. Section 75-035. Uses as of October 1, 2006 
 

NOTE:  Underlined text is an addition to Section  75-035 and struck through  text is a deletion 
to Section 75-035. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 90 of 271 



 
 

 

Section 75-035. -  Historical Legacy Uses as of October 1, 2006.  

Certain uses that were in existence and not previously permitted by Palm 
Beach County as of October 1, 2006 are not contained in the table of permitted 
uses for the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning district, referred  to as “Historical 
Legacy Uses”, but may be allowed to continue to exist, subject to following:  

(A) The applicant shall have the burden of proof to demonstrate that the use was in 
existence on the property as of October 1, 2006; and  

 

(B) The applicant shall apply for a Category B Special Exception pursuant to 
Section 170-010(B) of this Code; and 

 

(C) The application for the Special Exception shall be filed within eight months of 
the effective date of these regulations.  The property on which the use is 
located shall have been continuously: (1) owned in the name of  the use 
operator or his or her direct relative related by blood or marriage since October 
1, 2006; and (2)  subject to a homestead exemption in the name of  the use 
operator or his or her direct relative related by blood or marriage, since October 
1, 2006.   

 

(D)  The use does not present a threat to public health or safety. 

 

(E) The use has no history of Town Code violations, or the use has been brought 
into compliance with  the Town Code. 

 

(F) The owner-operator has submitted an affidavit: (1) certifying compliance with 
Sections (A) –(E) above (2) limiting the continued operation  of the use  to both 
the exact physical address and operator or his or her direct relative related by 
blood or marriage; (3) agreeing not to diversify the existing business; (4) 
agreeing that no signs visible from the road  which advertise or promote the  
use will be erected on the property; (5) agreeing to maintain an active annual 
local business tax receipt; and (6) acknowledging that, in the event of the 
transfer of the property to a new owner other than to a direct relative related by 
blood or marriage , the  right to operate the use shall cease.    

 

(G) The owner-operator has undergone a review and inspection by the Town to 
determine compliance with Sections (A) – (F) above.  

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 91 of 271 



Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 
840 N.E. Stokes Terrace                                                                                                               William F. Underwood, II 
Jensen Beach, Florida 34957                                                                                                                                           Managing Partner 
Telephone: 772.233.1511                                                                                                                                           Email: umsg@att.net                    

 

 

TO:  Town Council 

FROM: Underwood Management Services Group, L.L.C. 

RE: Ordinance 2013- 011: Town Initiated Amendment to the Loxahatchee Groves Unified 
Land Development Code (ULDC) to Addition of Section 75-035 – Uses as of October 
1, 2006 (i.e. Historical Legacy Uses). 

DATE:  November 22, 2013. 

CC:  William F. Underwood, Managing Partner 

_________________ ____________________________________________ 

I.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Per Section 05-070, the Town Council may amend the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) for the 
purposes of public necessity, convenience, general welfare, or good planning and zoning practice.  Any 
amendment to the ULDC requires a super majority vote of four or more Council members. 

The issue of “historical legacy” uses has undergone a lengthy Town review process and morphed from 
the previously proposed addition to the ULDC of Section 80-60. Residential Agricultural Sales and 
Services to the current proposed revision of ULDC Section 75-035. Uses as of October 1, 2006.  

The following represents a brief chronology of events leading to the current proposed revisions to ULDC 
Section 75-030: 

 A code enforcement complaint was initially filed against several entities alleging the improper 
retail sales of hay without appropriate approvals.   The complaint was investigated by the Town’s 
Code Enforcement Staff and it was determined that the three entities were operating in the 
Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning district without the proper authority and approval.   

 At the June 5, 2012 Town Council Meeting, the respondents appeared and requested 
consideration for their current operations.  Town Council deliberated on the matter and directed 
Town Management Staff and the Town Attorney to review the matter and propose possible 
remedies that would address the issue. 

 At the June 20, 2012 meeting, Town Management Staff presented a strategy including the 
following elements:  Limiting the operation to property residents; restricting the operation to 
resident owners rather than vesting with the land; requiring a business tax receipt; and other 
requirements consistent with the intent of the ULDC. 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 92 of 271 



 

Page | 2 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

 At the November 8, 2012 meeting, the Planning and Zoning Board (PZB) heard a presentation of 
proposed ULDC Section 80-60.  Residential Agricultural Sales and Services.  PZB recommended 
approval of Section 80-60 by a 3-0 vote subject to clarifying that uses be limited to the following:  
straw, flakes, shaving, pellet shavings, hay, feed and grain.  This change was incorporated within 
the draft by Staff. 

 At the November 20, 2012 Town Council meeting, Resolution 2012-19 was passed by the 
Council creating the Unified Land Development Code Review Committee (ULDC Review 
Committee) for the purpose of advising the Council on code related matters. 

 At the Town Council meeting of December 4, 2012, proposed  Ordinance 2012-012 (Hay Sales 
Ordinance) was heard by the Town Council which voted to continue the item to the January 15, 
2013 meeting by a 4-1 vote to allow more time for review. 

 At the Town Council meeting of January 15, 2013, Council voted to approve Ordinance 2012-012 
on first reading by a 3-2 vote subject to the following changes to the Staff proposal: 

o Strike the requirement for special exception approval for semi-truck deliveries. 

o Strike the provision regarding limiting the number of employees to two persons. 

o Change hours of operation to:  8:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m. five days a week, and on Saturday; 
Sunday hours – 12:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m. 

Public discussion centered around the need to adopt an ordinance that encompassed all “mom 
and pop” organizations that existed prior to incorporation rather than focusing on hay sales. 

 At the February 5, 2013 meeting, Ordinance 2012-012 was continued to the March 5, 2013 
meeting, as language revisions approved by the Council at its January 5, 2013 meeting was not 
included in the current draft. 

The Council also directed staff to have Ordinance 2012-012 reviewed by the ULDC Review 
Committee at its February 21, 2013 meeting.  The Town Manager noted that if the title of the 
ordinance was changed as a result of ULDC Committee review, it would have to come back to 
Council for a new first reading. 

 Ordinance 2012-012 was reviewed at the February 21, 2013 ULDC Review Committee.  There 
was considerable discussion as to whether or not the ordinance should be limited to hay sales or 
expanded to include all “historical legacy” businesses.  A motion was made and passed, by a 5-0 
vote, to incorporate the pre-existing business intent of proposed Ordinance 2012-012, expanded 
to include the concept of businesses classified as “historical legacies”, within Section 75-035. 
Uses as of October 1, 2006  of the ULDC.  

 At the March 5, 2013 Town Council meeting, Ordinance 2012-012 was considered on second 
reading.  A motion to table Ordinance 2012-012 and suspend code enforcement on any use that 
would fall under the concept of historical legacy, as presented to the ULDC Committee was made 
and passed by a 5-0 vote.  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 93 of 271 



 

Page | 3 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

A second motion was made and passed, by a 5-0 vote, directing Staff to process an ordinance 
addressing the “historical legacy” issue. 

 ULDC Article 75, including Section 75-035. Uses as of October 1, 2006, was included on the 
ULDC Committee agendas of March 21, 2013, April 18, 2013, May 16, 2013, September 19, 
2013 and October 3, 2013.  The item was continued at each meeting due to the length of 
discussions on prior agenda items. 

 ULDC Article 75. Nonconforming Uses, Structures and Plots, including Section 75-035. Uses as 
of October 1, 2006, was discussed by the ULDC Review Committee at its meeting on October 17, 
2013.  The Committee recommended approval, by a 5-0 vote, of Staff proposed Article 75 
revisions, subject to several conditions.   Recommended conditions of approval for Section 75-
035 include the following: 

o The “historical legacy” use will not be allowed to continue in the event of a sale of the 
business or the property on which it is located. 

o A “historical legacy” business may continue if previous code violations have been brought 
into compliance with the ULDC. 

o A “historical legacy” business may not be diversified (i.e. add a new business operation). 

o The owner-operator must undergo an inspection and review by the Town to determine 
compliance with Sections 75-035 (A) – (F). 

Each of the above recommendations have been incorporated within the currentStaff 
recommendation. 

II. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A.  APPLICANT:  Town of Loxahatchee Groves.   

B. PURPOSE:  Incorporate revisions to the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) revising 
Section 75-035. Uses as of October 1, 2006  to: 

 
1. Expand the title to read:  Section 75-035. Historical Legacy Uses as of October 1, 

2006. 
 
2. Require an applicant to apply for a Category B Special Exception. 

 
3. Require that the applicant comply with a list of stated conditions. 

 
4. Require that the applicant undergo a review and inspection by the Town to determine 

compliance with the list of stated conditions. 
 
III. REQUESTED ULDC AMENDMENTS 

The proposed amendment to ULDC Section 75-035 is included as Attachment A to proposed Ordinance 
2013-11. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 94 of 271 



 

Page | 4 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

IV. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed text amendment is reviewed in accordance with the following criteria, as listed in Section 
160-020 of the ULDC.  

A. REASON AND/OR  NEED FOR THE PROPOSED TEXT CHANGE:   
 

The basic purpose of the proposed amendment is to implement Town Council direction to 
process an ordinance addressing the “historical legacy” land use issue. 

B. REASON THE PRESENT TEXT IS INVALID OR INAPPROPRIATE: 

The current text of the ULDC is not necessarily invalid or inappropriate; however, current Code 
language does not permit a use existing as of October 1, 2006 to continue to exist if the applicant had 
not filed an application for Special Exception approval within eight months of the effective date of the 
ULDC (i.e. November 2010).   In effect, existing ULDC language prohibits any use in the AR District that 
was in existence on October 1, 2006, but not listed as a “permitted use” in Section 20-015 of the ULDC, 
from continuing to exist. The proposed ULDC text amendment will provide an opportunity for qualified 
longstanding non-conforming land uses (i.e. Historical Legacy uses) to gain permitted use status, 
provided that specified conditions are met and verified by the Town. 

C. HOW DOES THE PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT FURTHER THE PURPOSES OF THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OR OTHER TOWN CODES, REGULATIONS OR PLANS 
DESIGNED TO IMPLEMENT THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

The proposed ULDC revisions, which allow and regulate uses in the AR zoning district that were in 
existence at the time of incorporation of the Town, are consistent with the following general Future Land 
Use Element Comprehensive Plan directives:  

1. Policy 1.1.4(h): Create codes allowing diverse low impact home-based businesses. 
 

2. Policy 1.1.6: The Town shall encourage the use of innovative land development 
regulations that enhance the rural atmosphere, reduce energy usage, and reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. 

 
3. Policy 1.1.8.5:  Maintain specific regulations to restrict the types of non-residential and 

nonagricultural uses allowed and promote the rural character and design.. 
 

4.  Policy 1.1.8.6: Allow home occupation uses that will not degrade the rural character of the 
area.   

 
5. Policy 1.1.8.7: Include provisions for legal non-conforming agricultural uses consistent 

with this Plan, while not violating the Right-to-Farm Act. 
 

6. Policy 1.11.2: The Town shall adopt and maintain land development regulations which 
protect the rights of property owners to continue non-conforming uses, but which, at a 
minimum, provide for the termination of such rights upon the abandonment of a non-
conforming use for an extended period of time. 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 95 of 271 



 

Page | 5 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

7. Policy 1.12.4: The Town will continue to allow home based businesses to the extent that 
impacts are compatible with an agricultural/residential community. 

 
D. IS THERE AN ERROR OR AMBIGUITY TO BE CORECTED: There are no identified errors or 

ambiguities identified in the Town’s current ULDC regarding the issue. Rather, the proposed 
amendments provide an opportunity to allow longstanding non-conforming uses the opportunity to legally 
continue consistent with the direction of the Town’s Comprehensive Plan. 

V. STAFF FINDINGS:  Planning staff finds the proposed ULDC revisions to be consistent with the intent 
and direction of the Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan and the review criteria for a text 
amendment listed in Section 160-020 of the ULDC. 
 
VI. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the proposed ULDC revisions, as 
presented in proposed Ordinance 2013-11. 

VII.  ULDC COMMITTEE ACTION:  The Committee recommended approval, by a 5-0 vote, of Staff 
proposed Section 75-035 include the following: 

o The “historical legacy” use will not be allowed to continue in the event of a sale of the 
business or the property on which it is located. 

o A “historical legacy” business may continue if previous code violations have been brought 
into compliance with the ULDC. 

o A “historical legacy” business may not be diversified (i.e. add a new business operation). 

o The owner-operator must undergo an inspection and review by the Town to determine 
compliance with Sections 75-035 (A) – (F). 

Each of the above recommendations have been incorporated within the Staff recommendation presented 
in Attachment A of Ordinance 2013-11. 

VIII. PLANNING AND ZONING BOARD ACTION:   The Planning and Zoning Board (PZB) is scheduled 
to review proposed Ordinance 2013-11 at its December 12, 2013 meeting. PZB comments will be 
presented to the Council at its following meeting. 

IX. TOWN COUNCIL ACTION:   The item appeared on the Town Council agenda of March 5, 2013 in its 
previous form (i.e. Ordinance 2012-012  - “Hay Sales Ordinance”).  At the meeting, a motion was made 
and passed, by a 5-0 vote, directing Staff to process an ordinance addressing the more general issue of 
“historical legacy”, as opposed to focusing solely upon hay sales. 

Staff’s response to Council direction, including a detailed review by the ULDC Review Committee, is 
incorporated within the proposed ULDC revisions presented in Attachment A of Ordinance 2013-11. 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 96 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 7 b. 

Ordinance No. 2013‐06   2nd Reading 

Amending Town Code Special Exception 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 97 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-06 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
USES AND APPROVALS; AMENDING THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE 
GROVES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (ULDC), TO AMEND 
SECTION 10-015, ENTITLED “DEFINITIONS” TO DEFINE “TEMPORARY 
EVENT,”; TO AMEND SECTION 20-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(AGRICULTURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT), TO REMOVE THE SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION REQUIREMENT FOR COMMERCIAL EQUESTRIAN 
OPERATIONS, ADD RODEO EVENTS AS A PRINCIPAL USE WITH SPECIAL 
EXCEPTION AND TEMPORARY EVENTS AS AN ACCESSORY USE WITH 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION APPROVAL, AND TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF 
SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING 
CATEGORY; TO AMEND SECTION 25-015, ENTITLED “PERMITTED USES” 
(COMMERCIAL LOW AND COMMERCIAL LOW OFFICE DISTRICTS), TO 
SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION NECESSARY FOR 
CERTAIN PRINCIPAL USES; TO AMEND SECTION 30-015, ENTITLED 
“PERMITTED USES” (INSTITUTIONAL AND PUBLIC FACILITIES 
DISTRICT) TO SPECIFY THE CATEGORY OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
NECESSARY FOR CERTAIN USES IN THE ZONING CATEGORY; TO 
AMEND SECTION 115-01, ENTITLED “TABLE OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
REQUIREMENTS” TO PROVIDE NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE 
DIFFERENT CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS; TO AMEND  
ARTICLE 170, ENTITLED “SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES” TO DEFINE THE 
CATEGORIES FOR SPECIAL EXCEPTION REVIEW, AND TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS, REVIEW PROCEDURES AND 
RELATED MATTERS FOR THE CATEGORIES OF SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
REVIEW; TO AMEND ARTICLE 120, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL 
HEARINGS,” SECTION 120-015, ENTITLED “QUASI-JUDICIAL MATTERS” 
TO SPECIFY THE SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS THAT ARE CONSIDERED QUASI-
JUDICIAL MATTERS; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; AND, PROVIDING FOR 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
WHEREAS,   due to its potentially time consuming and costly approval process,  the 

Town Council has directed staff and the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) Review 

Committee to prepare amendments to Article 170, entitled “Special  Exception Uses” of the 

ULDC that will result in a more “user friendly” process for Town residents; and 

WHEREAS, in response to the Town Council directive, the Town’s staff has prepared 

proposed amendments to the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) and,  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 98 of 271 



 
 

 

 
WHEREAS, the Town’s ULDC Review Committee considered the proposed ULDC 

amendments at its June 20, 2013, meeting and recommended that the Town Council approve the 

amendments to the ULDC proposed by staff subject to revisions which have been incorporated in 

Attachment A  hereto; and,  

WHEREAS, the Town’s Planning and Zoning Board considered the proposed ULDC 

amendments at its September 12, 2013, meeting and pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, Florida 

Statutes, recommended that the Town Council approve the amendments to the ULDC as worded 

in Attachment A  hereto; and,  

WHEREAS, the Town Council of Town of Loxahatchee Groves finds that the  adoption 

of this Ordinance, to revise ULDC provisions related to Special Exception Uses is consistent 

with the Town’s Comprehensive Plan, and in the best health and welfare interests of the Town, 

its property owners and residents. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 
  

Section 1:  That the foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and confirmed as 

being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this Ordinance.   

Section 2:  That the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee Groves, hereby amends 

the Town’s Unified Land Development Code (ULDC), by amending Section 10-015, entitled 

“Definitions” to define “Temporary Event,”; amending Section 20-015, entitled “Permitted 

Uses” (Agricultural residential District), to eliminate the special exception requirement for 

commercial equestrian operations, add Rodeo Events as a Principal Use with special exception 

approval and Temporary Events as an Accessory Use with special exception approval, and to 

specify the category of special exception necessary for certain uses in the zoning category; 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 99 of 271 



 
 

 

amending Section 25-015, entitled “Permitted Uses” (Commercial Low And Commercial Low 

Office Districts), to specify the category of special exception necessary for certain Principal 

Uses; amending Section 30-015, entitled “Permitted Uses” (Institutional And Public Facilities 

District) to specify the category of special exception necessary for certain uses in the zoning 

category; amending Section 115-01, entitled “Table Of Public Notice Requirements” to provide 

notice requirements for the different categories of Special Exceptions; amending Article 170, 

entitled “Special Exception Uses” to define the categories for special exception review, and to 

provide for the application requirements, review procedures and related matters for the 

categories of special exception review, and amending Section 120-015, entitled “Quasi-Judicial 

Matters” to specify the special exceptions that are considered Quasi-Judicial Matters, as fully set 

forth in Attachment “A”, and incorporated herein by reference. 

Section 3:  Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or parts of 

Resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.   

Section 4:  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of 

this Ordinance is for any reason held by the Court to be unconstitutional, inoperative, or void, 

such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance. 

Section 5:  Codification.  The Town Clerk shall cause this ordinance to be codified as a 

part of the ULDC. 

Section 6:  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 5th DAY OF 
NOVEMBER, 2013. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 100 of 271 



 
 

 

3rd DAY OF DECEMBER, 2013.         
            
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  
       FLORIDA 
 
ATTEST:      ____________________________________ 
       Mayor David Browning  
        
_____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
TOWN CLERK     Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   
    
       ____________________________________ 
       Council Member Tom Goltzené 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:   
       ____________________________________
       Council Member Ryan Liang 
_________________________________   
Office of the Town Attorney    ____________________________________ 
       Council Member Jim Rockett 
 

 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\ORD 2013\2013-06 Special Exception(2).doc 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 101 of 271 



 
 

 

ATTACHMENT A – Ordinance 2013-06 
  

Special Exception Amendments  
 

 (Ref: Following Page) 
 

 Amendments to the following ULDC Sections:               
 

1. Article 170. Special Exception Uses 
 

2. Section 10-015.  Definitions    
 

3. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
 

4. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office District). 
 

5. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
 

6. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 
 

7. Section 120-015.  Quasi-judicial matters. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 102 of 271 



 
 

 

Article 170.  SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES 
 
Section 170-005. – Purposes. 
 

Special exception uses may be compatible with the other land uses permitted in 
a zoning district but, because of their unique characteristics and potential impacts 
on the surrounding neighborhood and the Town as a whole, require individual 
review of their location, design, configuration, and/or operation in order to ensure 
that the use is appropriate at a particular location.  

 
Section 170-010. - Applicability. 
 

This Article specifies the application requirements, processing and disposition of 
applications for special exception uses as set forth in the schedule of district 
regulations, and categorized as follows: 

 
(A) Category A – Complete Special Exception Review per  Sections 170-

015,  170-020, and 170-025   of this code.  
 

(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review per Sections 170-
015, 170-020,  and 170-025 of this code.   

 
(C) Category C – Temporary Event Administrative Review. An Outdoor 

Event may qualify for a Category C  special exception approval as a 
Temporary Event provided that applicants shall certify, by written 
affidavit on a form provided by the Town,  that none of the following 
activities or facilities will occur on-site for a period exceeding twenty-
four (24) consecutive hours: 

 
(1) Signage advertising the event. 

 
(2) Temporary buildings, tents or similar structures erected for the 

event. 
 

(3) Electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections to be used during 
the event.  

 
(4) Portable sanitary facilities imported for use during the event.  

 
(5) Parking for event participants. 

 
A Category C temporary event holder shall further certify that trash and 
garbage shall be policed and removed daily. 

 
An outdoor event that cannot certify to the above shall be processed 
as a Category B special exception.  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 103 of 271 



 
 

 

 
(D) Private temporary events held for family and friends of the property 

owner, on the property owner’s property, that occur for a period not to 
exceed twenty-four (24) hours shall not be required to obtain special 
exception approval under this article.  

 
Section 170-015. - Supplemental application requirements. 
 

In addition to the general application requirements, the applicant shall provide the 
following materials:  

 
(A) The existing and proposed use of the property 

 
(B) For Category A special exceptions, The the existing use, zoning and 

land use designations of lands within fifteen hundred feet (1,500) of 
the subject property. For Category B special exceptions, the existing 
use, zoning and land use designations of lands abutting the subject 
property. 

 
(C) A For Category A special exceptions, a site plan meeting the 

requirements of Article 155, “Site Plans.”  For Category B special 
exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter from the Town Manager 
stating that all applicable provisions of the code are satisfied. The 
Category B zoning confirmation letter shall include a property/building 
layout with dimensions provided by the applicant.  For Category C 
special exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter from the Town 
Manager stating that the proposed event is granted a Category C 
special exception. In order to be granted a Category C special 
exception an affidavit shall be provided by the applicant certifying that 
the conditions of Section 170-010(C) shall be complied with. 

 
(D) Any other information as may be required for a determination of the 

nature of the proposed use and its consistency with the criteria for the 
approval of a special exception use., including the category of review 
for such application.  

 
Section 170-020. - Special exception use procedures. 
 

(A) Public notice shall be made in accordance with Article 115, "Public 
Hearing Notices." 

 
(B) All Category A special exception uses and their related accessory 

uses including enlargement or modification of an existing special 
exception use require the authorization of the Town Council.  The 
paragraphs will automatically re-letter once  B is deleted. Category B 
special exception uses and their related accessory uses including 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 104 of 271 



 
 

 

enlargement or modification of an existing special exception use 
require the authorization of  the Town Manager and notification to the 
Town Council. Category C special exception uses require the 
authorization of  the Town Manager. 

 
(C) Category A Special special exception uses are matters that are quasi-

judicial in nature as defined by Section 120-020:  “Ex parte 
communications on quasi-judicial proceedings prohibited”.  All matters 
that are defined as quasi-judicial in nature shall utilize the quasi-
judicial hearing procedures set forth therein.  The petitioner shall bear 
the burden of providing competent substantial evidence that the 
special exception use should be granted. 

 
Section 170-025. - Special exception use review standards; Town Council 
action. 
 

(A) The Town Council shall review the application Category A special 
exception applications to determine whether the special exception use 
complies with the following standards. The Town Manager shall review 
Category B applications to determine whether the special exception 
use complies with the following standards:  

 
(1) That the use will not cause a detrimental impact to the value of 

existing contiguous uses, uses in the general area, and to the 
zoning district where it is to be located.  

 
(2) That the use will be compatible with the existing uses on 

contiguous property, with uses in the general area and zoning 
district where the use is to be located and compatible with the 
general character of the area, considering population density, 
design, scale and orientation of structures to the area, property 
values and existing similar uses or zoning.  

 
(3) That adequate landscaping and screening are provided to buffer 

adjacent uses from potential incompatibilities.  
 

(4) That adequate parking and loading is provided, and ingress and 
egress is so designed as to cause minimum interference with traffic 
on abutting streets.  

 
(5) That the use will not have a detrimental environmental impact upon 

contiguous properties and upon properties located in the general 
area or an environmental impact inconsistent with the health, safety 
and welfare of the community.  

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 105 of 271 



 
 

 

(6) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on vehicular, 
pedestrian or equestrian traffic, or parking conditions, and will not 
result in the generation or creation of traffic inconsistent with the 
health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(7) That the use will not utilize turning movements in relation to its 

access to public roads or intersections, or its location in relation to 
other structures or proposed structures on or near the site that 
would be hazardous or a nuisance.  

 
(8) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on the future 

development of contiguous properties or the general area, 
according to the Comprehensive Plan.  

 
(9) That the use will not result in the creation of incompatible noise, 

lights, vibrations, fumes, odors, dust or physical activities, taking 
into account existing uses, uses located on contiguous properties, 
uses in the general area and the zoning in the vicinity due to its 
nature, duration, direction or character.  

 
(10) That the use will not overburden existing public services and 

facilities. 
 

(B) The Town Council may deny the  a Category A  special exception 
application, approve it, or approve it with conditions. In issuing its 
decision to grant a Category A  special exception, the Town Council  
may place more restrictive requirements and conditions on applicants  
than are provided in the code when the conditions are based upon      
site considerations and its use, and the potentially resulting impacts  
upon the surrounding area or zoning district where the subject  
property is located.  

 
(C) The Town Manager may deny a Category B application, approve it, or 

approve it with conditions.  In addition, the Town Manager, based upon 
his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards 
listed in Section 170-025(A,) may determine that a potential Category 
B Special Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A 
Special Exception, in which case it will be processed as a Category A 
Special Exception. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 106 of 271 



 
 

 

(D) The Town Manager may deny a Category C application, approve it, or 
approve it with conditions, based upon a determination of compliance 
with Section 170-010(C) (1) - (5).  The Town Manager, based upon his 
determination of non-compliance with Section 170-010(C) (1) - (5)  
may determine that a potential Category C Special Exception is most 
appropriately processed as a Category B Special Exception, in which 
case it will be processed as a Category B Special Exception. 

 
(E) Denials of Category B and C Special Exceptions may be appealed to 

the Town Council.  An applicant shall file a written request for appeal 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of the written denial by the Town 
Manager.  

 
Section 170-030. - Modification of special exceptions.        
                                                
If the applicant wishes to amend a special exception use proposal, the proposed 
amendment shall be processed and reviewed in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in this article for new special exception uses.  
 
Section 170-035. - Expiration of special exceptions. 
 

(A) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A special exception, and 
the Town Manager, in the case of a Category B or Category C special 
exception, may prescribe a reasonable time limit within which the 
action for which the special exception is required shall be begun or 
completed or both; provided, that in the absence of such time limit, a 
special exception approval shall expire unless:  

 
(1)  The applicant submits all development permit applications 
       and construction drawings (if applicable) that are necessary   
       to establish the special exception use within 12 months of  
       Town Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  
       applicable; and  

 
(2)   The applicant obtains all necessary development permits  

  (including payment of all fees) within 18 months of Town    
  Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  
   applicable; and  

 
(3)    The development permits remain valid until the project is 

complete; and 
 

(4)    The conditions and limitations of the special exception are  
satisfied. 

 
(B) It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to ensure that a 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 107 of 271 



 
 

 

special exception approval does not expire.  
 

(C) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A  special exception, and 
the Town Manager, in the case of a Category B special exception, may 
grant an extension if the applicant submits the extension request within 
13 months of the date of Town Council or Town Manager approval and 
the applicant can demonstrate good cause for the delay. Good cause 
may include, but shall not be limited to, delay caused by governmental 
action or inaction or other factors beyond the control of the applicant.  

 
Section 170-040. - Effect of approval or denial. 
 

(A) The use for which a special exception has been granted by the Town 
Council or Town Manager shall not be commenced by the owner, his 
or her agent or lessee until such time as the decision is deemed to be 
final (i.e., all appeal times have expired) and all of the improvements 
and/or documentation stipulated in the grant of special exception 
necessary for the orderly use of the property have been accomplished.  

 
(B) Approval of a special exception use shall run with the use once 

established (i.e., not expired or revoked) unless otherwise stipulated 
as a condition of approval.  

 
(C) Upon denial of an application for a special exception use, there shall 

be a two  one year waiting period before any applicant may submit an 
application for the same or substantially similar application and for the 
same property as that which was initially denied.  

 
(D) Whenever the Town Council has taken action to approve a   

special exception use, the commission shall not consider any 
application to modify the conditions of approval for a period of 12 
months from the date of such action, unless the commission waives 
the time period in order to prevent injustice.  

 
Section 10-015. Definitions. 

 
(A) Any term not defined in this section shall have the meaning given by 

the most recent edition of Webster's Unabridged Dictionary. 
 

Temporary event.  An Outdoor Event not  to exceed a period of three 
(3) consecutive days, such as a fund raising, sporting, holiday,  
religious, fraternal or civic event  where none of the following activities 
or facilities will occur or exist on-site for a period exceeding twenty-four 
(24) consecutive hours:  (1) Signage; (2) buildings, tents or similar 
structures; (3) electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections; and/or 
(3) portable sanitary facilities.  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 108 of 271 



 
 

 

Section 20-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning districts may be used for the 
following specified uses. 
 

Principal  Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 
Single Family Dwelling Permitted  
Mobile Home Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
Public Schools Permitted 
Congregate Living Facility, Type I Permitted 
Non-Profit Community Recreational Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Essential Services Permitted 
Commercial Equestrian Operations Permitted w/Special Exception 
Wholesale Nursery Permitted 
Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Aviculture Permitted subject to Article 80 
Commercial Kennels Not Permitted 
Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 
Feed Lots Not Permitted 
Commercial Animal Manure Management Not Permitted 
Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 
Rescued Animal Care Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
 
Outdoor Events 

Permitted w/Special Exception subject to Article 
80 and to a Special Exception Category A   

Agriculture Permitted 
Bona Fide Agriculture Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Rodeo Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 
Accessory Dwelling Permitted  
Groom’s Quarter Permitted 
Caretaker’s Quarter Permitted 
Home Offices Permitted subject to Article 80 
Residential Enterprise Permitted subject to Article 80 
Wholesale Nursery Permitted 
Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
U-Pick Farms Permitted w/Special Exception Category B  
Private Kennels Permitted  
Private Stables Permitted  
Yard Sales Permitted subject to Article 80 
Veterinarian Services Permitted 
Dog Boarding Permitted 
Temporary Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category C 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 109 of 271 



 
 

 

Section 25-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office zoning districts may 
be used for one or more the following uses. 
 

Principal  Uses Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)
Adult Entertainment Permitted subject to Article 20 Not Permitted 
Arcade, Video Permitted Not Permitted 
Automobile Repair Garage Permitted Not Permitted 
Bank or Financial Institution Permitted Permitted 
Bar, Lounge, Tavern or Pub Permitted Not Permitted 
Barber Shop, Beauty or Nail Salon Permitted Not Permitted 
Pool Hall Permitted Not Permitted 
Car Wash, Self-Service or 
Automated 

Permitted Not Permitted 

Catering or Food Service Delivery Permitted Not Permitted
Child Care Center Permitted Not Permitted
Commercial Animal Manure 
Management 

Not Permitted Not Permitted 

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted 
Convenience Store Permitted Not Permitted 
Dance/Night Club Permitted Not Permitted 
Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception 

Category A 
Not Permitted 

Delicatessen Permitted Not Permitted 
Theater or Auditorium Permitted Not Permitted 
Dry Cleaning or Laundry Service Permitted Not Permitted 
Employment Agency Not Permitted Not Permitted 
Essential Services and Utilities Permitted Permitted 
Exhibition of Wildlife Pets Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted
Gasoline Station Permitted Not Permitted
Shooting Range, Indoor Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted
Hotel Permitted Not Permitted
Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted subject to Article 80 Permitted subject to Article 80 
Laboratory (e.g., medical, dental, 
research) 

Permitted Permitted 

Offices (e.g. business, professional, 
medical) 

Permitted Permitted 

Package Liquor, Beer or Wine Store Permitted Not Permitted 
 
Outdoor Events 

Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Permitted subject to Article 80 
and to a Special Exception 
Category B 

Retail Plant or Produce Sales Permitted Not Permitted 
Restaurant, Fast Food Permitted Not Permitted 
Restaurant, Full Service Permitted Permitted 
Restaurant, Take Out Permitted Permitted 
Retail Services Permitted Not Permitted 
Retail Store Permitted Not Permitted 
Commercial Recreation (e.g. batting 
cages, rink) 

Permitted Not Permitted 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 110 of 271 



 
 

 

Principal  Uses (continued) Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)
Veterinary Clinic or Hospital Permitted Not Permitted 
Warehouse, Self Storage Permitted Not Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted Permitted 
Adult Day Care Permitted Permitted 
Schools, Public or Private Permitted Not Permitted 
Gym or Fitness Center Permitted Permitted 
 
Section 30-015. Permitted uses. 
 
Plots located in the Institutional and Public Facilities zoning district may be used for one 
or more the following uses. 

Principal  Uses Institutional and Public Facilities  
Cemetery Not Permitted 
Congregate Living Facility Permitted 
Churches, Place of Worship Permitted 
Day Care, Preschool Permitted 
Essential Services Permitted 
Government Facilities and Services Permitted 
Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted Subject to Article 80 
Outdoor Events Conditional Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 

a Special Exception Category B 
Private Service Club or Lodge Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 
Public Parks and Outdoor Events Permitted 
School, Public and Private Permitted 
Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Institutional and Public Facilities 
Cemetery Not Permitted 
Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 
Child Care, Preschool, Adult Day Care Permitted 
Swimming Pool Permitted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 111 of 271 



Section 115-010:  Table of public notice requirements 
Application 
Type 

Required Public 
Hearings 

Timing of Notice 
(number of days 
prior to public 
hearing that notice 
must be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice Format 

Mail Notice Radius Sign Posting 
Required 

Other Notice 

Administrative 
Appeal 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Applicant Only No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Variance Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception A 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception B 

Not Required Not Required Not Required Abutting Properties Not Required Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception C 

Not Required Not Required Not Required Abutting Properties Not Required Not Required 

Site Plan Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Plat Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
property owner 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for fewer 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council  30 days Standard Ad All owners of property 
proposed for rezoning 
shall be notified 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 112 of 271 



 
 
Application 
Type 

Required Public 
Hearings 

Timing of Notice 
(number of days 
prior to public 
hearing that notice 
must be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice Format 

Mail Notice Radius Sign Posting 
Required 

Other Notice 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for more 
than 10 
contiguous acres 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Amendments to 
the Unified Land 
Development 
Code (ULDC) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days No Not Required  Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
Land use map 
amendment 
(small scale per 
Section 
163.3187(1)(c) 
F.S.) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town Hall Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town Hall Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Land use plan 
amendment (not 
small scale) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 113 of 271 



 
 

 

 
Section 120-015: Quasi-judicial matters 
For purposes of this Article, the following matters, regardless of whether the final 
determination is made by the Town Council or a board, shall be considered to be quasi-
judicial: 
 

(A) Site Plans 
(B) Plats 
(C) Conditional use approvals 
(D) Category A Special Exceptions, and appeals of denials of Category B and 

C Special Exceptions by the Town Manager 
(E) Variances 
(F) Administrative appeals 
(G) Site-specific rezonings 
(H) Any other matters the Town Attorney determines are subject to quasi-

judicial hearing. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 114 of 271 



Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 
840 N.E. Stokes Terrace                                                                                                               William F. Underwood, II 
Jensen Beach, Florida 34957                                                                                                                                           Managing Partner 
Telephone: 772.233.1511                                                                                                                                           Email: umsg@att.net                    

 

 

TO:  Town Council through Mark Kutney, Town Manager  

FROM: Jim Fleischmann, Town Planning Consultant 

RE: Proposed ULDC text amendments; Article 170 – Special Exception Uses. 

DATE: September 13, 2013. 

_________________ ______________________________________________________________ 

I.  BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

Per Section 05-070, the Town Council may amend the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) for the 
purposes of public necessity, convenience, general welfare, or good planning and zoning practice.  Any 
amendment to the ULDC requires a super majority of the Council. 

Due to its potentially time consuming and costly approval process, the Town Council has requested staff 
and the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) Review Committee to prepare corrective amendments 
to Article 170. Special Exception Uses of the ULDC that will result in a more “user friendly” process.  

II. GENERAL INFORMATION 

A.  APPLICANT:  Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  

B.  PURPOSE:  Staff, in conjunction with the ULDC Review Committee, has prepared the 
following land development code amendments in order to address Town Council’s direction to create a 
more “user friendly” special exception process:  

1.  Creation of special exception use categories based upon the degree of potential impacts 
upon neighboring properties, including traffic generation, environmental concerns, hours of 
operation, compatibility, etc.     
 

2.  Simplification of the application and approval process, particularly for those special exception 
uses with minimal potential impacts. 

 
3. Revision of public notice requirements in order to reduce special exception costs. 

 

 

 

 

-1- 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 115 of 271 



 

Page | 2 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

III. REQUESTED ULDC TEXT AMENDMENTS 

Staff proposes revisions to Article 170. Special Exception Uses of the ULDC. In order to insure 
consistency throughout the ULDC, staff proposes to incorporate revisions to the following additional code 
sections: 

1. Section 10-015.  Definitions. 
2. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
3. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office District). 
4. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
5. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 

 
Copies of the proposed ULDC amendments are included in Attachment A. 

IV. STAFF ANALYSIS 

The proposed text amendments will allow special exception uses with potentially minimal impacts to be 
processed in an expedited, cost-efficient manner, while insuring that uses with greater potential impacts 
continue to receive a thorough review by the Town. 

A. REASON AND/OR  NEED FOR THE PROPOSED TEXT CHANGE:   
 

The basic purpose of the proposed text amendments is to streamline the special exception application 
and approval process for uses that do not require a complete review under the Town’s current process.  
However, safeguards remain in place to require a  thorough review should site-specific circumstances 
dictate.  

B. REASON THE PRESENT TEXT IS INVALID OR INAPPROPRIATE: 

The current text of the ULDC is not necessarily invalid or inappropriate; however, current code 
requirements can impose a serious and potentially unnecessary financial burden upon property owners, 
in terms of application, processing and advertising costs.   Proposed amendments will relieve an 
applicant of this burden, if it is demonstrated that a more relaxed approval process is warranted.  

C. HOW DOES THE PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT FURTHER THE PURPOSES OF THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OR OTHER TOWN CODES, REGULATIONS OR PLANS 
DESIGNED TO IMPLEMENT THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

The proposed text amendments are revisions to six sections of the ULDC oriented to streamlining the 
special exception approval process in circumstances where such action is warranted.  The following 
general Future Land Use Element Comprehensive Plan directives are supportive of the proposed 
amendments: 

1. Policies 1.1.4(b) and (j)  direct the Town to adopt land development regulations to assure 
that development is compatible with adjacent land uses, provide for open spaces, and 
buffer residential from non-residential uses.  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 116 of 271 



 

Page | 3 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

2. Policy1.1.5 requires the Town, when reviewing development permit applications, to 
consider compatibility with adjacent uses and zoning districts. 

 
3. Policy 1.1.8.5 directs the Town to maintain specific regulations that restrict the types on 

non-residential and nonagricultural uses allowed and promote the rural character through 
design. 

 
4. Policy1.1.9 directs the Town to define accessory uses and to minimize the potential 

adverse impacts upon neighboring properties. 
 

D. IS THERE AN ERROR OR AMBIGUITY TO BE CORECTED: There is no error or ambiguity in 
the ULDC to be corrected by the proposed amendment.  Rather, the amendment will streamline the 
current process for special exception approval for projects with minimal impacts.  

V. ULDC COMMITTEE ACTION: 

The ULDC Review Committee reviewed the proposed text amendments at its meeting on June 20, 2013. 
The following motions were made and passed unanimously by the Committee: 

1.  Approve Article 170. Special Exception Uses, subject to the following changes: 
 
a.  Indicate that private and/or personal events are Category B special exceptions or 

exempt from the process. 
 

b. Private events less than 24 hours in duration are exempt from the process. 
 

c. In Section 170-015(C) clarify that the “layout” drawing is to be prepared by the 
applicant and the zoning confirmation letter is to be prepared by staff. 

 
d. Section 170-020(B) – last line:  “… notification of Town Council” should be changed to 

“. . . notification to Town Council.” 
 

e. Section 170-040(C) change two year waiting period to one year waiting period. 
 

2. Approval of Section 115-010. Table of Public Notice Requirements, as presented by staff 
and subject to any other changes that may need to be made by the Town’s Attorney. 

 

3. Approve the proposed special exception category assignments proposed by staff (Ref: 
Table 1), with the exception that commercial equestrian operations are not required to 
obtain special exception approval.  Rather, commercial exception operations are to be 
listed in the AR District as permitted principal uses. 

 

4. The issue of whether or not mobile homes should be special exception, conditional, or 
permitted principal uses is delayed until the AR District is reviewed by the Committee. 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 117 of 271 



 

Page | 4 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

VI. PLANNING AND ZONING (P & Z) BOARD ACTION:  The P & Z Board, at its September 12, 2013 
meeting, recommended approval of the proposed Special Exception ULDC amendments by a 5 – 0 vote, 
subject to the following three conditions:  

1.  Rodeo events be added to Section 20-015. Permitted uses. as a principal use 
permitted subject to Special Exception A approval. 
 

2. Section 10-015 Definitions.  The proposed definition of Temporary Event  be 
expanded to read “  . . . activities or facilities will occur or exist on-site . . . “. 

 

3. Section 170-010(B) be revised to read: 
 

(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review.  The Town Manager, based upon 
his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards listed in 
Section 170-025(A), may further determine that a potential Category B Special 
Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A Special Exception.  

 

VII. STAFF FINDINGS: Planning staff finds the text amendments proposed by staff, as amended by the 
ULDC Review Committee and Planning and Zoning Board, to be consistent with: (1) The directive of the 
Town Council; (2) The intent and direction of the Loxahatchee Groves Comprehensive Plan; and (3) 
appropriate review criteria for a zoning change listed in Section 160-020 of the ULDC.   
 

VIII. STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends approval of the proposed ULDC text 
amendments, as presented in Attachment A: 

. 

IX. TOWN COUNCIL ACTION:    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 118 of 271 



 

Page | 5 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

TABLE 1 

Recommended Special Exception Categories by Zoning District 

 

Zoning District Special Exception Use Special Exception 

Agricultural Residential 

(ULDC Section 20-015) 

Non-Profit Community Recreational 
Facility (Principal Use) 

Category A 

Commercial Equestrian Operations   
(Principal Use) 

Category A 

Retail Nursery (Principal Use) Category A 

Wireless Communication Facilities 
Principal Use) 

Category A 

Rescued Animal Care (Principal Use) Category A 

Retail Nursery (Accessory Use) Category B 

Mobile Home (Principal Use) Category B 

U-Pick Farms (Accessory Use) Category B 

Outdoor Events (Principal Use) 

Temporary Events (Accessory Use)           

Category B 

Category C 

Commercial Low 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Day Labor Hiring Center (Permitted Use) Category A 

Outdoor Events (Subject to Section 80-
025) 

Category B 

Commercial Low Office 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Outdoor Events (Subject to Section 80-
025) 

Category B 

Institutional and Public 
Facilities 

(ULDC Section 25-015) 

Private Service Club or Lodge 
(Permitted Use) 

Category A 

Wireless Communication Facilities 
(Permitted Use) 

Category A 

Day Labor Hiring Center 

(Accessory Use) 

Category B 

Parks and Recreation NA NA 

Conservation NA NA 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 119 of 271 



 

Page | 6 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

 

Proposed ULDC Text Amendments (Ref: Following Pages) 

 

(Underlined text is to be added and struck through text is to be deleted): 

 

1. Article 170. Special Exception Uses 
 

2. Section 10-015.  Definitions    
 

3. Section 20-015. Permitted uses (Agricultural Residential District). 
 

4. Section 25-015. Permitted uses (Commercial Low and Commercial Low 
Office District). 

 

5. Section 30-015. Permitted uses (Institutional and Public Facilities District). 
 

6. Section 115-01. Table of public notice requirements. 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 120 of 271 



 

Page | 7 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Article 170.  SPECIAL EXCEPTION USES 

 

Section 170-005. – Purposes. 

Special exception uses may be compatible with the other land uses permitted in a zoning district 
but, because of their unique characteristics and potential impacts on the surrounding neighborhood 
and the Town as a whole, require individual review of their location, design, configuration, and/or 
operation in order to ensure that the use is appropriate at a particular location.  

Section 170-010. - Applicability. 

This Article specifies the procedure processing and disposition of applications for special 
exception uses as set forth in the schedule of district regulations. ,and categorized as follows: 

(A) Category A – Full Review.  
 
(B) Category B – Modified Special Exception Review.  The Town Manager, based upon 

his initial determination of potential non-compliance with the standards listed in 
Section 170-025(A, may further determine that a potential Category B Special 
Exception is most appropriately processed as a Category A Special Exception.  

 
(C) Category C – Temporary Events Review. An outdoor event may qualify for Category C 

special exception approval as a temporary event provided that applicants shall certify 
that none of the following activities or facilities will occur on-site for a period exceeding 
twenty-four (24) consecutive hours.  An outdoor event that cannot certify to the above 
shall be processed as a Category B special exception:   

 
(1) Signage advertising the event. 
 
(2) Temporary buildings, tents or similar structures erected for the event. 

 
(3) Electrical, plumbing or similar utility connections to be used during the event.  

 
(4) Portable sanitary facilities imported for use during the event.  

 
(5)  Parking for event participants. 

A Category C temporary event holder shall further certify that trash and garbage shall 
be policed and removed daily. 

(D) Private temporary events held for family and friends of the property owner that occur 
for a period not to exceed twenty-four (24) hours shall not be required to obtain 
special exception approval under this article.  

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 121 of 271 



 

Page | 8 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-015. - Supplemental application requirements. 

In addition to the general application requirements, the applicant shall provide the following 
materials:  

(A) The existing and proposed use of the property 
 
(B) For Category A special exceptions, The the existing use, zoning and land use 

designations of lands within fifteen hundred feet (1,500) of the subject property. For 
Category B special exceptions, the existing use, zoning and land use designations of 
lands abutting the subject property. 

 
(C) A For Category A special exceptions, a site plan meeting the requirements of Article 

155, “Site Plans.”  For Category B special exceptions, a zoning confirmation letter 
from the Town Manager stating that all applicable provisions of the code are satisfied. 
The Category B zoning confirmation letter shall include a property/building layout with 
dimensions provided by the applicant.  For Category C special exceptions, a zoning 
confirmation letter from the Town Manager stating that the proposed event is granted 
a Category C special exception. In order to be granted a Category C special 
exception an affidavit shall be provided by the applicant certifying that the conditions 
of Section 170-010(C) shall be complied with. 

 
(D) Any other information as may be required for a determination of the nature of the 

proposed use and its consistency with the criteria for the approval of a special 
exception use.  

 
Section 170-020. - Special exception use procedures. 

(A) Public notice shall be made in accordance with Article 115, "Public Hearing Notices." 
 

(B) All Category A special exception uses and their related accessory uses including 
enlargement or modification of an existing special exception use require the 
authorization of the Town Council.  The paragraphs will automatically re-letter once B 
is deleted. Category B special exception uses and their   related accessory uses 
including enlargement or modification of   an existing special exception use require 
the authorization of  the Town Manager and notification to the Town Council.  
Category C special exception uses require the authorization of   the Town Manager. 

 
(C) Category A Special special exception uses are matters that are quasi-judicial in 

nature as defined by Section 120-020:  “Ex parte communications on quasi-judicial 
proceedings prohibited”.  All matters that are defined as quasi-judicial in nature shall 
utilize the quasi-judicial hearing procedures set forth therein.  The petitioner shall 
bear the burden of providing competent substantial evidence that the special 
exception use should be granted. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 122 of 271 



 

Page | 9 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-025. - Special exception use review standards; Town Council action. 

(A) The Town Council shall review the application Category A special exception 
applications to determine whether the special exception use complies with the 
following standards. The Town Manager shall review Category B applications to 
determine whether the special exception use complies with the following standards:  

 
(1) That the use will not cause a detrimental impact to the value of existing contiguous 

uses, uses in the general area, and to the zoning district where it is to be located.  
 
(2) That the use will be compatible with the existing uses on contiguous property, with 

uses in the general area and zoning district where the use is to be located and 
compatible with the general character of the area, considering population density, 
design, scale and orientation of structures to the area, property values and existing 
similar uses or zoning.  

 
(3) That adequate landscaping and screening are provided to buffer adjacent uses 

from potential incompatibilities. 
 

(4) That adequate parking and loading is provided, and ingress and egress is so 
designed as to cause minimum interference with traffic on abutting streets.  

 
(5) That the use will not have a detrimental environmental impact upon contiguous 

properties and upon properties located in the general area or an environmental 
impact inconsistent with the health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(6) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on vehicular, pedestrian or 

equestrian traffic, or parking conditions, and will not result in the generation or 
creation of traffic inconsistent with the health, safety and welfare of the community.  

 
(7) That the use will not utilize turning movements in relation to its access to public 

roads or intersections, or its location in relation to other structures or proposed 
structures on or near the site that would be hazardous or a nuisance.  

 
(8) That the use will not have a detrimental effect on the future development of 

contiguous properties or the general area, according to the Comprehensive Plan.  
 

(9) That the use will not result in the creation of incompatible noise, lights, vibrations, 
fumes, odors, dust or physical activities, taking into account existing uses, uses 
located on contiguous properties, uses in the general area and the zoning in the 
vicinity due to its nature, duration, direction or character.  

 
(10) That the use will not overburden existing public services and facilities. 

 
(B) The Town Council may deny the  a Category A special exception application, approve 

it, or approve it with conditions. In issuing its decision to grant a Category A  special 
exception, the Town Council may place more restrictive requirements and conditions 
on applicants than are provided in the code when the conditions are based upon site 
considerations and its use, and the potentially resulting impacts upon the surrounding 
area or zoning district where the subject property is located. The Town Manager may 
deny a Category B application, approve it, or approve it with conditions. 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 123 of 271 



 

Page | 10 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 170-030. - Modification of special exceptions.        

                                                

If the applicant wishes to amend a special exception use proposal, the proposed amendment shall 
be processed and reviewed in accordance with the procedures set forth in this article for new special 
exception uses.  

Section 170-035. - Expiration of special exceptions. 

(A) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A special exception, and the Town 
Manager, in the case of a Category B or Category C special exception, may prescribe 
a reasonable time limit within which the action for which the special exception is 
required shall be begun or completed or both; provided, that in the absence of such 
time limit, a special exception approval shall expire unless:  

 
(1)  The applicant submits all development permit applicationsand construction  

 drawings (if applicable) that are necessary  to establish the special exception use    
 within 12 months of Town Council approval, or Town Manager approval, as  

       applicable; and  

(2)   The applicant obtains all necessary development permits (including payment of 
all fees) within 18 months of Town   Council approval, or Town Manager  
approval, as applicable; and  
 

(3)    The development permits remain valid until the project is complete; and 
 

(4)    The conditions and limitations of the special exception are  
satisfied. 

(B) It shall be the responsibility of the property owner to ensure that a special exception 
approval does not expire.  

 
(C) The Town Council, in the case of a Category A  special exception, and the Town 

Manager, in the case of a Category B special exception, may grant an extension if the 
applicant submits the extension request within 13 months of the date of Town Council 
or Town Manager approval and the applicant can demonstrate good cause for the 
delay. Good cause may include, but shall not be limited to, delay caused by 
governmental action or inaction or other factors beyond the control of the applicant.  

 
Section 170-040. - Effect of approval or denial. 

(A) The use for which a special exception has been granted by the Town Council or Town 
Manager shall not be commenced by the owner, his or her agent or lessee until such 
time as the decision is deemed to be final (i.e., all appeal times have expired) and all 
of the improvements and/or documentation stipulated in the grant of special exception 
necessary for the orderly use of the property have been accomplished.  

 
(B) Approval of a special exception use shall run with the use once established (i.e., not 

expired or revoked) unless otherwise stipulated as a condition of approval.  
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 124 of 271 



 

Page | 11 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

(C) Upon denial of an application for a special exception use, there shall be a two  one 
year waiting period before any applicant may submit an application for the same or 
substantially similar application and for the same property as that which was initially 
denied.  

 
(D) Whenever the Town Council has taken action to approve a   

special exception use, the commission shall not consider any application to modify the 
conditions of approval for a period of 12 months from the date of such action, unless 
the commission waives the time period in order to prevent injustice.  

Section 10-015. Definitions. 

(A) Any term not defined in this section shall have the meaning given by the most recent 
edition of Webster's Unabridged Dictionary. 

 
Temporary event.  An outdoor event, such as a fund raising, sporting, holiday,  
religious, fraternal or civic event  where none of the following activities or facilities will 
occur or exist on-site for a period exceeding twenty-four (24) consecutive hours:  (1) 
Signage; (2) buildings, tents or similar structures; (3) electrical, plumbing or similar 
utility connections; and/or (3) portable sanitary facilities.  

Section 20-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Agricultural Residential (AR) zoning districts may be used for the following specified 
uses. 

Principal  Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 

Single Family Dwelling Permitted  

Mobile Home Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Public Schools Permitted 

Congregate Living Facility, Type I Permitted 

Non-Profit Community Recreational Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Essential Services Permitted 

Commercial Equestrian Operations Permitted w/Special Exception 

Wholesale Nursery Permitted 

Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Aviculture Permitted subject to Article 80 

Commercial Kennels Not Permitted 

Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 125 of 271 



 

Page | 12 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Feed Lots Not Permitted 

Commercial Animal Manure Management Not Permitted 

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 

Rescued Animal Care Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Outdoor Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Agriculture Permitted 

Bona Fide Agriculture Permitted 

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Rodeo Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Agricultural Residential (AR) 

Accessory Dwelling Permitted  

Groom’s Quarter Permitted 

Caretaker’s Quarter Permitted 

Home Offices Permitted subject to Article 80 

Residential Enterprise Permitted subject to Article 80 

Wholesale Nursery Permitted 

Retail Nursery Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

U-Pick Farms Permitted w/Special Exception Category B  

Private Kennels Permitted  

Private Stables Permitted  

Yard Sales Permitted subject to Article 80 

Veterinarian Services Permitted 

Dog Boarding Permitted 

Temporary Events Permitted w/Special Exception Category C 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 126 of 271 



 

Page | 13 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 25-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Commercial Low and Commercial Low Office zoning districts may be used for one or 
more the following uses. 

Principal  Uses Commercial Low (CL) Commercial Low Office (CLO)

Adult Entertainment Permitted subject to Article 20 Not Permitted 

Arcade, Video Permitted Not Permitted

Automobile Repair Garage Permitted Not Permitted

Bank or Financial Institution Permitted Permitted 

Bar, Lounge, Tavern or Pub Permitted Not Permitted

Barber Shop, Beauty or Nail Salon Permitted Not Permitted

Pool Hall Permitted Not Permitted

Car Wash, Self-Service or 
Automated 

Permitted Not Permitted

Catering or Food Service Delivery Permitted Not Permitted

Child Care Center Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Animal Manure 
Management 

Not Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Chipping and Mulching Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

Convenience Store Permitted Not Permitted

Dance/Night Club Permitted Not Permitted

Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception 
Category A 

Not Permitted

Delicatessen Permitted Not Permitted

Theater or Auditorium Permitted Not Permitted

Dry Cleaning or Laundry Service Permitted Not Permitted

Employment Agency Not Permitted Not Permitted

Essential Services and Utilities Permitted Permitted 

Exhibition of Wildlife Pets Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

Gasoline Station Permitted Not Permitted

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 127 of 271 



 

Page | 14 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Shooting Range, Indoor Permitted subject to Article 80 Not Permitted

Hotel Permitted Not Permitted

Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted subject to Article 80 Permitted subject to Article 80 

Laboratory (e.g., medical, dental, 
research) 

Permitted Permitted 

Offices (e.g. business, professional, 
medical) 

Permitted Permitted 

Package Liquor, Beer or Wine Store Permitted Not Permitted 

Outdoor Events Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Permitted subject to Article 80 
and to a Special Exception 
Category B 

Retail Plant or Produce Sales Permitted Not Permitted

Restaurant, Fast Food Permitted Not Permitted

Restaurant, Full Service Permitted Permitted 

Restaurant, Take Out Permitted Permitted 

Retail Services Permitted Not Permitted

Retail Store Permitted Not Permitted

Commercial Recreation (e.g. batting 
cages, rink) 

Permitted Not Permitted

Veterinary Clinic or Hospital Permitted Not Permitted

Warehouse, Self Storage Permitted Not Permitted

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted Permitted 

Adult Day Care Permitted Permitted 

Schools, Public or Private Permitted Not Permitted 

Gym or Fitness Center Permitted Permitted 

 

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 128 of 271 



 

Page | 15 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 30-015. Permitted uses. 

Plots located in the Institutional and Public Facilities zoning district may be used for one or more the 
following uses. 

Principal  Uses Institutional and Public Facilities  

Cemetery Not Permitted 

Congregate Living Facility Permitted 

Churches, Place of Worship Permitted 

Day Care, Preschool Permitted 

Essential Services Permitted 

Government Facilities and Services Permitted 

Holiday Wayside Stand Permitted Subject to Article 80 

Outdoor Events Conditional Permitted subject to Article 80 and to 
a Special Exception Category B 

Private Service Club or Lodge Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

Public Parks and Outdoor Events Permitted 

School, Public and Private Permitted 

Wireless Communication Facilities Permitted w/Special Exception Category A 

 

Accessory Uses Institutional and Public Facilities 

Cemetery Not Permitted 

Day Labor Hiring Center Permitted w/Special Exception Category B 

Child Care, Preschool, Adult Day Care Permitted 

Swimming Pool Permitted 

 

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 129 of 271 



Section 115-010:  Table of public notice requirements 
Application 
Type 

Required Public 
Hearings 

Timing of Notice 
(number of days 
prior to public 
hearing that notice 
must be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice Format 

Mail Notice Radius Sign Posting 
Required 

Other Notice 

Administrative 
Appeal 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Applicant Only No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Variance Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception A 

Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception B 

Not Required Not Required Not Required Abutting Properties Not Required Posting at 
Town Hall 

Special 
Exception C 

Not Required Not Required Not Required Abutting Properties Not Required Not Required 

Site Plan Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Plat Town Council 10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
property owner 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

10 days Not Required Not Required Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

10 days Standard Ad Within 1,000 feet Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for fewer 
than 10 
contiguous 
acres 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council  30 days Standard Ad All owners of property 
proposed for rezoning 
shall be notified 

No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 130 of 271 



 
 
Application 
Type 

Required Public 
Hearings 

Timing of Notice 
(number of days 
prior to public 
hearing that notice 
must be given) 

Newspaper 
Notice Format 

Mail Notice Radius Sign Posting 
Required 

Other Notice 

Rezoning 
initiated by the 
City for more 
than 10 
contiguous acres 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days Not Required Not Required No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Amendments to 
the Unified Land 
Development 
Code (ULDC) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

10 days No Not Required  Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 No Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
Land use map 
amendment 
(small scale per 
Section 
163.3187(1)(c) 
F.S.) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town Hall Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

10 days Yes Posting at Town Hall Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Land use plan 
amendment (not 
small scale) 

Local Planning 
Agency 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council (first 
reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

Town Council 
(second reading) 

See Sec. 166.041(3)9(c)2 Yes Posting at 
Town Hall 

 
 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 131 of 271 



 

Page | 18 

Underwood Management Services Group, LLC 

 

Section 120-015: Quasi-judicial matters 

For purposes of this Article, the following matters, regardless of whether the final determination is made 
by the Town Council or a board, shall be considered to be quasi-judicial: 

 

(A) Site Plans 
(B) Plats 
(C) Conditional use approvals 
(D) Category A Special Exceptions, and appeals of denials of Category B and C Special 

Exceptions by the Town Manager 
(E) Variances 
(F) Administrative appeals 
(G) Site-specific rezonings 
(H) Any other matters the Town Attorney determines are subject to quasi-judicial hearing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 132 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 7 c. 

Ordinance No. 2013‐07   2nd Reading 

Operating Golf Carts 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 133 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07 
 

Page 1 of 5 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 1 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, RELATING TO THE 2 
OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS WITHIN THE 3 
TOWN; PROVIDING FOR LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS; AUTHORIZING 4 
THE OPERATION OF GOLF CARTS ON PUBLIC ROADS OVER 5 
WHICH THE TOWN HAS TRAFFIC CONTROL JURISDICTION 6 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 316.212, FLORIDA STATUTES; 7 
CONFIRMING THAT GOLF CARTS MAY NOT BE OPERATED ON OR 8 
ACROSS THE CERTAIN PORTIONS OF FOLSOM ROAD, 9 
OKEECHOBEE BOULEVARD AND SOUTHERN BOULEVARD THAT 10 
LIE WITHIN THE TOWN; PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF GOLF 11 
CARTS BY UNLICENSED DRIVERS; LIMITING THE NUMBER OF 12 
RIDERS ON GOLF CARTS; PROVIDING FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF 13 
THIS ORDINANCE; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS; PROVIDING FOR 14 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 15 
 16 
WHEREAS, Section 316.212, Florida Statutes, permits the operation of golf carts only 17 

on public roads designated by the Town for the use of golf carts; and, 18 

WHEREAS, the Town Council has considered the operation of golf carts on public roads 19 

within the Town, and finds that such can be safely done given the speed, volume and character of 20 

motor vehicle traffic within the Town; and,  21 

WHEREAS, as permitted by Section 316.212, Florida Statutes, the Town Council finds 22 

it in the best interests of the Town, its residents and users of public roads within the Town, that 23 

unlicensed persons be prohibited from operating golf carts upon the public roads within the 24 

Town; and,  25 

WHEREAS, the Town Council determines that the adoption of this Ordinance is in the 26 

interests of the health, safety and welfare of the residents and citizens of the Town of 27 

Loxahatchee Groves.  28 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 29 
OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA: 30 
 31 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 134 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07 
 

Page 2 of 5 

Section 1:  Recitals. The foregoing recitals are hereby ratified as true and correct and 1 

incorporated herein. 2 

 3 
Section 2:  Legislative Findings.  In accordance with Section 316.212, Florida Statutes, 4 

the Town Council hereby finds that golf carts may be safely operated on public roads within the 5 

Town over which the Town has traffic control jurisdiction, based upon the following: 6 

a. The speed limit on all public roads within the Town over which the Town has traffic 7 

control jurisdiction is thirty (30) miles per hour;  8 

b. The public roads over which the Town has traffic control jurisdiction is already 9 

traveled upon by agricultural vehicles, bicycle traffic, and pedestrians, and such has 10 

historically been done in a safe manner; and,  11 

c. The state law regulations as to the required standards and equipment for golf cart 12 

operation render the golf carts more safe than most of the agricultural vehicles 13 

already using the Town’s public roads.  14 

Section 3:  Authority to Operate Golf Carts on Town Roads. Pursuant to Section 15 

316.212, Florida Statutes, and except as otherwise provided herein, the Town Council hereby 16 

authorizes the operation of golf carts on all public roads within the Town over which the Town 17 

has traffic control jurisdiction, as listed on the Town Road List attached hereto as Exhibit “A.” 18 

Section 4: Prohibiting the Operation of Golf Carts by Unlicensed Drivers.19 

 Pursuant to the authority set forth in Section 316.212(8), Florida Statutes, the operation of 20 

golf carts by unlicensed drivers within the Town is prohibited.  21 

Section 5: Confirming the prohibition of Golf Carts on certain roads.  The 22 

operation of golf carts on or across any portions of Folsom Road, Okeechobee Boulevard and 23 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 135 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07 
 

Page 3 of 5 

Southern Boulevard, or on Okeechobee Boulevard within the Town’s jurisdiction is not 1 

authorized by this ordinance, and therefore shall remain prohibited as provided by Section 2 

316.212, Florida Statutes.  Golf carts are permitted to cross Okeechobee Boulevard only at 3 

intersections within the Town.  4 

Section 6: Number of Riders. The number of riders on a golf cart shall be limited 5 

to the number of available seats on a golf cart.   6 

Section 7: Implementation.    Town Management is hereby directed and 7 

authorized to take all steps necessary to implement this ordinance, including without limitation 8 

the posting of required signage.  Such signage shall contain language indicating that the 9 

operation of golf carts by unlicensed drivers within the Town is prohibited.     10 

Section 87. Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or parts of 11 

Resolutions in conflict herewith, be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of such 12 

conflict.   13 

Section 98:  Severability.  If any section, paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or word of 14 

this Ordinance is for any reason held by the Court to be unconstitutional, inoperative, or void, 15 

such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Ordinance. 16 

Section 109:  Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon 17 

adoption. 18 

 19 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 20 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, FLORIDA, ON FIRST READING, THIS 1st DAY OF 21 
OCTOBER, 2013. 22 
 23 
 24 
 25 

 26 
 27 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 136 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07 
 

Page 4 of 5 

 1 
 2 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN 3 
LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, ON SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING, THIS 4 
3rd DAY OF DECEMBER, 2013.        5 
 6 
              7 
       TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES,  8 
       FLORIDA 9 
 10 
ATTEST:      ____________________________________ 11 
       Mayor David Browning  12 
        13 
_________________________________  ____________________________________ 14 
TOWN CLERK     Vice Mayor Ron Jarriel   15 
    16 
       ____________________________________ 17 
       Council Member Tom Goltzené 18 
APPROVED AS TO LEGAL FORM:   19 
       ____________________________________20 
       Council Member Ryan Liang 21 
_________________________________   22 
Office of the Town Attorney    ____________________________________ 23 
       Council Member Jim Rockett 24 
 25 
 26 
 27 
 28 
 29 
 30 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\ORD 2013\2013-  (golf carts) 2d rdg.doc 31 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 137 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATACHEE GROVES 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2013-07 
 

Page 5 of 5 

 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
Town Road List  

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 138 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

A Road 3.218
B Road 3.600
C Road 3.606
D Road 3.613
E Road 3.626
F Road 2.626
Folsum Road 0.487
Upper North Road 1.958
Lower North Road 1.482
G Road East 0.718
G Road West 0.718
Collecting Canal Road 3.169
10TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK B 0.081

11TH LANE NORTH BLOCK F 0.351

11TH TERRACE BLOCK C 0.244

12TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK E 0.197

131ST TERRACE NORTH BLOCK F 0.147

13TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK F   (FOLSOM) 0.282

13TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK F   (F ROAD) 0.166

140TH STREET NORTH CUT-THRU / SUNSPORT 0.100

147TH AVENUE NORTH BLOCK C 0.126

147TH DRIVE NORTH BLOCK C 0.115

148TH TERRACE NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.339

14TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK E 0.257

152ND WAY NORTH BLOCK B 0.068

160TH STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.394

161ST TERRACE NORTH T: 43S / R: 40E 2.014

17TH ROAD NORTH BLOCK B 0.076

21ST ROAD NORTH BLOCK C 0.126

22ND COURT NORTH BLOCK F 0.292

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK C   (C ROAD) 0.248

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK E   (E ROAD) 0.156

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK F   (F ROAD) 0.210

23RD COURT NORTH BLOCK E 0.189

24TH CIRCLE NORTH BLOCK C 0.177

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK C   (C ROAD) 0.282

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK D   (E ROAD) 0.194

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK E   (WEST F) 0.250

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK F   (EAST F) 0.406

25TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.136

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 139 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

27TH LANE NORTH BLOCK C 0.135

30TH COURT NORTH BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.141

30TH COURT NORTH BLOCK D   (D ROAD) 0.132

34TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK C 0.135

35TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK D 0.127

41ST ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.068

42ND ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.153

42ND STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E (OFF 160TH) 0.234

43RD ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E   (GLOBAL) 0.194

44TH STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E (OFF 160TH) 0.235

8TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK C 0.319

APRIL DRIVE BLOCK C 0.164

BIDDIX ROAD BLOCK D 0.191

BRYAN ROAD BLOCK F 0.749

BUNNY LANE BLOCK C 0.244

CANAL MAINTENANCE RD T: 43S / R: 41E (40TH ST N) 1.462

(WILSON) CASEY ROAD BLOCK F 0.748

CITRUS DRIVE BLOCK K 0.243

COMPTON ROAD BLOCK F 0.748

EAST CITRUS DRIVE BLOCK K 0.501

EDITH ROAD BLOCK E 0.197

FARLEY ROAD BLOCK E 0.197

FERRIS LANE BLOCK A 0.194

FLAMINGO DRIVE BLOCK C 0.186

FOREST LANE BLOCK B 0.188

FORTNER DRIVE BLOCK B   (B ROAD) 0.126

FORTNER DRIVE BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.135

FOX TRAIL BLOCK E 0.204

GLOBAL TRAIL T: 43S / R: 41E 0.519

GREAT DANE LANE BLOCK F 0.130

GRUBER LANE BLOCK C 0.489

HYDE PARK ROAD BLOCK E 0.518

IAN TRAIL T: 43S / R: 41E 0.384

JEWEL LANE BLOCK B 0.103

KAZEE ROAD BLOCK G 0.432

KERRY LANE BLOCK E 0.260

LOS ANGELES DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

LOXAHATCHEE AVENUE BLOCK K 0.180

MARCELLA BOULEVARD BLOCK F 0.749

MARCH CIRCLE BLOCK F 0.174

MORROW COURT BLOCK B 0.180

ORANGE AVENUE BLOCK K 0.075

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 140 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

PARADISE TRAIL BLOCK C 0.186

PERKINS DRIVE BLOCK F 0.336

QUAIL ROAD BLOCK F 0.135

RACKLEY ROAD BLOCK F 0.146

RAYMOND DRIVE BLOCK F 0.337

ROBERTS WAY BLOCK B 0.229

SAN DIEGO DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

SCOTTS PLACE BLOCK B 0.213

SHAMROCK DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

SIXTH COURT NORTH BLOCK I  (WEST D) 0.177

SIXTH COURT NORTH BLOCK K (EAST D) 1.733

SNAIL TRAIL BLOCK C 0.244

TANGERINE DRIVE BLOCK K 0.510

TEMPLE DRIVE BLOCK I 0.100

TIMBERLANE PLACE BLOCK B 0.219

TRIPP ROAD BLOCK D 0.242

VALENCIA DRIVE BLOCK K 0.136

WEST "B" ROAD BLOCK A 0.340

WEST "C" ROAD BLOCK B 0.623

WEST "D" ROAD BLOCK I   (SOUTH C.C.) 0.314

WEST 'D' ROAD BLOCK C   (NORTH C.C.) 0.388

WEST 'F' ROAD BLOCK E 0.198

WILLIAMS DRIVE BLOCK B 0.193

MONTHLY MILEAGE = 56.718

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 141 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

 

INTER-OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 

  

MEMORANDUM NO. 2013-23 

 

 

TO: Mayor David Browning 

 Members of the Town Council 

 Mark Kutney, Town Manager  

 Susan Eichhorn, Town Clerk 

 

FROM: Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney MDC 

 

RE: Town of Loxahatchee Groves (“Town”) / Golf Cart and Other Vehicle Operation 

on Town Roads  

 

DATE: August 6, 2013 

 

 

At its July 16, 2013, meeting, the Town Council requested legal review on the legality of 

operating golf carts, UTVs and similar vehicles on Town Roads.  This Memorandum is intended 

to provide guidance on these issues. 

 

Initially, Chapter 316, Fla. Stat., is known as the “Florida Uniform Traffic Control Law.”  

Section 316.007, Florida Statutes, provides in pertinent part: “The provisions of this chapter shall 

be applicable and uniform throughout this state and in all political subdivisions and 

municipalities therein, and no local authority shall enact or enforce any ordinance on a matter 

covered by this chapter unless expressly authorized.”  §316.007, Fla. Stat.  Another statute, 

§316.008, Fla. Stat., lists the areas in which local jurisdictions have authority over the regulation 

of roads and streets.  The legality of operating golf carts and similar vehicles on local roads is not 

listed in §316.008, so the regulation of those vehicles is guided by other statutes and the Town is 

not authorized to deviate from such. 

Golf Carts    

The operation of golf carts on local roads is governed by §316.212, Fla. Stat.  Subsection (1) of 

this statute provides: 

 

A golf cart may be operated only upon a county road that has been designated by 

a county, or a municipal street that has been designated by a municipality, for use 

by golf carts. Prior to making such a designation, the responsible local 

governmental entity must first determine that golf carts may safely travel on or 

cross the public road or street, considering factors including the speed, volume, 

and character of motor vehicle traffic using the road or street. Upon a 

determination that golf carts may be safely operated on a designated road or 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 142 of 271 



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 2 

___________________________   
 
 

street, the responsible governmental entity shall post appropriate signs to indicate 

that such operation is allowed. 

§316.212, Fla. Stat. Ann. 

 

Thus, in order for golf carts to be legally operated on public roads within the Town, the Town 

Council would need to designate the public roads within the Town on which they may be 

operated.  However, prior to making the designation, the Town Council would need to make a 

determination that “golf carts may safely travel on or cross the public road or street, considering 

factors including the speed, volume, and character of motor vehicle traffic using the road or 

street.”  Subsequent to the designation, the Town would need to erect signage to indicate that the 

operation of golf carts is permitted on the designated roads. 

 

The following steps are recommended should the Town Council wish to permit golf carts to be 

operated on public roads within the Town: 

 

1. Identify the roadways which the Town Council would like reviewed in order for the 

Town Council to make the statutorily required determination that golf carts may safely 

travel on such road. 

2. Direct staff to review the roadways to confirm that golf carts can be safely operated on 

such roads. 

3. Upon receipt of the completed review of the identified roadways, adopt an ordinance to 

designate the roadways upon which golf carts may be operated; and,  

4. Install signage on such roadways to provide notice that golf carts may be operated on 

such roadways. 

 

Note that the statute provides the following regulations upon the operation of golf carts on public 

roads designated for such: 

 

 The golf cart may only be operated on the public roads between sunrise and sunset.  If the 

Town Council wants to permit operation between sunset and sunrise, the Town can 

provide for such in the ordinance identifying the roadways, but the golf carts must be 

equipped with headlights, brake lights, turn signals and a windshield in order to be 

operated during those hours. §316.212(5), Fla. Stat. 

 

 Golf carts operating at any time on public roadways must be equipped with “efficient 

brakes, reliable steering apparatus, safe tires, a rearview mirror, and red reflectorized 

warning devices in both the front and rear.”  §316.212(6), Fla. Stat. 

 

 The minimum age to operate a golf cart on public roads is 14 years old.  §316.212(7), 

Fla. Stat. 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 143 of 271 



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 3 

___________________________   
 
 
The Town Council can place more restrictions on the operation of golf carts on public roads 

within the Town by ordinance.  If it did so, signage must advise of the additional restrictions. 

§316.212(8), Fla. Stat.  The Town Council cannot waive or reduce restrictions imposed by State 

law. 

 

Low-Speed Vehicles and Mini-Trucks 

 

Florida Statutes defines a “low-speed vehicle” as “any four-wheeled vehicle whose top speed is 

greater than 20 miles per hour but not greater than 25 miles per hour, including, but not limited 

to, neighborhood electric vehicles.” §320.01(41), Fla. Stat. 

Florida Statutes defines “mini truck” as “any four-wheeled, reduced-dimension truck that does 

not have a National Highway Traffic Safety Administration truck classification, with a top speed 

of 55 miles per hour, and which is equipped with headlamps, stop lamps, turn signal lamps, 

taillamps, reflex reflectors, parking brakes, rearview mirrors, windshields, and seat belts.”   

§320.01(44), Fla. Stat. 

The operation of low speed vehicles and mini-trucks is governed by §316.2122, Fla. Stat.  These 

vehicles are permitted to operate on public roads within the Town, unless the Town Council 

determines that such should be prohibited “in the interest of safety.” §316.2122(5), Fla. Stat.  

However, the statute does provide restrictions on such operation: 

 They can be operated only on roads with a posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour or 

less. 

 

 They must be equipped with headlights, stop lamps, turn signal lamps, taillamps, reflex 

reflectors, parking brakes, rearview mirrors, windshields, seat belts and vehicle 

identification numbers.   

 

 The vehicles must be registered with the state 

 

 The person operating the vehicle must have their driver license in their possession. 

All-terrain vehicles 

Florida Statutes defines All-terrain vehicle as “any motorized off-highway vehicle 50 inches or 

less in width, having a dry weight of 1,200 pounds or less, designed to travel on three or more 

nonhighway tires, having a seat designed to be straddled by the operator and handlebars for 

steering control, and intended for use by a single operator with no passenger.  For the purposes 

of this section, ‘all-terrain vehicle’ also includes any ‘two-rider ATV’ as defined in s. 317.0003.”  

§316.2074, Fla. Stat.  A “two-rider ATV” is defined as “any ATV that is specifically designed by 

the manufacturer for a single operator and one passenger.” §317.0003(10), Fla. Stat. Ann. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 144 of 271 



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 4 

___________________________   
 
 
§316.2074(5), Fla. Stat. prohibits the operation of all-terrain vehicles on public roads “except as 

otherwise permitted by the managing state or federal agency.”  The operation of all-terrain 

vehicles on public roads is preempted to the state.  Attorney General Opinion 2004-39 (July 14, 

2004).
1
   

Utility Vehicles 

Florida Statutes defines a “utility vehicle” as “a motor vehicle designed and manufactured for 

general maintenance, security, and landscaping purposes, but the term does not include any 

vehicle designed or used primarily for the transportation of persons or property on a street or 

highway, or a golf cart, or an all-terrain vehicle as defined in s. 316.2074.”  §320.01, Fla. Stat. 

Florida Statutes permits municipalities to operate utility vehicles on roads within the 

municipality, but solely by municipal employees and for a municipal purpose.  §316.2126(1), 

Fla. Stat.  There is no provision for the operation of utility vehicles on public roads by the 

general public.  As with all-terrain vehicles, the Town Council could take no action to permit 

such on public roads since the subject matter is preempted by state law.     

Swamp buggies 

 

Florida Statutes defines “swamp buggy” as “a motorized off-road vehicle that is designed or 

modified to travel over swampy or varied terrain and that may use large tires or tracks operated 

from an elevated platform. The term does not include any vehicle defined in chapter 261 or 

otherwise defined or classified in this chapter.”  §320.01(45), Fla. Stat.  

The operation of swamp buggies on public roads is governed by §316.2129, Fla. Stat.  In order 

for swamp buggies to be permitted on Town Roads, the Town Council would need to designate 

the roads on which they may be safely operated.  Thereafter, the Town would need to post 

appropriate signage on such roads. 

 

Conclusion 

 

Low-speed vehicles and mini-trucks are permitted on Town Roads without the need for any 

Town Council action.  However, the operation of these vehicles must be consistent with 

§316.2122, Florida Statutes. 

 

Golf carts and swamp buggies are not permitted to be operated on Town Roads unless the Town 

Council takes action to designate the public roads on which they may be operated, and then posts 

appropriate signage.  In both cases, the Town Council must determine that these types of 

vehicles may be operated safely on the designated roads.  Florida Statutes also provides 

                                                           
1
  Note that Florida Statutes permits law enforcement agencies to use all-terrain vehicles, golf carts, low-

speed vehicles, and utility vehicles on public roads for law enforcement purposes.  §316.21265, Fla. Stat.   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 145 of 271 



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-23 

August 6, 2013 

Page 5 

___________________________   
 
 
restrictions on the operation of golf carts on public roads.  §316.212, Fla. Stat.  The Town may 

place additional restrictions (but not waive or eliminate those in the statutes) by ordinance. 

 

All-terrain vehicles and utility vehicles are prohibited by state law from being operated on public 

roads, except by law enforcement or, for utility vehicles, by a municipality for municipal 

purposes.  The state has preempted this matter, so the Town Council cannot take any action to 

permit all-terrain vehicles or utility vehicles to be operated on Town Roads.   

 

Upon your review, please advise of any questions or concerns.   

 

MDC:clb 

Enclosure  

 
 

H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\MEMOS 2013\2013-23 (golf cart and other vehicles-Town Rds).docx 

 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 146 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

A Road 3.218
B Road 3.600
C Road 3.606
D Road 3.613
E Road 3.626
F Road 2.626
Folsum Road 0.487
Upper North Road 1.958
Lower North Road 1.482
G Road East 0.718
G Road West 0.718
Collecting Canal Road 3.169
10TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK B 0.081

11TH LANE NORTH BLOCK F 0.351

11TH TERRACE BLOCK C 0.244

12TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK E 0.197

131ST TERRACE NORTH BLOCK F 0.147

13TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK F   (FOLSOM) 0.282

13TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK F   (F ROAD) 0.166

140TH STREET NORTH CUT-THRU / SUNSPORT 0.100

147TH AVENUE NORTH BLOCK C 0.126

147TH DRIVE NORTH BLOCK C 0.115

148TH TERRACE NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.339

14TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK E 0.257

152ND WAY NORTH BLOCK B 0.068

160TH STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.394

161ST TERRACE NORTH T: 43S / R: 40E 2.014

17TH ROAD NORTH BLOCK B 0.076

21ST ROAD NORTH BLOCK C 0.126

22ND COURT NORTH BLOCK F 0.292

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK C   (C ROAD) 0.248

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK E   (E ROAD) 0.156

22ND ROAD NORTH BLOCK F   (F ROAD) 0.210

23RD COURT NORTH BLOCK E 0.189

24TH CIRCLE NORTH BLOCK C 0.177

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK C   (C ROAD) 0.282

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK D   (E ROAD) 0.194

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK E   (WEST F) 0.250

24TH COURT NORTH BLOCK F   (EAST F) 0.406

25TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.136

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 147 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

27TH LANE NORTH BLOCK C 0.135

30TH COURT NORTH BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.141

30TH COURT NORTH BLOCK D   (D ROAD) 0.132

34TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK C 0.135

35TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK D 0.127

41ST ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.068

42ND ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E 0.153

42ND STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E (OFF 160TH) 0.234

43RD ROAD NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E   (GLOBAL) 0.194

44TH STREET NORTH T: 43S / R: 41E (OFF 160TH) 0.235

8TH PLACE NORTH BLOCK C 0.319

APRIL DRIVE BLOCK C 0.164

BIDDIX ROAD BLOCK D 0.191

BRYAN ROAD BLOCK F 0.749

BUNNY LANE BLOCK C 0.244

CANAL MAINTENANCE RD T: 43S / R: 41E (40TH ST N) 1.462

(WILSON) CASEY ROAD BLOCK F 0.748

CITRUS DRIVE BLOCK K 0.243

COMPTON ROAD BLOCK F 0.748

EAST CITRUS DRIVE BLOCK K 0.501

EDITH ROAD BLOCK E 0.197

FARLEY ROAD BLOCK E 0.197

FERRIS LANE BLOCK A 0.194

FLAMINGO DRIVE BLOCK C 0.186

FOREST LANE BLOCK B 0.188

FORTNER DRIVE BLOCK B   (B ROAD) 0.126

FORTNER DRIVE BLOCK B   (C ROAD) 0.135

FOX TRAIL BLOCK E 0.204

GLOBAL TRAIL T: 43S / R: 41E 0.519

GREAT DANE LANE BLOCK F 0.130

GRUBER LANE BLOCK C 0.489

HYDE PARK ROAD BLOCK E 0.518

IAN TRAIL T: 43S / R: 41E 0.384

JEWEL LANE BLOCK B 0.103

KAZEE ROAD BLOCK G 0.432

KERRY LANE BLOCK E 0.260

LOS ANGELES DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

LOXAHATCHEE AVENUE BLOCK K 0.180

MARCELLA BOULEVARD BLOCK F 0.749

MARCH CIRCLE BLOCK F 0.174

MORROW COURT BLOCK B 0.180

ORANGE AVENUE BLOCK K 0.075

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 148 of 271 



LOXAHATCHEE GROVES WATER CONTROL DISTRICT
TOWN ROAD MAINTENANCE LOG

APRIL 2013

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

PARADISE TRAIL BLOCK C 0.186

PERKINS DRIVE BLOCK F 0.336

QUAIL ROAD BLOCK F 0.135

RACKLEY ROAD BLOCK F 0.146

RAYMOND DRIVE BLOCK F 0.337

ROBERTS WAY BLOCK B 0.229

SAN DIEGO DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

SCOTTS PLACE BLOCK B 0.213

SHAMROCK DRIVE BLOCK B 0.244

SIXTH COURT NORTH BLOCK I  (WEST D) 0.177

SIXTH COURT NORTH BLOCK K (EAST D) 1.733

SNAIL TRAIL BLOCK C 0.244

TANGERINE DRIVE BLOCK K 0.510

TEMPLE DRIVE BLOCK I 0.100

TIMBERLANE PLACE BLOCK B 0.219

TRIPP ROAD BLOCK D 0.242

VALENCIA DRIVE BLOCK K 0.136

WEST "B" ROAD BLOCK A 0.340

WEST "C" ROAD BLOCK B 0.623

WEST "D" ROAD BLOCK I   (SOUTH C.C.) 0.314

WEST 'D' ROAD BLOCK C   (NORTH C.C.) 0.388

WEST 'F' ROAD BLOCK E 0.198

WILLIAMS DRIVE BLOCK B 0.193

MONTHLY MILEAGE = 56.718

TOWN ROAD NAME PLAT DESIGNATION MILEAGE

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 149 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 9 c. 

Resurfacing w North Florida Emulsions re Bryan, Compton and Marcella 

Roads 

   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 150 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 151 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 152 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 153 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 154 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 155 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 156 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 157 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 158 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 159 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 160 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 161 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 162 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 163 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 164 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 165 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 166 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 167 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 168 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 169 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 170 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 171 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 172 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 173 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 174 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 175 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 176 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 177 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 178 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 179 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 180 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 181 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 182 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 183 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 184 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 185 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 186 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 187 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 188 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 189 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 190 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 191 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 192 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 193 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 194 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 195 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 196 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 197 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 198 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 199 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 200 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 201 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 202 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 203 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 204 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 205 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 206 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 207 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 208 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 209 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 210 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 211 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 212 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 213 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 214 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 215 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 216 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 217 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 218 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 219 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 220 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 221 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 9 d. 

ULDC 

   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 222 of 271 



   TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

Revised November 26, 2013 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            October 31, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Town Management Company Work Authorizations 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
The Town Council has approved four (4) work authorizations with the Town Management 
Company. An amendment to address hay sales was approved on June 26, 2012; an amendment to 
the CIE Element and related elements to the Comprehensive Plan was approved on July 31, 
2012; an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan regarding policies and treatment for 
development along Okeechobee and Southern Boulevards was approved on August 21, 2012, 
and Staff support to the newly created Unified Land Development Committee was approved on 
November 20, 2012. The CIE Element amendment is scheduled for transmittal hearing to the 
State of Florida on November 5, 2013 and the historical legacy amendment the subsequent and 
evolving amendment relative to hay sales will be returning to Town Council at the December 3, 
2013, meeting. ULDC activities will be concluded after the Committee sunsets in December and 
the final report is issued to Town Council. The Comprehensive Plan amendments relative to 
Okeechobee/Southern will be coming to Town Council in early 2014.   
 
At the November 5, 2013 Town Council Meeting, Councilman Liang amended an original 
motion to authorize $1,000.00 for the CIE and $8,000.00 for the completion of moratorium 
amendments on Okeechobee/Southern Boulevards. The motion passed 4/0. Relative to the 
ULDC portion of the agenda, Town Council elected to bring this matter back for further 
discussion on the December 3, 2013 Meeting.  
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
At this point in time and due to changes of direction in all of the work authorizations, some fiscal 
adjustments must be made to these efforts. No financial adjustments are necessary to Work 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 223 of 271 



Authorization 12-01, Hay Sales, in spite of the fact that late in the project, the amendment was 
modified to change course and prepare as a historical legacy amendment.  Work Authorization 
12 -02 CIE will need an additional $1,000.00 dollars to complete the transmittal/adoption phase 
of the ordinance. The additional funds are necessary due to the P&Z Board (sitting as LPA) 
holding an extra meeting and Town Management Staff had to take the amendment to the 
Roadway Equestrian Trials and Greenways Committee (RETGAC) which requested the ability 
to review the document necessitating an extra meeting and staff time.  
 
Work Authorization 12-03 Okeechobee/Southern Moratorium Amendments to the 
Comprehensive Plan needs an infusion of $8,000 to finish the amendments. This will cover the 
necessary processing and modifications as a result of the additional workshop and change of 
directions related to Southern Boulevard and also to assess the effects and impacts that Minto 
West may have on planning efforts along Okeechobee. Finally, $5,370 is needed to complete the 
ULDC Committee activities which include three meetings, agenda and minutes’ preparation and 
the final report to Town Council of the Committee’s recommendations. The reason for additional 
funds is due to incorporating the Special Exceptions work item ($2,700 in charges) under this 
work task (previously unplanned for and set for Town Council review on November 5, 2013) and 
numerous discussions related to Agriculture that have consumed the Committee’s time and 
expanded a number of meetings. The requested funds are based upon hourly projections of the 
time needed to finish the tasks.  
 
Council discussion indicated possibly extending the existence of the ULDC  90 days to March 
14, 2013, and the thought was expressed that Town Council should discuss the final issues that 
they would want the Committee to address. If Council desires to extend the life of the committee 
three additional months, Town Management estimates the additional costs to be $4,585 for Staff 
to service the Committee. This increases the total request for this work authorization to $9,955 
($5,370 + $4,585).  
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

The total additional funding needed to finish the ULDC Portion is $9,955. 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

Work Authorizations 12-01- 12-04 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Town Management recommends Town Council approval of the additional $14,370 to complete 
the work authorizations. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 224 of 271 



Should the Town Council decide to extend the ULDC Committee for 3 additional months plus 
the month of December the total Cost is $9,955. If this option is selected, Town Management 
would recommend keeping the ULDC Committee on hiatus until January and extend the 
committee until April due to the holidays and inability to hold two meetings in December. If the 
Council chooses to extend the Committee for one additional month the expense is $ 5,370 as 
previously indicated above.  
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 225 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 10 a. 

Amendment to Keshavarz Contract 

   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 226 of 271 



Page 1 of 8 
 

AMENDMENT TO AGREEMENT FOR  
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES  

FOR THE TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

This AMENDMENT (“Amendment”) is made and entered into this ____ day of 
__________, 2013 (the “Effective Date”), by and between:   

 
TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, a municipal 
corporation existing under the laws of the state of Florida, 
hereafter referred to as “TOWN,” 
 

and 
 
KESHAVARZ & ASSOCIATES, INC., a Florida corporation, 
with an address of 711 North Dixie Highway, Suite 201, West 
Palm Beach, Florida 33401, hereafter referred to as “ENGINEER,” 
(with the TOWN and ENGINEER each referred to as a “Party” 
and collectively as the “Parties”). 

 
WITNESSETH: 

 
WHEREAS, the TOWN is a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, the powers of 

which are defined in the TOWN’s Charter and State law; and  
 
WHEREAS, the TOWN has a variety of operational and infrastructural needs which 

involve the assistance of licensed professionals; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the TOWN has already contracted with ENGINEER for a particular set of 
services, as described in the Agreement for Professional Engineering Services for the Town of 
Loxahatchee Groves (hereinafter “Agreement”), which is incorporated by reference hereto, and 
more specifically in Exhibit “C” to the Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the TOWN has identified certain instances which may require the 
engagement of ENGINEER for an additional set of services, to be defined herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement provides that the ENGINEER may provide additional 
services not included in Exhibit “C” of the Agreement to the TOWN upon the execution of a 
written Amendment to the Agreement, as provided in Section 10.8 of the Agreement. 
 

WHEREAS, TOWN has determined that ENGINEER has the experience, expertise, 
equipment, and materials to provide such additional services as described herein, and is capable 
of providing the necessary materials and manpower to address the aforementioned issues of the 
TOWN, subject to the agreement of the Parties on criteria for such services, and the TOWN’s 
agreement to pay for such services and supplies; and 

 
WHEREAS, ENGINEER has stated that it has staff currently employed and available 

and who are certified to perform such services; and 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 227 of 271 



Page 2 of 8 
 

 
WHEREAS, ENGINEER agrees to commit the necessary personnel to perform the 

services at the corresponding rates as may be reviewed; and 
 
WHEREAS, ENGINEER is willing to provide said services to the City pursuant to the 

terms and conditions set forth herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, the TOWN Council and the ENGINEER have determined that this 

Amendment is in the best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of the residents within the 
TOWN. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual terms, conditions, 

promises, covenants, and payments hereafter set forth, the TOWN and ENGINEER agree as 
follows: 
 
 ARTICLE 1 - RECITALS 
 
1.1 The foregoing recitations are true and correct and are hereby incorporated herein by 

reference.  All exhibits to this Agreement are hereby deemed a part hereof. 
 

ARTICLE 2 – ADDITIONAL PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 
 

2.1 In addition to the Professional Engineering Services described and outlined in the 
Agreement and more particularly in Exhibit “C” of the Agreement, the TOWN may engage 
ENGINEER for Traffic Engineering Services if the TRAFFIC ENGINEER, as defined in the 
Agreement for Professional Traffic Engineering Services for the Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
(hereinafter “Traffic Engineering Agreement”) is:  (a) participating in a project the TOWN 
opposes or is reviewing which presents a conflict of interest, or (b) if the TRAFFIC ENGINEER 
is engaged in any other activity which presents a conflict of interest as defined in Article 3 of the 
Traffic Engineering Agreement.  Under such conditions as outlined in this Article 2.1, the 
TOWN may engage ENGINEER to perform certain traffic engineering services, including but 
not limited to the duties in Exhibit “C” of the Traffic Engineering Agreement.  The duties listed 
in Exhibit “C” of the Traffic Engineering Agreement are attached hereto as Exhibit “A” to this 
Amendment. 
 
2.2 If the scope of services requested by TOWN to ENGINEER as defined in Article 2.1 of 
this Amendment requires ENGINEER to subcontract certain services to other vendors, 
ENGINEER is permitted to subcontract such services, provided the Town Manager or designee 
approves of the subcontractor, and provided that ENGINEER’s subcontractors are bound by all 
of the Engineering Agreement’s applicable provisions, including but not limited to Article 8 and 
Article 10.22 involving subcontractors. 
 
2.3 In addition to the Professional Engineering Services described and outlined in Exhibit 
“C” of the Agreement, the TOWN may engage ENGINEER for Surveying Services if the 
SURVEYOR, as defined in the Agreement for Professional Land Surveying Services for the 
Town of Loxahatchee Groves (hereinafter “Surveying Agreement”):  (a) is participating in a 
project the TOWN opposes or is reviewing which presents a conflict of interest, or (b) if the 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 228 of 271 



Page 3 of 8 
 

SURVEYOR is engaged in any other activity which presents a conflict of interest as defined in 
Article 3 of the Surveying Agreement, or (c) if the SURVEYOR is unable to complete services 
by the time or in the manner requested by the TOWN.  Under such conditions as noted in this 
Article 2.3, the TOWN may engage ENGINEER to perform certain professional surveying 
services, including but not limited to the duties in Exhibit “C” of the Surveying Agreement.  The 
duties listed in Exhibit “C” of the Surveying Agreement are attached hereto as Exhibit “B” to 
this Agreement. 
 
2.4 All additional services performed by ENGINEER in furtherance of this Amendment shall 
be subject to all of the provisions of the Agreement, and more specifically the method of 
issuance of all work by the TOWN to ENGINEER and payment for additional services by 
ENGINEER shall be governed by Article 5 of the Agreement. 
 
2.5 ENGINEER shall perform any requested Traffic Engineering Services and Surveying 
Services at the rates outlined in its Response to the RFQ, attached hereto as Exhibit “C” to this 
Amendment.  All subcontractors are bound by the same rates unless otherwise noted by a 
separate writing authorized by the Town Manager or designee. 
 

ARTICLE 3 – EFFECT OF AMENDMENT; CONFLICTS 
 
3.1 All terms and conditions of the Agreement not in conflict with this Amendment shall 
remain in full force and effect.  In the event of any conflict between this Amendment and the 
Agreement, the terms and conditions of this Amendment shall prevail. 
 

 
(REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 229 of 271 



Page 4 of 8 
 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have made and executed this Amendment 

between TOWN and ENGINEER on the respective dates under each signature: TOWN, signing 
by and through its _____________________, authorized to execute same by Council action on 
the ____ day of _____________, 2013 and the ENGINEER, signing by and through its 
_____________________, authorized to execute same on the ____ day of _____________, 
2013. 
 
   
 Executed by TOWN this ____________ day of _______________, 2013 
 

TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES, 
a Florida Municipal Corporation 

 
ATTEST: 

By _____________________________ 
 David Browning 

  Mayor 
____________________________ ___      

Janet K. Whipple, MMC 
Town Clerk       

 
    
[TOWN SEAL]     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 

By_____________________________ 
        Michael D. Cirullo, Jr. 

 Town Attorney 
 
 
Executed by ENGINEER this ____________ day of _______________, 2013 

 
 

KESHAVARZ & ASSOCIATES, INC.  
 

      BY: ________________________________ 
ATTEST:             
      As _____________________,       
            
 
(CORPORATE SEAL) 
 
STATE OF FLORIDA  ) 
     ) SS 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 230 of 271 



Page 5 of 8 
 

COUNTY OF PALM BEACH ) 
 
 BEFORE ME, an officer duly authorized by law to administer oaths and take 
acknowledgments, personally appeared ___________________________ of Keshavarz & 
Associates, Inc. who is personally known to me or has produced 
_________________________________ as identification, and acknowledged execution of the 
foregoing Amendment as the proper official of Keshavarz & Associates, Inc. of for the use and 
purposes mentioned in it and that the instrument is the act and deed of the Corporation. 

 
 IN WITNESS OF THE FOREGOING, I have set my hand and official seal at in the State 
and County aforesaid on this _______ day of __________________________, 2013. 
 
      _________________________________                                              
      NOTARY PUBLIC 

      
     My Commission Expires: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 231 of 271 



Page 6 of 8 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Scope of Traffic Engineering Services 

 
Provide general consultation, traffic engineering design, review and preparation of traffic studies, 
and other related traffic engineering services for the Town of Loxahatchee Groves.  The scope of 
the aforementioned services provided by TRAFFIC ENGINEER to TOWN may include, but are 
not limited to, the following: 

1) Arterial analysis; 
2) Traffic signal warrant analysis; 
3) Traffic signal design; 
4) Traffic calming studies and design; 
5) Intersection design, sidewalk, turn lanes, street light studies, and design;  
6) Ingress/egress; number, location and geometry; 
7) Access layout and geometric design; 
8) Number and layout of parking stall/aisles; 
9) Vehicular storage at ingress/egress locations; 
10) Loading Zones; 
11) Sight lines/visibility triangles; 
12) On/off street parking impacts; 
13) Pedestrian/vehicular conflicts; 
14) Attendance at any TOWN meetings involving such projects of TRAFFIC ENGINEER; 
15) Assistance with review of any development petitions and traffic impact studies to ensure 

compliance with local and state laws;  
16) Coordination with TOWN to resolve any issues involving interpretation and 

implementation of any traffic standards, if applicable;  
17) Providing specialized studies and written reports on traffic issues when warranted;  
18) Providing input relative to zoning amendments as they involve traffic and transportation 

planning; and 

Other tasks as needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 232 of 271 



Page 7 of 8 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 
Scope of Professional Surveying Services 

 
Provide land surveying, do layout work, produce “as-built” drawings, do public records research, 
prepare easements, and other related land surveying services for the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves.  The scope of the aforementioned services provided by SURVEYOR to TOWN may 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

1) Topographic surveys; 
2) Boundary surveys; 
3) As-built surveys; 
4) Construction layout; 
5) Control surveys; 
6) Hydrographic surveys; 
7) Land platting; 
8) Mean high water line surveys; 
9) Quantity surveys; 
10) Special purpose or miscellaneous surveys; and 
11) Any other such surveying services as may be warranted by TOWN. 

 
All surveying and/or any mapping work and services shall be performed by duly licensed Florida 
surveyors and mappers, as applicable and as required by law.  Staff members shall be licensed to 
the extent required by law and certified to conform to the level of tasks being performed by the 
individual. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 233 of 271 



Page 8 of 8 
 

 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
ENGINEER’s Rates as Set Forth in Response to RFQ 

 

 
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\AGMTS 2013\Engineering - General\Amendment to General Town Engineering Agreement.docx 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 234 of 271 



  TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 

OFFICE OF THE TOWN MANAGER 

AGENDA REPORT 

 
 
TO:                  Mayor and Town Council 
 
FROM:           Mark A. Kutney, Town Manager, AICP, ICMA-CM  
 
DATE:            November 26, 2013 
 
SUBJECT:     Amendment to the General Engineering Services Contract 
 
 
 
I.  BACKGROUND/HISTORY 
 
During 2013, the Town Management Staff prepared and issued RFQ No. 2013-001 for 
professional engineering services that included: General Town Engineering Services; Traffic 
Engineering Services and Land Surveying Services. After a long process that followed the 
“Consultants’ Competitive Negotiation Act” pursuant to Florida Statute 287.055, on July 16, 
2013, the Town Council approved Keshavarz & Associates, Inc., for General Engineering 
Services; Simmons and White, Inc., for Traffic Engineering Services; and A &B Engineering, 
Inc., for Land Surveying. At the time of RFQ solicitation, the Town Management Company had 
considered selecting one firm as the General Town Engineer and two firms on continuing 
services contracts for the other disciplines. However, due to timing issues and concern about the 
number of contracts to be awarded, the Management Company elected to recommend only one 
firm for all three services 
 
 
II. DISCUSSION 
 
The Town Management Company has been working with all three firms since the agreements 
were entered into on July 24, 2013. While there are no identified problems with the services 
provided at this point in time, both A&B Engineering and Simmons and White have private 
clients within the Town that could generate a potential conflict. Also, as indicated above, the 
original thought was to have two firms for the aforementioned services in part to address a 
conflict issue and other issues including timing etc. Since Keshavarz was also shortlisted for 
surveying services and finished second to A & B Engineering, an amendment to the General 
Engineering Services Agreement has been deemed necessary by the Management Company. The 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 235 of 271 



Town envisions needed surveying due to a number of projects identified in the Capital 
Improvements Program (CIP) and CIP Budget as well as those yet to be determined. This 
amendment would provide the Town with the added flexibility to have a second vendor in the 
situations addressed above. 
 
Relative to traffic engineering, Keshavarz did not propose for this service but can provide such in 
concert with sections 2.1 and 2.2 via the use of a subcontractor provided the Town Manager or 
designee approves the subcontractor and the subcontractor is bound by all other applicable 
provisions of the General Services Engineering Agreement. The Management Company believes 
the amendment in question is in the best interest of the Town relative to efficiency and 
effectiveness. 
 
 
 
III. FISCAL IMPACT 

No identified fiscal impact at this time 

 

IV. ATTACHMENTS 

Amendment to Agreement for Professional Engineering Services for the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves 

 
V. REQUESTED ACTION 
 
Motion by Town Council to approve the Amendment to Agreement for Professional Engineering 
Services and authorize the Mayor to execute the same 
 
 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 236 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 10 b. 

Sirdar Trucking Company Contract Invoices 

   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 237 of 271 



TOWN OF LOXAHATCHEE GROVES 
 

INTER-OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
  

MEMORANDUM NO. 2013-30 
 
 
TO: Mayor David Browning 
 Members of the Town Council 
  
CC: Mark Kutney, Town Manager  
 Janet K. Whipple, Town Clerk 
 
FROM: Michael D. Cirullo, Jr., Town Attorney MDC 
 
RE: Town of Loxahatchee Groves (“Town”) / Resolution of Sirdar Trucking Invoice 

Disagreement  
 
DATE: December 3, 2013 
 
 
As the Town Council has been made aware, Town Management and the Town Attorney have 
been working to resolve an invoicing issue with Sirdar Trucking, Inc.  Sirdar Trucking submitted 
invoices to the Town for mowing and trimming services, as well as, removal and disposal of 
vegetative debris, in the amount of $48,430.00.  Town Management did not approve the payment 
since it did not believe there was sufficient documentation to support the charges.  At issue is the 
portion of the invoice seeking payment for the removal and disposal of 70 loads of vegetative 
waste, each at what Sirdar Trucking represented was the maximum capacity of the trailer of 16 
cubic yards.   
 
Town Manager conducted a review of the invoices and backup provided by Sirdar Trucking, and 
engaged the Town Engineer to assist in the review.  The Town engineer concluded that the 
maximum capacity of Sirdar Trucking’s trailer, fully compacted, is 13.77 cubic yards.  At the 
same time, the Town Engineer applied FEMA calculations that reduce capacity for trailers that 
are hand loaded and recommended a reduction of capacity be used to calculate the payment to 
Sirdar Trucking.  A copy of the engineer report is included in the agenda materials.  Based upon 
its review, and considering the report from the Town Engineer, Town Management forwarded 
payment to Sirdar Trucking on September 13, 2013, in the amount of $26,546.66.   
 
Sirdar Trucking did not accept the payment and a meeting was conducted on October 16, 2013, 
between the Town and Sirdar Trucking to resolve the matter.  I attended this meeting, as did the 
Town engineer, and Sirdar Trucking was represented by counsel as well.  Subsequent to the 
meeting, the parties exchanged correspondence that included proposals to resolve the matter.  On 
October 23, 2013, counsel for Sirdar Trucking forwarded correspondence requesting payment in 
the amount of $43,122.00.  Sirdar Trucking did not produce any additional information to 
support its claim that each trailer was loaded to the maximum mechanically compacted volume. 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 238 of 271 



Inter-Office Memorandum 2013-30 
December 3, 2013 
Page 2 
___________________________   
 
 
   
In an effort to resolve the case, the Town Attorney, after consulting with Town Management, 
sent an offer to Sirdar Trucking’s counsel on November 14, 2013.  A copy is included in the 
agenda materials.  The offer was in two parts: 
 

1. Recommend to the Town Council a payment to Sirdar Trucking in the amount of 
$31,103.60, calculated as set forth in the letter; and,  

2. The parties would agree to an Addendum to the Agreement to address future work, where 
the volume would be calculated using FEMA guidelines and verified by Sirdar Trucking.   

 
Sirdar Trucking was requested to provide a response by Tuesday, November 26, 2013, so that the 
matter could be addressed by the Town Council at its December 3, 2013, meeting.   
 
On November 22, 2013, Sirdar Trucking’s counsel forwarded correspondence agreeing to the 
payment set forth in the Town Attorney’s November 14, 2013, correspondence of $31,103.60 to 
resolve the outstanding invoicing matter.  However, Sirdar Trucking will not agree to the 
proposed Addendum to the Agreement and has requested the agreement be terminated.  The 
agreement permits the Town Council to terminate for convenience upon the adoption of a 
resolution by the Town Council.     
 
Based upon the current status of the discussions between the Town and Sirdar Trucking, it is 
recommended that the Town Council: 
 

1. Adopt a Motion approving payment of $31,103.60 for all outstanding invoices to Sirdar 
Trucking; 

2. Adopt a Motion directing that a Resolution for Termination for Convenience of the Sirdar 
Trucking Agreement be presented to the Town Council at its January 14, 2013, meeting; 
and, 

3. Provide direction to Town Management on how to proceed with the mowing and 
vegetative services on Town Roads.   

 
MDC:clb 
Enclosure  
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\MEMOS 2013\2013-30 (Sirdar).docx 
 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 239 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 240 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 241 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 242 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 243 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 244 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 245 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 246 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 247 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 248 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 249 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 250 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 251 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 252 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 253 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 254 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 255 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 256 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 257 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 258 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 259 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 260 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 261 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 262 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 263 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 264 of 271 



2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 265 of 271 



 

 

 

 

 

 Item 11 b. 

Town Attorney 

Attorney General Opinion regarding definition of surrounding property 

   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 266 of 271 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Please reply to Fort Lauderdale Office 

 

December 4, 2013 
 

VIA REGULAR MAIL 
 
The Honorable Pam Bondi 
Florida Attorney General  
Department of Legal Affairs 
The Capital PL-01 
Tallahassee, FL  32399-1050 
 

RE: Town of Loxahatchee Groves, Florida/ Request for Attorney General’s Opinion 
 
Dear Attorney General Bondi:  
 
 This letter shall serve as a request by the Town Council of the Town of Loxahatchee 
Groves, Florida, (the “Town”), a Florida municipal corporation, for a formal opinion of the 
Attorney General.  On behalf of the Town Council, an Attorney General’s Opinion is 
respectfully requested on the following question: 
 
IN SECTION 163.3162(4), FLORIDA STATUTES, WHAT IS THE MEANING OF THE 
PHRASE “SURROUND THE PARCEL”? 
 

Background 
 

The Town of Loxahatchee Groves borders on a 3,791 acre parcel that is designated in the Palm 
Beach County Comprehensive Plan as an “Agricultural Enclave.”  The parcel is bounded on the 
north and east by residential development with an average density of 0.80 residential units per 
acre.  The parcel is bounded on the south by the Town, with an average density of 0.20 
residential units per acre.  The parcel is bounded on the west by agricultural and rural residential 
uses.   
 
The redevelopment of the parcel was approved by the Palm Beach County Commission in 2008 
to permit 2996 dwelling units at a density of 0.80 units per acre and 235,000 square feet of non-
residential development.  The parcel owners have recently applied to Palm Beach County to 
amend the Comprehensive Plan relating to this agricultural enclave to more than double the 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 267 of 271 



The Honorable Pam Bondi 
Florida Attorney General  
December 4, 2013 
Page 2 of 5 
______________________   
 
 
currently approved residential density to 6,500 dwelling units, and to increase six-fold the non-
residential square footage to 1,400,000 square feet.   
 

Legal Analysis 
 
§ 163.3162(4), Fla. Stat., provides for the right of an owner of a parcel of land defined as an 
“agricultural enclave” to apply for an amendment to the local government comprehensive plan.  
An “agricultural enclave” is defined as: 
 

[A]n unincorporated, undeveloped parcel that: 
(a) Is owned by a single person or entity; 
(b) Has been in continuous use for bona fide agricultural purposes, as defined by 
s. 193.461, for a period of 5 years prior to the date of any comprehensive plan 
amendment application; 
(c) Is surrounded on at least 75 percent of its perimeter by: 

1. Property that has existing industrial, commercial, or residential 
development; or 
2. Property that the local government has designated, in the local 
government's comprehensive plan, zoning map, and future land use map, 
as land that is to be developed for industrial, commercial, or residential 
purposes, and at least 75 percent of such property is existing industrial, 
commercial, or residential development; 

(d) Has public services, including water, wastewater, transportation, schools, and 
recreation facilities, available or such public services are scheduled in the capital 
improvement element to be provided by the local government or can be provided 
by an alternative provider of local government infrastructure in order to ensure 
consistency with applicable concurrency provisions of s. 163.3180; and 
(e) Does not exceed 1,280 acres; however, if the property is surrounded by 
existing or authorized residential development that will result in a density at 
buildout of at least 1,000 residents per square mile, then the area shall be 
determined to be urban and the parcel may not exceed 4,480 acres. 

 
§ 163.3164(4), Fla. Stat.  (emphasis added). 
  
§163.3162, Fla. Stat., is entitled “Agricultural Lands and Practices Act” (hereinafter, the “Act”).  
The purpose of the Act is “to protect reasonable agricultural activities conducted on farm lands 
from duplicative regulation.”  Section (4) of the Act, which was added in 2006, fosters the 
redevelopment of agricultural lands that meet the above definition of “agricultural enclave” for 
non-agricultural purposes by presuming that a comprehensive plan amendment is not urban 
sprawl “if it includes land uses and intensities of use of the industrial, commercial, or residential 
areas that surround the parcel.” §163.3162(4), Fla. Stat.  (emphasis added).    

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 268 of 271 



The Honorable Pam Bondi 
Florida Attorney General  
December 4, 2013 
Page 3 of 5 
______________________   
 
 
In order to analyze whether the proposed comprehensive plan amendment for the “agricultural 
enclave” is entitled to the presumption that it is not urban sprawl, the land uses and intensities of 
use of the “areas that surround the parcel” must be reviewed.   The meaning of the term is critical 
to determining whether an agricultural enclave covered by the Act can be redeveloped with the 
benefit of a presumption that the amendment is not urban sprawl.1 
 
In analyzing the meaning of the term “surround” in §163.3162(4), Fla. Stat., the following rules 
of statutory interpretation apply.   
 

When the statute is clear and unambiguous, courts will not look behind the 
statute's plain language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory 
construction to ascertain intent. See Lee County Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Jacobs, 820 
So.2d 297, 303 (Fla.2002). In such instance, the statute's plain and ordinary 
meaning must control, unless this leads to an unreasonable result or a result 
clearly contrary to legislative intent. See State v. Burris, 875 So.2d 408, 410 
(Fla.2004). When the statutory language is clear, “courts have no occasion to 
resort to rules of construction--they must read the statute as written, for to do 
otherwise would constitute an abrogation of legislative power.” Nicoll v. Baker, 
668 So.2d 989, 990-91 (Fla.1996). 
 
Daniels, 898 So.2d at 64-65. However, if the statutory intent is unclear from the 
plain language of the statute, then “we apply rules of statutory construction and 
explore legislative history to determine legislative intent.” BellSouth Telecomms., 
Inc., 863 So.2d at 289.  

 
Koile v. State, 934 So. 2d 1226, 1230-31 (Fla. 2006) 
 
Notably, the term “surround” is not defined in either §163.3162 or §163.3164 (the definition 
section for the Community Planning Act).  The staff analysis of the legislation when it was 
adopted by the Florida Legislature in 2006 does not provide any insight into the intended 
meaning of the term “surround.2  Therefore, one must look at the ordinary definition of the term 
“surround.” 
 

                                                 
1 “Urban sprawl” means a development pattern characterized by low density, automobile-
dependent development with a single use or multiple uses that are not functionally related, 
requiring the extension of public facilities and services in an inefficient manner, and failing to 
provide a clear separation between urban and rural uses.  § 163.3164(51), Fla. Stat. 

 
2  See House of Representative Staff Analysis for House Bill 1015 CS, dated April 11, 
2006.   

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 269 of 271 



The Honorable Pam Bondi 
Florida Attorney General  
December 4, 2013 
Page 4 of 5 
______________________   
 
 

When considering the meaning of terms used in a statute, this Court looks first to 
the terms' ordinary definitions. Hanbury, 124 So. at 281 (“In the interpretation of 
statutes[,] words in common use are to be construed in their natural, plain, and 
ordinary signification, unless it appears they were used in a technical or other 
sense.”). Those definitions may be derived from dictionaries. L.B. v. State, 700 
So.2d 370, 372 (Fla.1997) (“[A] court may refer to a dictionary to ascertain the 
plain and ordinary meaning which the legislature intended to ascribe to the 
term.”). 

Metro. Cas. Ins. Co. v. Tepper, 2 So. 3d 209, 214 (Fla. 2009) 
 
Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary defines “surround” as “to enclose on all sides:  ENVELOP,” as 
well as “to extend around the margin or edge of: ENCIRCLE.”3  Thus, the ordinary definition of 
“surround” would be that the properties that enclose the agricultural enclave around its margin 
should be the properties that are used to analyze whether the proposed comprehensive plan 
amendment is urban sprawl.   
 
This meaning is further justified when §163.3162(4), Fla. Stat., is applied in conjunction with the 
statutory definition for “agricultural enclave” in §163.3164(4), Fla. Stat.  In particular, 
subsection (c) which provides for an analysis of uses “surrounded on at least 75 percent of its 
perimeter.”  Like “surround,” the term “perimeter” is not defined in either §163.3162 or § 
163.3164.  The ordinary meaning of the term “perimeter” can be gleaned from its dictionary 
definition.  Merriam-Webster’s Dictionary defines “perimeter” as “the outside edge of an area or 
surface” and “the boundary of a closed plane figure.”4      
 
“Where possible, courts must give full effect to all statutory provisions and construe related 
statutory provisions in harmony with one another.” Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion 
Control Dist., 604 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1992) (emphasis in original).  Applying this principle of 
statutory interpretation in the instant case, the analysis of surrounding uses and intensities of uses 
for purposes of reviewing a comprehensive plan amendment for an “agricultural enclave” should 
be limited to the uses and intensities of uses of the properties on the perimeter of the property.  
This achieves consistency between the analysis of whether a property meets the definition of 
“agricultural enclave” in order to provide it the protections of the Act (§163.3164(4) Fla. Stat.), 
and its redevelopment pursuant to the Act (§163.3162(4)).  It harmonizes the protection for 
properties designated as “agricultural enclave” to change to non-agricultural uses, and the 
protections of the surrounding properties and areas directly affected by the agricultural enclave 
from being subjected to urban sprawl.   

                                                 
3  http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/surround 
4  http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/perimeter 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 270 of 271 



The Honorable Pam Bondi 
Florida Attorney General  
December 4, 2013 
Page 5 of 5 
______________________   
 
 
Moreover, it prevents arbitrary interpretations from being applied inconsistently statewide.  For 
example, an agricultural enclave seeking to redevelop could manipulate the analysis of the uses 
and intensities of use of surrounding properties by expanding the radius of analysis in order to 
capture uses and intensities of uses an applicant prefers.  Clearly, as one moves out from a 
property and the radius of analysis grows, so too can the diversities of uses and intensities of use.  
There is no guidance or basis for drawing an arbitrary line, such as 5 or 10 miles, or even further 
out.       

CONCLUSION 
 
The intent of the Act as to “agricultural enclaves” is not to encourage development, but to protect 
owners of such properties in the event they desire to cease agricultural operations and alter the 
use of the property consistent with its neighbors.  At the same time, it is clearly not the intent of 
the Act to foster urban sprawl.  In that regard, the Town believes that the meaning of “surround” 
must be those properties that are on the perimeter of the parcel.  This achieves consistency with 
the analysis of whether the property is an “agricultural enclave” with the analysis of the 
redevelopment protections for such property.     
 
The time and attention of the Attorney General’s Office to this important matter is greatly 
appreciated. Should you require any additional information or have any questions, please do not 
hesitate to contact our office.    
 
     Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
     MICHAEL D. CIRULLO, JR. 
     Town Attorney, Town of Loxahatchee Groves 
 
 
H:\_GOV CLIENTS\LOX 1574\_070240 GM\LETTERS\2013\Bondi AGO rqt (ag enclave).docx 

 

2013-12-03 Agenda Packet 271 of 271 


	AGENDA
	Item 2 a. Invoice From Goren, Cherof, Deedy & Ezrol, P.A.
	Item 2 b. Minutes: November 5, 2013 / November 19, 2013
	Item 4 a. Proclamations
	Item 5 a. Finance Advisory & Audit Committee Report
	Item 6 a. Resolution 2013‐17/ SOE Agereement2014 Municipal Election
	Item 6 b. Resolution 2013‐18Dedication of Right‐of‐Way Easement
	Item 6 c. Resolution 2013‐19Dedication of Canal Maintenance Easement
	Item 7 a. Ordinance No. 2013‐11 2nd ReadingHistorical Legacy2013
	Item 7 b. Ordinance No. 2013‐06 2nd ReadingAmending Town Code Special Exception
	Item 7 c. Ordinance No. 2013‐07 2nd ReadingOperating Golf Carts
	Item 9 c. Resurfacing w North Florida Emulsions re Bryan, Compton and MarcellaRoads2013-
	Item 9 d. ULDC
	Item 10 a. Amendment to Keshavarz Contract
	Item 10 b. Sirdar Trucking Company Contract Invoices
	Item 11 b.Town AttorneyAttorney General Opinion regarding definition of surrounding property



